Public Document Pack

Agenda Reports & Other Papers
Presented to the
Meeting of the
Resources and Performance Cabinet Panel
on
Friday, 5 July 2019

1.

Agenda

1 - 232

Agenda

AGENDA for a meeting of the RESOURCES AND PERFORMANCE CABINET
PANEL in COMMITTEE ROOM B at County Hall, Hertford on FRIDAY 5 JULY
2019 at 10:00AM
___________________________________________________________________
MEMBERS OF THE PANEL (13) (Quorum 3)
J Billing; F Button; H K Crofton; R C Deering (Vice-Chairman); P V Mason; A J S Mitchell; R
Sangster (Chairman); R H Smith; S J Taylor; R A C Thake (substituting for E H Buckmaster)
P T Williams; T J Williams; P M Zukowskyj
Meetings of the Cabinet Panel are open to the public (this includes the press) and
attendance is welcomed. However, there may be occasions when the public are excluded
from the meeting for particular items of business. Any such items are taken at the end of
the public part of the meeting and are listed under “Part II (‘closed’) agenda”.
Committee Room B is fitted with an audio system to assist those with hearing
impairment. Anyone who wishes to use this should contact main (front) reception.
Members are reminded that all equalities implications and equalities
impact assessments undertaken in relation to any matter on this agenda must be
rigorously considered prior to any decision being reached on that matter.
Members are reminded that:
(1)
if they consider that they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any
matter to be considered at the meeting they must declare that interest and must
not participate in or vote on that matter unless a dispensation has been granted
by the Standards Committee;
(2)
if they consider that they have a Declarable Interest (as defined in
paragraph 5.3 of the Code of Conduct for Members) in any matter to be
considered at the meeting they must declare the existence and nature of that
interest. If a member has a Declarable Interest they should consider whether they
should participate in consideration and vote on the matter.
PART I (PUBLIC) AGENDA

Agenda Pack Page 1
1

1.

MINUTES
To agree the minutes (Part I) of the Resources and Performance Cabinet
Panel held on 7 June 2019.

2.

PUBLIC PETITIONS
The opportunity for any member of the public, being resident in Hertfordshire,
to present a petition relating to a matter with which the Council is concerned,
which is relevant to the remit of this Cabinet Panel and which contains
signatories who are either resident in or who work in Hertfordshire.
Members of the public who are considering raising an issue of concern via a
petition are advised to contact their local member of the Council. The
Council's criterion and arrangements for the receipt of petitions are set out in
Annex 24 - Petitions Scheme of the Constitution.
At the time of the publication of this agenda no notices of petitions have been
received.
If you have any queries about the procedure please contact Elaine Manzi,
Democratic Services Officer, by telephone on (01992) 588062 or email
elaine.manzi@hertfordshire.gov.uk

3.

HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL RESOURCES AND
PERFORMANCE MONITOR QUARTER 4 (Q4), 2018-19
Report of the Director of Resources

4.

HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PERFORMANCE MONITOR –
QUARTER 4 (Q4), 2018-19
Report of the Director of Resources

5.

VALUE FOR MONEY REVIEW - CHILDREN LOOKED AFTER
Report of the Director of Children’s Services

6.

VALUE FOR MONEY REVIEW UPDATE - CARRIAGEWAY MAINTENANCE
Report of the Director of Environment & Infrastructure

7.

COUNTY COUNCIL CORPORATE PLAN 2019 – 2025
Report of the Director of Resources

8.

FINANCIAL OUTLOOK
Report of the Director of Resources

Agenda Pack Page 2
2

9.

DRAFT FINANCIAL STRATEGY FOR THE PERIOD 2020/21-2023/24
Report of the Director of Resources

10.

COMMERCIAL INVESTMENT: SMALL SITE DEVELOPMENT
Report of the Director of Resources

11.

TO CONSIDER THE FUTURE OF LAND AT LONDON ROAD BISHOPS
STORTFORD: RELOCATION AND EXPANSION OF THE BISHOP’S
STORTFORD HIGH SCHOOL
Joint Report of the Director of Resources & Director of Children’s Services

12.

OTHER PART I BUSINESS
Such Part I (public) business which, if the Chairman agrees, is of sufficient
urgency to warrant consideration.

PART II (‘CLOSED’) AGENDA
EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
This agenda includes Part II business. The Chairman will move:“That under Section 100(A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and
public be excluded from the meeting for the following item/s of business on the grounds
that it/they involve/s the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph
3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the said Act and the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.”
MINUTES
To agree the minutes (Part II) of the Resources and Performance Cabinet
Panel held on 7 June 2019.
1.

COMMERCIAL INVESTMENT: SMALL SITE DEVELOPMENT
Report of the Director of Resources

2.

TO CONSIDER THE FUTURE OF LAND AT LONDON ROAD BISHOPS
STORTFORD: RELOCATION AND EXPANSION OF THE BISHOP’S
STORTFORD HIGH SCHOOL
Report of the Director of Resources

If you require further information about this agenda please contact
Elaine Manzi, Democratic Services, on telephone no (01992) 588062 number or
email elaine.manzi@hertfordshire.gov.uk

Agenda Pack Page 3
3

Agenda documents are also available on the internet at:
https://democracy.hertfordshire.gov.uk/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx
QUENTIN BAKER
CHIEF LEGAL OFFICER

Agenda Pack Page 4
4

Minutes

To: All Members of the Resources
and Performance Cabinet
Panel, Chief Executive, Chief
Officers, All officers named for
‘actions’

From:
Legal, Democratic & Statutory Services
Ask for: Elaine Manzi
Ext:
28062

RESOURCES AND PERFORMANCE CABINET PANEL
FRIDAY 7 JUNE 2019
ATTENDANCE
MEMBERS OF THE PANEL
J Billing; E H Buckmaster; F Button; L A Chesterman (substituting for S J Taylor); H K Crofton;
S K Jarvis (substituting for P T Williams); P V Mason; A J S Mitchell; R Sangster (Chairman);
R H Smith; T J Williams; P M Zukowskyj
OTHER MEMBERS IN ATTENDANCE
None
Upon consideration of the agenda for the Resources and Performance Cabinet Panel
meeting 7 June 2019 as circulated, copy annexed, conclusions were reached and are
recorded below.
Note: PV Mason declared an interest as recorded at minute 5.1.
PART I (‘OPEN’) BUSINESS
ACTION
1.

MINUTES

1.1

The minutes (Part I) of the Resources and Performance Cabinet
Panel held on 10 May 2019 were agreed.

1.2

In response to a query from P M Zukowskyj, it was confirmed that
in relation to Item 6 on the Part I minutes from 10 May 2019, the
land allocated for the site of the new secondary special school at
Woodside, Welwyn Garden City had originally been allocated for
residential development.

1.3

It was clarified that further to a successful funding bid to the
Department of Education for the development of a school, and
subsequent assessment of potential sites for the development, it
CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS
…………….

Agenda Pack Page 5

1

had been confirmed that the land at Woodside had been judged as
preferred site and that in terms of the local plan, development of
the special school was a preferential asset to that of residential
development.
1.4

In response to a request from the Panel, it was agreed that officers
would ensure that Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council had been
informed of the decision by Cabinet to approve the proposal for the
development of a new secondary special school at Woodside,
Welwyn Garden City.

2.

PUBLIC PETITIONS

2.1

There were no public petitions.

3.

HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL’S ANNUAL REPORT
2018/19

Steven
Pilsworth

Officer contact: Daisy Stanton, Policy Officer, Corporate Policy
Team (Tel: 01992 556736)
3.1

Members received the draft County Council Annual Report 2018/19
providing a summary of what the council had achieved during the
year and how it had managed the income received from its
residents.

3.2

In consideration of the report, Members expressed concern that the
issue of climate change did not appear to be fully addressed within
the Annual Report, despite the council previously indicating that
this was a matter of priority; an opinion also reflected by members
of the public.

3.3

It was agreed that although the report contained references to
improvements to street lighting and the adoption of the air quality
strategy, officers would consider how to place increased emphasis
on the broader issues of climate change and the environment
within the report.

Alex
James/Da
isy
Stanton

3.4

Further to discussion, it was agreed that whilst the report reflected
a number of positive achievements, this should be balanced by
providing more detail and transparency on the significant future
financial challenges faced by the council.

Alex
James/Da
isy
Stanton

3.5

In response to Member suggestions, it was also agreed to consider
revising the wording within the annual report relating to:
- keeping young people safe in the community
- strategies to manage the traffic increase within the county.

2
CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS
…………….

Agenda Pack Page 6

CONCLUSION
3.6

Members noted the content of the Annual Report and
recommended to Cabinet that it approved the report, subject to the
amendments outlined at section 3 of these minutes.

4.

OUTTURN FINANCE BUDGET MONITOR 2018-19
Officer contact: Steven Pilsworth, Assistant Director – Finance (Tel:
01992 555737)

4.1

Members considered the Outturn Finance Budget Monitor for
2018/19 summarising the 2018/19 position against revenue and
capital budgets and showing the year end position.

4.2

The Panel were pleased to note that the council had secured a
strong overall performance throughout 2018/19; securing a £681k
underspend at year end.

4.3

In response to a Member question, it was confirmed that the
grants outlined in the report had conditions allowing the funding
from them to be carried forward to the next financial year.

4.4

During discussion, the Liberal Democrat Group Lead Spokesman
stated that whilst it was acknowledged that the achievement of the
balanced budget was to be commended, the intention to transfer
unspent contingency to the 2019/20 reserves budget was
diametrically opposed to the proposals outlined in the alternative
budget outlined by the Liberal Democrat Group at the beginning of
the year. An example of this was a proposal to use some reserve
budget monies to mitigate the issue of highways surface water
flooding.

4.5

The Labour Group Lead Spokesman indicated that the Labour
Group whilst also acknowledging the achievement of a balanced
budget, also had different views on the spending allocation outlined
within the report, and that that the current position was ‘not where
we had tried to be’.

4.6

In response to a Member question, it was clarified that there were
two different areas within the reserves budget:
1. Transitition Reserve - to act as contingency in the event of
individual departments not being able to meet their savings
targets;
2. Corporate Transformation Reserve – to fund transformation
and change budgets.
3

CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS
…………….

Agenda Pack Page 7

4.7

Further to discussion, the Chairman rejected a request from Liberal
Democrat Group Lead Spokesman to vote separately on the
individual recommendations outlined at section 4 of the report.

4.8

The Liberal Democrat Lead Spokesman stated that if the
recommendations had been separated, Liberal Democrat Group
opposition Members would have voted in favour of all the
recommendations bar 4.1 b (i) for the reasons outlined at 4.4 of
these minutes.

4.9

In response to a Member question it was agreed that officers would
circulate a link to the full breakdown of budgets including the detail
of the current status of the reserve budgets to Members of the
Panel.

Steven
Pilsworth

CONCLUSION
4.10
Further to a vote by a show of hands, SEVEN Members voted in
FAVOUR of the following recommendations and FIVE Members
ABSTAINED from agreeing to the following recommendations:
a. To note the overall financial performance for the Council
during 2018/19.
b. To consider and recommend to Cabinet as appropriate
i.
the proposed transfers to reserves to be made from
the revenue contingency budget not required during
2018/19
ii.
the proposed carry forward amounts relating to ringfenced budgets
iii.
the proposed carry forward amount relating to
general budgets
iv.
the proposed re-programming of capital investment
amounts from 2018/19 to future years
v.
the performance of treasury and debt management
5.

DEVELOPER SELECTION FOR GREATER BROOKFIELD,
CHESHUNT
Officer contact: Mike Evans, Head of Estates Management (Tel:
01992 555634)

5.1

P V Mason declared an interest in this item as he advised he was a
Member of Broxbourne Borough Council. Cllr Mason remained in
the room and participated in the debate.

4
CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS
…………….

Agenda Pack Page 8

5.2

Members were presented with a summary of the outcome of the
joint procurement exercise with the Borough of Broxbourne for a
development partner for the Brookfield Riverside project.

5.3

Prior to discussion, Members were introduced to Kevin Clark, Head
of Property at Broxbourne Borough Council. It was explained that
Mr Clark was present in order to assist with any questions
Members may have on the item.

5.4

In response to a Member challenge, it was explained that officers
would start work on creating a business case, for presentation at a
future meeting of Cabinet, whilst the conditional development
agreement was being drawn up. It was confirmed that should the
business case be judged by Cabinet not to be sound, and therefore
subsequently rejected, no abortive fees would be required to be
paid by the council. However should the business case be sound,
but the council decide not proceed, then abortive fees would be
payable.

5.5

In considering the report, Members noted that the relocation of the
traveller’s site at Halfhide Line was key to the development. In
response to a Member question, it was confirmed that ongoing
negotiation with the traveller’s community had resulted in tentative
agreement identifying a site for the relocation. It was confirmed that
this was scheduled to be discussed further as part of the Local
Plan inquiry during the week commencing 10 June 2019.
PART II (‘CLOSED’) AGENDA
EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
DEVELOPER SELECTION FOR GREATER BROOKFIELD,
CHESHUNT

5.6

That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972,
the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following
item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure
of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of
Schedule 12A to the said Act and the public interest in maintaining
the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the
information.

5.7

Following discussion on the Part II Report and recommendation,
the Panel moved back into Part I (open session) to note the Part I
recommendations

5.8

Further to discussion of the Part II report, it was agreed that the
following recommendation be added to the Part I report:
‘At the appropriate time during the negotiations should, in the
opinion of the Director of Resources, a material change occur
5

CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS
…………….

Agenda Pack Page 9

to the scheme an update will be brought forward to Cabinet
Panel’
5.9

CONCLUSION
Members agreed the following recommendations, with the addition
of the recommendation outlined at 5.8 of these minutes:
That Cabinet:
i.

approves the appointment of Company D (as identified in
the Part II Report) as the Council’s preferred partner in
accordance with the procurement process for the
development of land at Brookfield Riverside, Cheshunt;

ii.

delegates to the Director of Resources, in consultation with
the Executive Member for Resources and Performance, the
negotiation and completion of a partnership agreement with
the Borough of Broxbourne;

iii.

delegates to the Director of Resources, in consultation with
the Executive Member for Resources and Performance, the
agreement of detailed Heads of Term for the development
and the negotiation and subsequent completion of a
development agreement with Company D and the Borough
of Broxbourne in line with the heads of terms and other
elements of the tender submission made by Company D,
such development agreement also being based on the initial
masterplan and phase 1 concept scheme submitted by
Company D;

iv.

agrees the business case setting out and justifying the
investments and the return to the Council for the
development and the Masterplan for the development to be
brought back to Cabinet for approval, it being acknowledged
that this will occur after the development agreement has
been entered into as part of the detailed implementation of
the arrangements to be contained in the Development
Agreement ;

v.

notes that officers will at the appropriate stage prepare a
business case for Cabinet approval with regards to the
relocation of the council’s household waste recycling centre
and traveller’s site at Halfhide Lane, Cheshunt. This
business case may either form part of the Brookfield
Riverside business case referred to in (iv) or may be
presented as a standalone business case; and

vi

At the appropriate time during the negotiations should, in the
opinion of the Director of Resources, a material change occur
to the scheme an update will be brought forward to Cabinet
6

CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS
…………….

Agenda Pack Page 10

Panel
vii.

notes and approves the proposed governance
arrangements as set out in this report.

6.

OTHER URGENT PART I BUSINESS

6.1

There was no other urgent Part I Business.

QUENTIN BAKER
CHIEF LEGAL OFFICER

CHAIRMAN

7
CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS
…………….

Agenda Pack Page 11

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item
No:

HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
RESOURCES AND PERFORMANCE CABINET PANEL
FRIDAY 5 JULY 2019 AT 10:00AM

3

HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL RESOURCES AND PERFORMANCE MONITOR
QUARTER 4 (Q4), 2018-19
Report of the Director of Resources
Author:

Alex James, Head of Corporate Policy
(Tel: 01992 588259)

Executive Member: Ralph Sangster Resources and Performance
1.

Purpose of Report

1.1

To present the Resources and Performance Report for the fourth quarter of the
financial year, 2018-19 to the Resources and Performance Cabinet Panel.

2.

Summary

2.1

This report provides context and commentary on key areas of Hertfordshire County
Council performance for the Resources and Performance portfolio.

3.

Recommendations

3.1

The Resources and Performance Cabinet Panel is invited:
a) To comment on the recommendations on any performance, project, contract and
risk or audit matter outlined in this report.
b) To identify further actions to address any performance concerns raised in the
performance monitor

4.

Background

4.1

The report provides an executive summary and a report highlighting key
performance issues for each service area, ordered as follows:
1)
2)
3)
4)

Human Resources
Finance
Assurance
Property

5) Improvement & Technology
6) Democratic & Statutory Services
7) Community Engagement

1

Agenda Pack Page 13

5.

Financial Implications

5.1

There are no direct financial implications associated with this report.

6.

Equalities Implications

6.1

When considering proposals placed before Members it is important that they are
fully aware of, and have themselves rigorously considered the equalities
implications of the decision that they are taking.

5.2

Rigorous consideration will ensure that proper appreciation of any potential impact
of that decision on the County Council’s statutory obligations under the Public
Sector Equality Duty. As a minimum this requires decision makers to read and
carefully consider the content of any Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA)
produced by officers.

5.3

The Equality Act 2010 requires the Council when exercising its functions to have
due regard to the need to (a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and
other conduct prohibited under the Act; (b) advance equality of opportunity between
persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not
share it and (c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. The protected
characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 are age; disability; gender
reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and maternity; race;
religion and belief, sex and sexual orientation.

5.4

No EqIA was undertaken for this report because the Hertfordshire County Council
Quarterly Performance Report only provides historic performance information for
the last quarter (Q4 2018/19). The report does not impact on equalities or affect any
of the protected characteristics which would require an EqIA to be completed.

2

Agenda Pack Page 14

Agency spend has increased in Resources this quarter, this is largely due to increased
support required in Finance to cover year end. Agency spend in Herts Business
Services has continued to fall and is at its lowest quarterly figure for two years.
Sickness levels in Resources have continued to reduce from an average of 4.5 days per
year in Q3 to 4.1 days in Q4.
Voluntary turnover has continued to reduce in Resources down to 10.8% in Q4; this is
lower than the overall Council rate of 12.9%.

2. Finance
Data for Balance Sheet Reconciliations is not available this quarter as work continues
on year-end closure and this supersedes the normal quarterly processes.
Quarterly budget monitor movements were lower in Quarter 4 than when compared
to the average in previous years. This downward variance is largely due to
improvements in the overspend positions for Children's and Adult Care Services and
an increase in the underspend for Central Items due to additional grant income.
Performance for Budget holder completion rates for Resources has increased this
quarter and is now slightly above the overall Council %. However, it was still lower
than the benchmark values set in the first two quarters of the year

3. Assurance
The delivery of the Council audit plan was almost at target level for 2018/19 and it is
expected that the two outstanding projects at review stage will be completed in time
for the performance target to be met by early April. Performance for the total number
of billable days exceeded target level in 2018/19 and was in excess of the 2017/18 end
of year figure.
The number of reported fraud referrals was higher in 2018/19 than the previous year.
This was due in part to additional Shared Anti-Fraud Service (SAFS) resources that
were dedicated to Adult Care Services last year; this included extensive fraud
awareness/preventions sessions and various roadshows and surgeries. SAFS has
carried over 73 live cases into 2019/20 which is 31 more than the previous year.

4. Property
Income for Abel Smith House, the Hertfordshire Development Centre and the Rural
Estates has exceeded their end of year targets, despite the challenging commercial
environments affecting each of them.
All internal preventative property maintenance continues to be performed to the
required timescales since the transition of the Hard Facilities Management team to
Council Property team.

3

Agenda Pack Page 15

Executive Summary Q4

1. Human Resources

Executive Summary Q4

5. Improvement and Technology
Performance for the availability of IT systems requiring the highest levels of
availability has increased this quarter and reached 100%. All other categories also
achieved 100%.
The way Cyber Security reports are compiled continues to be refined so as to provide
more accurate stats. In total, there were just over 90,000 cyber-attacks on County
Council systems this quarter and all attempts were successfully repelled.

6. Legal, Democratic and Statutory Services
All Freedom of Information requests and Subject Access requests have met their
timescales this quarter, hitting their 100% targets.
The income for the Registration Service was 115% of controllable expenditure for the
whole of 2018/19.
The timeliness of inquest services has improved to an average of 23 days for 370
inquests in 2018/19.

7. Community Engagement (Customer Service,
Communications)
The Customer Service Centre saw positive results this quarter. Mystery Shopping saw
an increase and performance and is close to reaching target level. Average Call Wait
Time was less than 20 seconds despite including seasonal weather peak periods for
highways, social care and secondary school allocations.
In Communications, the number of email bulletin subscribers increased in Q4 and as
expected, Average Multi-Media Score recovered in January following the traditional
December dip.

4

Agenda Pack Page 16

Highlight Report
For the key to colours and arrows see p23

1 Human Resources
1.1 Service Performance
1.1.1 HR Pay bill (RP30 and RP134)

£244m
Total

Up from £241m

£172.3m Up from £170.4m
Basic

The rolling annual total pay bill (excluding agency spend) has increased by £3m from
£241.0m in Q3 (year to November 2018) to £244.0m (year to February 2019). This
represents a 1.2% increase (the increase from Q2 to Q3 was 1.1%).
The rolling annual basic pay bill for the Council has also increased by 1.1% from £170.4m
in Q3 (year to November 2018) to £172.3m in Q4. This is due to planned pay increases for
a range of staff including centrally employed Teachers, Fire & Rescue staff, Herts Music
Service staff and those on Soulbury and Youth terms and conditions paid in November.
Also, following the lifting of a recruitment freeze in Adult Care Services, additional
permanent qualified staff have been recruited which has increased their basic pay bill.
The increase in total pay bill is due to employer on costs rising as a result of basic pay and
additional market forces payments for staff across Children’s Services.
In Q1 2019/20, the total pay bill will include annual pay increases for National Joint Council
(NJC) and NHS staff along with other scheduled market forces payments for April.

1.1.2 Agency Spend (RP13)
No
Target

£11.7m
Annual Spend

Performance
(Good to be low)

Data





Performance has decreased
from £11.1m last quarter

Agenda Pack Page 17

5

Agency spend in Q4, based on a 12 month rolling year to February 2019, has shown a
third consecutive quarterly increase following a steady decline since Q2 in 2015-16. At its
lowest in Q2 2018/19 it was £10.86m; it increased by 2.7% (£288,948) to £11.15m in Q3
and has risen a further 5.2% (£584,193) to £11.73m in Q4. Agency spend as a percentage
of the total pay bill has also increased from 4.4% to 4.6%.
Agency spend for Resources (excluding Hertfordshire Business Services (HBS) and Library
and Heritage Services (LHS), has increased by £96,096 (8.2%) from £1,165,492 to
£1,261,588 when compared to the rolling year to the end of November 2018, reported in
Q3. This is partially due to Q3 2017/18 having a lower spend than Q4 2018/19, but there
has been a £62,000 increase between Q3 and Q4 2018/19 due to additional Finance
support required at year end and a number of professional roles being covered by agency
staff due to family leave.
Agency spend for Resources (including. HBS and LHS) has increased this quarter, by
£91,937 (6.0%), from £1,540,687 to £1,632,624. Agency spend reduced again in HBS
(reducing by -£6,558 to £364,488) and increased in LHS from £4,150 to £6,549.
Agency spend in HBS has continued to fall and is at its lowest quarterly figure for two
years, reducing from a peak of £451,316 in February 2018. With the introduction of
annualised hours in the warehouse, the reliance on temporary staff during peak periods
will reduce and further savings will be realised.

1.1.3 Headcount (RP15 and RP16)
No
Target

7,974
Headcount

6,310

Performance
(Good to be low)

Data





Up from 7,969 last quarter
Up from 6,259 last quarter

EWT

Average headcount has remained steady, increasing by just 5 heads from 7969 in Q3 to
7974 in Q4 (a 0.06% increase).
Average Equivalent Whole Time (EWT) has increased by 51 from 6259 in Q3 to 6310 in Q4
(a 0.8% increase).
These small variations reflect stable levels of staffing.

Agenda Pack Page 18

6

1.1.4 HR – Percentage of voluntary turnover (HRRES1)

10.8%

Voluntary turnover has continued
to reduce in Resources from 11.5%
last quarter

Voluntary turnover has continued to reduce in Resources (excluding HBS and LHS) from
11.5% in Q3 to 10.8% in Q4. When including HBS and LHS it has also reduced, from 12.4%
to 10.8%.
There were reductions in seven of the ten Service Areas since Q3, the most significant
changes were a 7.2% reduction in Herts Business Services from 16.7% to 9.5%, a 4.3%
reduction in Legal Services from 11.5% to 7.2% and a 2.6% reduction in Human Resources
from 11.5% to 8.9%. Despite a small reduction of 1.3% since Q3, turnover remains highest
in Community Engagement (22.7%).
Across Council Departments turnover has decreased from 13.4% to 12.9%. Turnover is
based upon 12 month rolling average figures to the end of March 2019

1.1.5 Annual Sickness per employee (RP29)

4.1
Days

Performance has improved from
4.5 last quarter

Sickness levels in Resources (including HBS and LHS) have continued to reduce from an
average of 4.5 days per year in Q3 to 4.1 days in Q4. Resources figures excluding HBS and
LHS have also reduced further from 3.7 days in Q3 to 3.0 days in Q4. Both averages
compare very favourably with the Council Departments average of 7.3 days. Q4 sickness
absence is based on a rolling year to the end of February 2019.
The majority of Service Areas had a reduction in sickness absence days between Q3 and
Q4, notably Property down 1.8 days to 2.2 days, Assurance Services down 1.6 days to 4.8
days and Democratic & Statutory Services down 1.5 days to 4.3 days.
The only increases were in HBS (up 0.7 days to 7.4 days) and Finance (up 0.1 days to 3.4
days).
In the year to February 2019, 6,023 days in Resources (incl. LHS & HBS) were lost to
sickness absence (6,469 days were reported in Q3). The top 3 reasons are as follows: 23%
(1,376 days) were due to Muscular Skeletal complaints; 21% (1,259 days) were due to
Stress/Depression/Anxiety/Mental Health and 10% (574 days) were due to
Stomach/Digestive complaints. The remaining 46% are spread across 21 other sickness
categories.

Agenda Pack Page 19

7

As at March 2019, Resources (including LHS and HBS) had 13 cases of absence over 20
days – 6 were in LHS, 4 were in HBS and 3 were in Resources. These cases make up 5.6%
of the total number of long term absence cases across the Council. From April 2019 there
is a new approach to Occupational Health provision which it is hoped will improve this
important area of sickness absence management.

2 Finance
2.1 Service Performance
2.1.1 Quarterly Budget Monitor Movements (RP206)

2.213m
Movement absolute

The average movement between Q3 and Q4 variances over the last three years is
(£3.885m). The movement this year is (£2.213m) which is not as volatile as previous years.
This is a downward movement in variance caused largely by an improvement in the
overspend position of Adult Care Services and Children's Services since Q3. There has also
been an increase in the underspend in Central items due to additional grant income not
previously reported and the impact of revised estimates for business rates pooling gains.

2.1.2 Budget Holder Completion % (RP207)

A
89.3%
Resources
Completion rate

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





Performance has improved
from 86.7% in Q3

Please note that budget holders do not complete a forecast using the electronic monitors
for March due to year end and the production of the outturn monitor and therefore Q4
stats are only using data from January and February 2019.
The completion % for the Resources department has increased since Q3 with the overall
Council Q4 completion % (88.4%) remaining similar to the Q3 rate (88.5%). The
department’s completion % is now slightly above the overall Council % average which was
only previously achieved in Q1. However, the overall completion % for resources (89.3%) is
still lower than the benchmark that was set in the first two quarters of the year (93.0% and
93.7%).

Agenda Pack Page 20

8

3

Assurance

3.1 Service Performance
3.1.1 Delivery of the HCC Audit Plan Projects (RP46)

G
116
Total to draft

118
Profile

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





Increase on Q3 figure
Now 1% below Audit Plan
Projects profiled target

At the end of the 2018/19 financial year the Shared Internal Audit Service (SIAS) delivered
94% of the 124 projects within its approved internal audit plan, this being 1% (2 projects)
below the performance indicator target of 95%.
In relation to the 1% difference, two projects were at quality review stage as at the 31st
March, with additional information being required to address the review points raised prior
to issue of the related draft reports. In both cases it is anticipated that the reports will be
issued by the end of the week commencing 8 April 2019, meaning that SIAS would have
reached the performance indicator target by 12 April 2019.

3.1.2 SIAS Billable Days (RP46a)

G

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





1,354
Actual billable
days

1,417
Target billable
days

Increase on Q2 figure. Now 1%
above Billable Days projected
target

At the end of the 2018/19 financial year SIAS delivered 96% of the 1,417 planned audit days
(excludes unused contingency) this exceeding the performance indicator target of 95%.
This represents good performance by the service, in particular as this is an increase of 2%
from the end of year figure for 2017/18.

Agenda Pack Page 21

9

3.1.3 SIAS Resourcing – In House / External Partner (RP46b)

11

1% below the target of 100%

External partner

During Q4, the work allocation to SIAS’s external provider increased by 3 projects and 9 days
(both representing an increase of 1%). These additional allocations were required to
resource an additional project added to the audit plan, as well as providing additional
resources to cover the unplanned departure of the one of the service’s two audit trainees.
SIAS have subsequently completed a successful recruitment process to fill the vacant trainee
post, with the successful applicant in post from the start of the 2019/20 financial year.

3.1.4 Customer Satisfaction Returns (RP46)

94%

15 / 16 returns received a satisfactory rating

Client Satisfaction

At the end of 2018/19, performance has ended just below the target of 100% of client
satisfaction for questionnaires with a ‘satisfactory overall’ level, with a final figure of 94%
being achieved. The one questionnaire from the 16 returned that failed to meet the agreed
target score was received and reviewed in Q3.

3.1.5 Summary of Internal Audit Opinions and Recommendations 2018/19
(RP46c)
The table below provides details of final reports issued since the quarter three performance
report, excluding final reports issued in respect of individual Schools visits.
Recommendations
Critical

High

Medium

Satisfactory

0

0

3

Risk Management

Satisfactory

0

0

4

Low /
Advisory
2
0

Employment Status (IR35)

Satisfactory

0

0

3

1

Lone Working

Limited

0

2

4

1

Safeguarding (Safe Recruitment)

Limited

0

2

4

1

0-25 Integrated Service (CS and
ACS)

Satisfactory

0

0

3

0

Service

Report Title

Opinion

Resources

Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP)

Resources
Council
Wide
Council
Wide
Council
Wide
Cross
Service

At the end of Q4 there were no additional Critical recommendations issued.

Agenda Pack Page 22

10

3.1.6 Critical and High Priority Recommendations

5
Total Number of
Outstanding
Recommendations
at the start of
current Follow Up
Period

Of which Implemented (1), Not Due Yet (3) and Partially Implemented –
Revised Date Agreed (1)

It is Internal Audit’s responsibility to advise the Audit Committee on progress of the
implementation of high priority recommendations. No critical priority recommendations
were made within the financial year 2018/19. High priority recommendations relating to
schools are excluded from this listing given both the volume of schools within the County
and the relative risk of any single recommendation to the Authority as a whole.
SIAS continue to report, update and maintain the profile of the implementation status of
outstanding recommendations through regular attendance at Directorate Boards, including
emphasising the Audit Committees support and scrutiny of recommendation
implementation.
High Priority Recommendations

Not Implemented by Due Date

Total Number of
Outstanding
Recommendations
at the start of
current Follow Up
Period

Implemented

Not Yet
Due

No Longer
Applicable

Partially
Implemented –
Revised Date
Agreed

Recommendation Subject
to Follow Up through SIAS
Audit

5

1

3

0

1

0

%

20%

60%

0%

20%

0%

3.1.7 Medium Priority Recommendations

28
Total Number of
Recommendations
Followed Up in
this Period

Of which Implemented (15) and Partially Implemented – Revised
Date Agreed (13)

The Audit Committee’s role in respect of medium priority recommendations is to be satisfied
that there is a monitoring process in place and that agreed recommendations are being
implemented. The table below details the implementation status of medium priority
recommendations that were due for implementation in the period since the last Progress
Report to Audit Committee.
Medium Priority Recommendations

Not implemented by Due Date

Total Number of Recommendations
Followed Up in this Period

Implemented

Partially Implemented
– Revised Date Agreed

No Update Provided by
Action Owner

28 (out of 31 outstanding
recommendations)

15

13

0

%

54%

46%

0%

Agenda Pack Page 23

11

3.1.8 Reported Fraud (Referrals) (RP208)
No
Target

46

Performance

Data





Performance has increased
from 42 in Q3

The number of referrals (reports of alleged fraud) is higher than previous years and this is, in
part, due to additional Shared Anti-Fraud Service (SAFS) resource dedicated to Adult Care
Services (ACS) from April 2018; this has included extensive fraud awareness/prevention
sessions delivered to senior managers and front line staff within ACS, the attendance by
SAFS at the ACS Roadshows and with new ‘surgeries’ offered to staff in that Service.
SAFS carried forward 42 cases from 2017/18 and will carry forward 73 live investigations into
2019/20.
The number of referrals received relating to staff/internal fraud has also increased and SAFS
continue to work very closely with Human Resources on those matters. Of the 12 cases
reported involving Council staff, 6 resulted in staff being dismissed or resigning during the
investigation and 5 cases remain open at year end (2 of these cases have closed since year
end with staff being dismissed in both matters).
Of the 40 cases reviewed or closed in year, and the 73 cases still under investigation, fraud
losses in excess of £240,000 and fraud prevention/savings of around £2m have been
reported in 2018/19. Seven of the most serious matters have been referred for prosecution
with four individuals sentenced and 3 awaiting court outcomes.
SAFS have ensured that the Council complied with the Cabinet Office statutory requirement
to submit data as part of the biennial National Fraud Initiative (NFI). The results from this
exercise have now been received and SAFS are working with individual services to review
those and act upon them where required.
SAFS are currently involved with a number of initiatives with private and public sector
partners to improve the Councils ability to prevent or deter fraud and provide early
detection where fraud does occur.

3.1.9 Number of Notifiable Health & Safety (H&S) Incidents (RP10a)
No
Target

10
Reportable
incidents

Performance

Data





Performance has improved
from 14 last quarter

Figures remain provisional due to the lagging nature of accident reports.
There have been only 10 reportable employee incidents to the Health and Safety Executive

Agenda Pack Page 24

12

in Q4 (including those from Hertfordshire Fire and Rescue Service), a decrease of 9 from that
reported over the same period last year.
This is substantially below the average quarterly figure since April 2014 (18.8).
The incident rate over the past 4 quarters of 316.4 per 100,000 employees remains below
the latest nationally available benchmark figure of 430 per 100,000 employees (Labour Force
Survey data Oct 17).

3.1.10 H&S Internal Audit summary
The table below provides details of audit reports that have been issued to date (91) in 18/19
with 85.7% demonstrating good overall health and safety management systems.
Compliance levels show an increase from figures in 17/18 (83.1%) where a total of 107 H&S
audits were undertaken.

Department
Adult Care
Services
Adult Care
Services
Adult Care
Services
Children’s
Services
Children's
Services
Environment

Department
Category

Compliance Rating
Significant
Requires
Good Outstanding
Management
Improvement
Failures

Day Service

6

Supported Living

6

Other

2

YC

6

Residential

2

Library

4

Resources

HBS

1

Resources

Register Office

3

Schools

SCH: Primary

18

SCH: Special
Total

2

2
2

2

Resources

Schools

Urgent
Action
Required

SCH: Secondary

4
1
15

6

3

1

2
52

1

1

1
26

10

1

2

4 issued non-schools audit reports in this quarter required improvement.
A cycle of audit revisits is in place to track action plan progress where required, focussed on
compliance in higher hazard areas.
13 Audits conducted in 18/19 where rating was below benchmark expected of Good.

Agenda Pack Page 25

13

4 Property
4.1 Service Performance
4.1.1 Income – Abel Smith (RP191a)

G
£819k

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





Performance has increased from
£412,065 last quarter

The income for Abel Smith House in Stevenage has exceeded the end of year target at
£818,810. This includes £254,127 of estimated accruals.
All values are excluding VAT.

4.1.2 Income – Rural Estate (RP191b)

G
£1.59m

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





Cumulative income is in line
with the profiled target

The end of year income for Rural Estates is £1.596 m, £96,000 above the target.
There has been an overall general downtrend in the frequency of agricultural rent reviews
across rural estates driven by weakness in commodity prices since 2014. Despite this trend
the Council's Rural Estate has seen continued growth in its income.
Whilst farm rents remain generally stable, new lettings across the estate and nonagricultural income has underpinned the continued growth in the overall estate income.

4.1.3 Income – Hertfordshire Development Centre (HDC) (RP191c)

G
£376.9k

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





Performance has improved from
£209,106 last quarter

Agenda Pack Page 26

14

HDC has exceeded its net target of £350,000 by £26,900. This has been achieved this year
by minimising expenditure and the team working hard on securing bookings.
However, HDC's income is generally declining as more training is being delivered online and
fewer bookings have inclusive catering. Steps are being made to increase awareness of the
facility whilst the Council reviews its strategy for HDC.

4.1.4 Preventative maintenance and all statutory inspections are completed
within required timescales (RP196)

G
98%

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





Performance has decreased
from 100% last quarter

All internal preventative property maintenance (PPM) continues to be performed to the
required timescales since the transition of the Hard Facilities Management team to the
Council’s Property team. Apart from a few access issues occurring from time to time external
PPMs are also fully up to date meaning the percentage overall is up to 98% which is above
the 95% target. ( 7,917 PPMs in time out of a total of 8,078)

5

Information and Technology

5.1 Service Performance
5.1.1 Availability of IT systems (RP160)

G
100%
Platinum apps

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





Performance has improved
from 99.83% last quarter

Results for the quarter show that all Platinum, Gold; Silver & Bronze Application availability
targets have been reached. In addition, Serco are performing an application review,
including adding information regarding which applications have disaster recovery.

Agenda Pack Page 27

15

5.1.2 Cyber Security (RP169)

100% of all attempts were successfully repelled

92,504
Attacks on HCC
Systems

The number of attacks on servers, remote attacks and Malware and Phishing attacks on
Council systems between January and March was 92,504. All attempts were successfully
repelled.
Please note that since Q2 we have refined the reports that produce these stats (removing
potential false positives.) and will continue to refine them over the coming quarters to
improve accuracy.

6

Legal, Democratic and Statutory Services

6.1 Service Performance
6.1.1 Levels of Legal Service Provided (RP174b)
No
Target

22,535
Hours

Performance

Data



Hours have increased from
22,516 hours in Q3

Agenda Pack Page 28

16

Client
Adult Care Services
Chief Executive
Children's Services - CLU
Children's Services Non-CLU
Community Protection
Corporate/Council
Director Duties
Environment and Infrastructure
Outside Bodies
Public Health
Resources
Statutory Services
Grand Total

2018/19
Qtr. 2
Qtr. 3
2,249
2,822
166
163
10,554
10,357
1,326
1,657
87
151
113
253
2,606
2,149
1,686
1,825
49
82
3,401
3,055
0
1
22,237
22,516

Qtr. 1
2,145
195
8,855
1,399
155
210
31
2,302
1,984
53
2,803
3
20,136

Qtr. 4
2,681
114
10,192
1,823
74
253
1,996
1,797
84
3,517
4
22,535

Total
9,896
639
39,958
6,205
468
829
31
9,053
7,293
268
12,776
9
87,424

During 2015/16 Childcare Litigation work for Children's Services accounted for more than
half of the work of Legal Services (57%). With non-Childcare litigation work included this
rose to 65%. Throughout 2016-17 and 2017-18 this percentage decreased to 55%. Up to
Q3 2018/19 this figure continued to fall to 53%.
From 2015/16 work for Outside Bodies increased from 1% of total work to 7% during
2017/18 and in 18/19 this figure has continued to increase to 8.4% of total fee earning
hours delivered.

6.1.2 Levels of Locum spend v Permanent spend in Legal (RP174a)

83%
Salaried staff

Spend on Locums as a
proportion of legal salary
budget has decreased from Q3

The ratio of salary and agency spend has largely remained static during the last 4 quarters,
with some of the variation caused by unsynchronised monthly accounting and 4-weekly
billing by the agency provider.

6.1.3 Percentage of logged/complex requests for information to receive full
responses within 20 working days (FOI compliance rate) (RP41)

G
100%
(529/529)

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





Performance has improved
from 99% last quarter

A full complement of staffing has enabled the team to chase departments earlier for
response and maintain an excellent response rate. With 529 Freedom of Information (FOI)

Agenda Pack Page 29

17

requests processed this quarter.

6.1.4 Percentage of Subject Access Requests (SARS) to receive full responses
within 30 calendar days (quarterly) (SAR compliance rate) (RP42)

G
100%
(150/150)

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





Performance stayed the same
since last quarter

The volume of SARs has risen continually since GDPR came into effect in May 2018, with
150 processed this quarter.

6.1.5 Income as a percentage of controllable expenditure (RP186)
No
Target

115%

Performance

Data





Performance has increased from
110% in Q3 2018/19

In 2018/19 the income for the Registration Service was 115% of controllable expenditure.
The service generated income of £2,431,733 and had controllable expenditure of
£2,111,419.

6.1.6 Timeliness of completion of Inquest Cases (RP189)
No
Target

23
Weeks

Performance

Data





Performance has improved
from 25 weeks in Q3

Q4 (full year data) shows that the coroner service took an average of 23 weeks from
referral of a sudden death to inquest hearing in court.
During 2018/19 there were a total of 370 inquests closed, of which 364 were standard
inquests and 6 were jury inquests.

Agenda Pack Page 30

18

7 Community Engagement (Customer Service, Communications
and Corporate Policy)
7.1 Service Performance
7.1.1 Channel Shift Indicators
6 indicators are reported in the Chanel Shift theme this quarter. See
details below:
A mix of 6 indicators is being reported this quarter to give an overall impression of the
County Council’s progress on Channel Shift. They are: Highways fault reporting, Blue
Badge, Bus Pass, Birth Registrations, Free School Meals and School Admissions (secondary).
Headlines include:
 Highway fault reporting – a slight decrease in performance to 70.3% (from 71.8% in
Q3) this quarter but Hertfordshire continues to have a high online highways fault
reporting figure when compared with peer authorities and other Councils. Because
of the investment in LED street lights we are seeing a big decrease in the overall
number of lighting faults reported, which was a fault type; citizens were much more
likely to report online.
 Blue Badge – performance increased in Q4 to 54.2% (43% in Q3) but remains below
target level (60%). Work continues to review the customer experience to see if we
can further support service users in applying easily and quickly for Blue Badges.
 Bus passes – for the second quarter running, there has been a substantial increase
(71.6% from 61.3% in Q3) due to improved signposting and promotion of the online
service by the Customer Service Centre.
 School Admissions (secondary) – remain consistently one of the most highly used C
 Council online services (99.48%).
 Birth registration appointment – Increased this quarter (76.5% from 74.8% in Q3)
and numbers have steadily been increasing since Q4 17/18. The registrations team
are reviewing communications and promotions to raise numbers even higher.
Full details can be seen in the table below:
Qtr. 4 18/19
% of online

Target

Highway fault reporting

70.3

80.0

Blue Badge

54.2

60.0

Bus Pass

71.6

40.0

Birth registration appointment

76.5

80.0

Free School Meals

83.2

70.0

2018/19

Agenda Pack Page 31

19

School Admissions (secondary)

99.48

95.0

7.1.2 Customer Service Centre all contacts – Mystery Shopping Results (RP115)

G
87%
Answered
satisfactorily

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





Performance has improved from
81% last quarter

Performance has increased in Q4 and was 87% (137/158 questions answered satisfactorily). This is
This is 6% above the previous quarter but 3% below the target of 90%.

7.1.3 Customer Service Centre (CSC) all contacts – average call waiting time
(RP116)

G

18
Seconds

Performance
(Good to be low)

Data





L

Performance has improved from
19 seconds last quarter

CSC average wait time is within target for each month this quarter. CSC average wait time
was less than 20 seconds for January, February and March - this included weather related
peaks for highways, social care peaks in January and secondary school allocation calls in
early March.

7.1.4 Average Multi-media score total (RP105)

A
744
Average media
score

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





Performance increased from 622
last quarter

The media score continues to increase month on month. This quarter's scores benefitted
from successful selling in to national newspapers and TV. In addition, We gained successful
coverage was gained on the Council’s new scams campaign, the Council’s preparations for

Agenda Pack Page 32

20

Brexit, the art auction, council tax increase and the Queen’s Gallantry medal being
awarded to two firefighters. A high level of media coverage was also received on
secondary allocations regarding pupils affected by Katherine Warrington School dual bid
process.
Finally, this month the first issue Your Hertfordshire magazine was also published which
was delivered to all households across Hertfordshire in March.

7.1.5 Update Me Email Bulletin Subscribers (RP107a)

A
92,274
Subscribers

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





Performance improved from
89,993 last quarter

Sign-ups to update me emails continued to increase through social media and total
numbers are now over 92,000. A small scale campaign in this quarter saw subscribers
increase by 2,281.
A tender process is underway for a new contract to supply the email marketing system
before the new system is introduced in June. This makes July an ideal time to launch a
campaign to encourage sign ups to help reach the target of 100,000 subscribers by the end
of Q2 2019/20.

7.2 Corporate Communication Campaigns
Type/ID &
RAG

Description/Aim

Reason

This cross-cutting campaign
seeks to raise awareness
amongst residents regarding
the extra 100,000 homes and
jobs in Hertfordshire over the
Growth &
next 15 years. It also seeks to
Infrastructure build understanding in the
county council's role; and
support any potential Growth
bid including the necessary
infrastructure funding for
Hertfordshire.
This is an in-house project
that is seeking a minor update
Brand refresh and refresh to modernise our
corporate identity in line with
the new council website.

Plan for the 'good growth' campaign has
been updated and on track to roll the
campaign out in the summer.

Successfully launched a rolled out the
brand refresh programme which received
excellent feedback from stakeholders.

Agenda Pack Page 33

21

Signage
Project

External
Channel
Strategy

External
Advocacy
Strategy

Smart
Working (inc
Apsley)

Connecting
Lives

This is a new project for
Autumn 2018, that is
intended to ensure that
residents are aware of our
capital spend projects through
high-profile, signage.
This project is part of taking
the county council through a
digital journey and reducing
print publications based on
resident's more modern
communications preferences.
This includes a saving of
£100,000 per year from
2019/20.

Project agreed by Cabinet in February. The
policy is now live and teams should now
be following the guidance. Further
internal comms will go out following the
end of PERP in May.
This project is on track to reduce the
number of printed publications with the
last edition of Horizons being produced in
September. A number of new initiatives
have already been delivered, such as a
county wide advertisement, the launch of
a news hub on the website and work to
continue to improve other digital
channels. The new publication, Your
Hertfordshire, was delivered in mid-March
2019. The subscription rate of Update Me
(email system) is now due to reach the
100,000 target during the Summer (2019).
This is a joint strategy with
POProject is on track with the action plan
Corporate Policy and is aimed now being implemented across a number
at increasing the County
of areas with a quarterly stakeholder
Council's profile amongst key bulletin being regularly delivered. A
partners and stakeholders,
stakeholder survey has been undertaken
such as local MPs and Central and corporate policy are currently
Government.
reporting on the findings from this.
This project is a key
A comms plan has been agreed and
transformation project for
significant contributions are made at the
staff working at the county
regular board meetings as well alongside
council. Communications is at specific communications activity.
the heart of ensuring that this Additional support has been given over
project successfully delivers
the past few months to the Apsley
the future way of working and property project which will help facilitate
enables change.
significant financial savings and a better
working environment.
This is a behaviour change
COMPLETED - the pilot in Letchworth has
campaign, seeking to address been successfully completed and the
the underlying causes of
project has been handed over to Adult
loneliness by setting up a
Care Services to roll-out county-wide.
'connector' network and
reduce preventable health
issues for people aged
between 65-75 years old.

Agenda Pack Page 34

22

Key & Notes
1 Indicators - Red, Amber & Green Explanation
No target
specified

Rating has improved

Rating same as last time

Rating has deteriorated

Agenda Pack Page 35

23

This page is intentionally left blank

HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
RESOURCES & PERFORMANCE CABINET PANEL
FRIDAY 5 JULY 2019 AT 10:00AM

Agenda Item
No:

4

HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PERFORMANCE MONITOR –
QUARTER 4 (Q4), 2018-19
Report of the Director of Resources
Authors: Alex James, Head of Corporate Policy
(Tel: 01992 588259)
Martin Aust, Head of Intelligence, Improvement and Technology, Resources
(Tel: 01992 555793)
Executive Member: Ralph Sangster Resources and Performance
1.

Purpose of Report

1.1

To present the Performance Report for the fourth quarter of the financial year 201819 to the Resources & Performance Cabinet Panel.

2.

Summary

2.1

This report provides context and commentary on key areas of Hertfordshire County
Council performance. It has been grouped by Portfolio and the reference numbers
for the measures in the electronic dashboard are included in each item heading.
The final version of the performance monitor, referenced by service and portfolio
will be made available on the Hertfordshire website

3.

.
Recommendations

3.1

The Resources & Performance Cabinet Panel is invited:
a) To comment on the recommendations on any performance, project, contract and
risk or audit matter outlined in this report.
b) To identify further actions to address any performance concerns raised in the
performance monitor.

1

Agenda Pack Page 37

4

Background

4.1

The report provides an executive summary and a report highlighting key
performance issues for each Portfolio, ordered as follows:
1) Adult Care & Health
2) Children, Young People & Families
3) Public Health & Prevention
4) Community Safety & Waste Management

5) Growth, Infrastructure, Planning &
the Economy
6) Highways & the Environment
7) Education, Libraries & Localism
8) Resources & Performance

5.

Financial Implications

5.1

There are no direct financial implications associated with this report.

6.

Equalities Implications

6.1

When considering proposals placed before Members it is important that they are
fully aware of, and have themselves rigorously considered the equalities
implications of the decision that they are taking.

6.2

Rigorous consideration will ensure that proper appreciation of any potential impact
of that decision on the County Council’s statutory obligations under the Public
Sector Equality Duty. As a minimum this requires decision makers to read and
carefully consider the content of any Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA)
produced by officers.

6.3

The Equality Act 2010 requires the Council when exercising its functions to have
due regard to the need to (a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and
other conduct prohibited under the Act; (b) advance equality of opportunity between
persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not
share it and (c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. The protected
characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 are age; disability; gender
reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and maternity; race;
religion and belief, sex and sexual orientation.

6.4

No EqIA was undertaken for this report because the Hertfordshire County Council
Quarterly Performance Report only provides historic performance information for
the last quarter (Q4 2018/19). The report does not impact on equalities or affect any
of the protected characteristics which would require an EqIA to be completed.

2

Agenda Pack Page 38

1. Adult Care & Health

2. Children, Young People and Families
Referrals into social care (Section 2.1.1, p10) continue to reduce as more families are
supported through Families First. The number of children subject to child protection
plans (Section 2.1.2, p11) have increased this quarter, though overall numbers remain
low with Hertfordshire having one of the lowest rates nationally. Numbers of children
looked after (Section 2.1.4, p12) have reduced slightly this quarter and the percentage
of care leavers in education, employment or training has declined slightly although
overall figures have yet to be confirmed.

3. Public Health & Prevention
The uptake of weight management services (Section 3.1.3, p15) has decreased this
quarter as expected due to seasonal trends, but the percentage completing and
achieving a 5% weight loss continues to exceed the target. The numbers entering stop
smoking services (Section 3.1.1, p14) remains stable and work is ongoing to increase
the completion rate. In Q3, 9,319 individuals were invited for a Health Check (Section
3.1.2, p15) and 5,397 individuals received one. Over the last 12 months, Hertfordshire
has achieved 930 out of 3,416 (27.22%) successful completions of drug and alcohol
treatment (Section 3.1.4, p16) which is higher than the national average of 20%.

4. Community Safety and Waste Management
Performance for Attendance Standards increased in Q4 and was above the target of
90% (Section 4.1.5, p20) for all first appliances to a property fire for the first time in
two years. This quarter has also seen improvements in the number Primary Fire
Injuries (Section 4.1.1, p18) and number of False Alarms caused by Automatic Fire
Alarms (Section 4.1.6, p20) with decreases when compared to the same period last
year.
There was also an increase in the number of Secondary (Section 4.1.3, p19) Fires due
to a variety of factors including increased arson activity (see sections for details).
Deliberate Fires (Section 4.1.4, p19) also increased due to a combination of factors
including recording issues and increased level of incidence at a particular location.
Final outturn data for recycling rates (Section 4.1.11, p22) shows that there was a
decline in performance in 2017/18 but performance is still above target and also
Eastern region/England averages.

3

Agenda Pack Page 39

Executive Summary Q4

Provisional care home admissions for clients aged 65 and over (Section 1.1.5, p7) have
increased to 549.9 per 100k with new former self funder cases significant. It is likely
that the annual target will not be achieved.
Admissions for younger adults (Section 1.1.4, p6) are also projected to be above
target with a new Supported Living framework being introduced to improve this
situation.
The rates of delayed transfers of care (Section 1.1.6, p7 and 1.1.7, p8) have continued
to decrease. Social care delays are the lowest over the last 6 years.
A new measure, the number of safeguarding concerns (Section 1.1.10, p9), has been
introduced this quarter.

Hertfordshire’s employment rate (Section 5.1.5, p25) decreased this quarter but
remains above both the South East and national rate. Likewise, performance for the
proportion of population qualified to both Level 2 (Section 5.1.6, p26) and Level 4
(Section 5.1.7, p26) dropped slightly this quarter but continues to compare well
against regional and national averages.
The percentage of new developments within 30 minutes by public transport of key
services decreased slightly in 2016/17 (Section5.1.3, p25) but performance remains
above target.
Finally, the number of young people Not in Education, Employment or Training
(Section 5.1.8, p27) increased slightly this quarter. However, Hertfordshire’s overall
NEET rate continues to compare favourably with the national average.

6. Highways and the Environment
Overall performance of the Highways Service Term Contract (Section 6.2, p31)
decreased slightly this quarter (95.51%) but remains above the minimum performance
requirement of 75%.
Performance for schemes delivered against the Integrated Works Programme
increased slightly this quarter (Section 6.1.5, p30) but remains below target due to
some significant re-planning related to extra funding and also revised design dates.
Likewise, performance for Response to public correspondence within 10 days
increased this quarter with work continuing to bring it to target level. Performance on
response to emergencies (Section 6.1.7 p31) and response to Cat 1 defects (Section
6.1.8 p31) saw slight decreases this quarter.
Delays in receiving police data have meant updated Killed and Seriously injured data is
not available this quarter. Liaison with the Police continues to establish when the data
will be available and finalised figures can be produced.

7. Education, Libraries & Localism
The percentage of Hertfordshire schools that are good or outstanding (Section7.1.1,
p32) has increased this quarter, and remains above the national and comparative
authority average. Providing sufficient school places for a growing population
continues to be a priority and this is reflected in the high number of families securing
a place in a preferred school (Section 7.1.2 and 7.1.3, p32).

8. Resources & Performance
Headcount (Section 8.1.3, p36) has remained stable this quarter, but both the total
Paybill (Section 8.1.1, p35) and Agency spend (Section 8.1.2, p35) have increased in
line with expectations. Agency spend increased in the quarter particularly in Adult
Care Services due to temporary staff being used to cover permanent roles. The
general voluntary turnover rate (Section 8.1.4, p36) has increased slightly on the same
time last year, but the total turnover rate for under 25 year olds (Section 8.1.6, p37)
has increased significantly.
The number of complaints (Section 8.1.8, p38) has increased this quarter largely due
to high numbers of requests for Education, Health and Care Plans which has resulted
in capacity issues in the SEND team. These are now being addressed.

4

Agenda Pack Page 40

Executive Summary Q4

5. Growth, Infrastructure, Planning and the Economy

Highlight Report
For the key to colours and arrows see p41

1

Adult Care & Health

1.1 Service Performance
1.1.1 Percentage of People Receiving Direct Payments (HCS96a)

G

27.3%

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





NL

Performance decreased from
27.4% last quarter
For 2016-17, Northamptonshire
were highest at 47.4%

At the end of Q4 7,773 clients received a long term service, of which 2,119 were in receipt
of a direct payment. Of these, 1,460 direct payments were for ages 18-64 and 659 were
for ages 65 and over.
Uptake is 39.3% (from 3,717 clients) in the younger age group and 16.2% (from 4,056
clients) for older people. This difference is mirrored nationally with England averages for
2017-18 of 40.8% and 17.5%.
A refreshed strategy has been commissioned to identify greater opportunities to provide
care through direct payments.
Note – data is based on provisional end of year statutory data and is subject to change.

1.1.2 Percentage of Carers Receiving Direct Payments (HCS96b)

G

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





NL

Performance decreased from
73.9% last quarter
73.8% For 2016-17, Buckinghamshire
were highest at 100%
There are 1,738 carers who have received a carer’s specific service in the year, of which
1,282 have received a direct payment. Uptake levels of direct payments are 712 of 839
(84.7%) for ages 18-64 and 570 out of 899 (63.4%) for ages 65 and over. Continued use of
carer champions and sharing of good practice promotes best practice on carer
assessments and the appropriate use of carer direct payments.
5

Agenda Pack Page 41

Note – data is based on provisional end of year statutory data and is subject to change.

1.1.3 Percentage of Older people at home 91 days after leaving hospital into
reablement (HCS97a)

G
82.8%

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





NL

Performance has decreased
from 83.8% last quarter
For 2016-17, Warwickshire were
highest at 94.8%

This quarter 482 of 582 clients were still at home after 91 days. Although performance has
been consistent, due to the winter period and hospital pressures some individuals with
more complex needs may have been referred down an enablement pathway to ease
system pressures. Some of these individuals will have been more prone to readmission
within the 91 days.
Of the 100 service users who were not at home after 91 days, 34 were readmitted to
hospital, 54 were deceased and 12 were admitted to long term residential care.
Roll out of the discharge to assess process across the county has continued. The service
encompasses enabling homecare and appropriate therapy and nursing support during the
first four weeks post discharge maximising the chance of no ongoing care or a lower
ongoing care package following the reablement service.
Note – this indicator is based on discharges in the previous quarter to allow for the 91 day period to elapse.

1.1.4 Rate of Permanent Admissions to Care Homes (18-64) (per 100,000
population) (HCS99a)

13.5
Rate

Performance has decreased
from 12.4 last quarter
In 2016-17, Kent were lowest on
5.2 per 100,000 population

There were 96 admissions during the year which is above the annual target.
The Adult Disability Service Efficiencies project is driving the promotion of supported living
services to improve this indicator. This includes the introduction of a new supported living
framework in 2019 which will focus on more flexible supported living options as an
alternative to long term residential or nursing care.
Note – This indicator is reported a quarter in arrears and data is based on provisional end of year statutory data which
is subject to change.

6

Agenda Pack Page 42

1.1.5 Rate of Permanent Admissions to Care Homes (65+) (per 100,000
population) (HCS99b)

A
549.9
Rate

Performance
(Good to be low)

Data





NL

Performance has decreased
from 544.5 last quarter
In 2016-17, Essex were lowest
on 331.5 per 100,000 population

There were 1,096 admissions during the year which is above the annual target.
An increase in the number of former self funders becoming local authority funded has
contributed 14% of the total with an average of 13 admissions per month. January (23)
and February (18) saw the largest numbers in the last 3 years.
Increased pressure to facilitate discharge from hospital compounded by insufficient
homecare capacity has led to a greater number of clients entering this service.
Management oversight of all residential placements continues.
Note - This indicator is reported a quarter in arrears and data is based on provisional end of year statutory data which
is subject to change.

1.1.6 Overall delayed transfer of care from hospital (NHS Social Care Joint) per
100,000 population (HCS100)

R
11.3
Rate

Performance
(Good to be low)

Data





NL

Performance improved from
11.5 last quarter

Overall delayed transfers of care have continued to decrease. There have been 33,885
days delayed for Hertfordshire residents in the year to date with 74% attributable to the
NHS, 23% to Social Care and 3% to both. Hertfordshire ranks 7th in its group of 16 CIPFA
comparator authorities.
The greatest percentage of delays has been reported by West Herts Hospital Trust with
27%. Hertfordshire Community Trust (26%) and Hertfordshire Partnership Foundation
Trust (18%) report the second and third highest contribution to delays. The main reasons
recorded for these delays are patients waiting for home care (23%), patients waiting for
residential care (19%) and further non-acute care (18%).
Most improvement has taken place across the Hertfordshire Community Trust non–acute
bed base.
Note – data is up to February 2019

7

Agenda Pack Page 43

1.1.7 Delayed transfers of care attributable to social services, per 100,000
population (HCS100a)

G
2.7
Rate

Performance
(Good to be low)

Data





N
L

Performance improved from 2.8
last quarter

Delayed transfers of care continue to reduce. Hertfordshire ranks 7th in its group of 16
CIPFA comparator authorities.
The greatest percentages of Hertfordshire’s social care delays have been reported by West
Herts Hospital Trust with 45% of all delays occurring at their hospital. Hertfordshire
Community Trust (33%) and Luton and Dunstable Hospital NHS Trust (4%) report the
second and third highest contribution to delays. The main reason recorded for these
delays is patients waiting for home care (58%), followed by Residential Care (21%) and
Nursing Care (14%).
Note – data is up to February 2019

1.1.8 Percentage of Repeat Incidents of Domestic Abuse (HCS105)

30%

Performance has decreased
from 28.3% last quarter

The percentage of repeat cases referred to a Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference
(MARAC) has risen slightly in Q4 to 30%. Repeat cases are defined as the same victim and
perpetrator (or group of perpetrators) returning to the same MARAC within 12 months.
This is slightly lower than Q4 2017/18 and 5% above the local target. Hertfordshire
performance remains broadly in line with the national average and comparable to other
similar police force areas. The expected repeat rate of established and effective MARACs is
28-40%.
MARACs are regular meetings where information about domestic abuse victims at high
risk of murder or serious harm is shared to formulate risk-focused action plans to reduce
the risks. They are confidential and consider the victim, the family and the perpetrator.

8

Agenda Pack Page 44

1.1.9 Percentage of Clients whose desired outcomes were either fully or partially
achieved as part of an adult safeguarding enquiry (HCS 106)

G

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





L

Performance improved from
95.5% last quarter

95.7%

Performance has improved compared to Q3. There were 3231 expressed outcomes
recorded in 2018-19 with 76% fully achieved and 20% partially achieved. A new centralised
safeguarding team will be in place from May 2019. Performance for this indicator will
continue to be monitored closely to measure the effects this may have.

1.1.10 Number of Safeguarding Concerns reported to Adult social Care (HCS108)
No
Target

2,273

Performance
(Good to be low)

Data





L

Number of concerns decreased
from 2,516 last quarter

A safeguarding concern is a sign of suspected abuse or neglect that is reported to the local
authority or identified by the local authority. If a concern is investigated further it will
become an enquiry.
There have been more concerns received this year (9498) than during 2017-18 (8685) but
the rate each quarter has remained broadly consistent. The increase is linked to improved
recording alongside improved awareness following actions taken by the Safeguarding
Adult’s Board.
The greatest proportion of concerns relates to abuse involving acts of neglect or omission
(56%), physical abuse (29%) and psychological abuse (15%). Most reported cases of abuse
took place in the clients own home (46%) followed by residential or nursing settings (27%).
This is a new measure to be monitored from this quarter onwards.

1.2 Projects, Contracts & Risks
Type/ID & RAG

Description/Aim

Contract
HCS33
Amber

Providers
commissioned by
HCS that are
assessed as having
at least a ‘good’
rating

Reason
217 of 240 care home providers (91%) were
visited during 2018-19. 138 providers (64%)
achieved a rating of either ‘Excellent’ or ‘Good’.
The remaining 79 (36%) were rated as ‘requires
improvement’ or ‘poor’. These are held
accountable for producing an action plan within
the contracted timescales and receive at least
one follow up visit to review the plan and
9

Agenda Pack Page 45

provide assurances that actions have been
implemented and maintained.
Ratings are against Hertfordshire’s tougher
contract standards rather than the Care Quality
Commission’s regulations. Hertfordshire also
inspects poorer performing providers first so a
lower number of contract visits will lead to a
lower overall percentage.

Projects
Risk
Audit

2

As at March 2019 provider monitoring by the
Care Quality Commission reported 80% of
Hertfordshire’s providers achieving Good (79%)
or Outstanding (1%), 14% required
improvement or were inadequate and 5% were
unrated.
There are no additional updates on projects
All corporate risks, including any red risks relating to this Portfolio, can
be viewed through the electronic dashboard. There have been no
significant movements in the last quarter.
No high priority recommendations were made or 'limited' or 'no'
assurance Internal Audit opinions issued for this area in the last
quarter

Children Young People & Families

2.1 Service Performance
2.1.1 Rate of Referrals to specialised Children’s Services (rolling year rate per
10,000) (CS1)

G

Performance
(Good to be low)

Data





NL

The rate has reduced from 221.3
last quarter
217.1
Next best comparable
Rate
authority:Central Bedfordshire at 296.5
The rate of referrals (per 10,000 0-18 population) has reduced for the sixth consecutive
year as we continue to support more families through early help within Families First.
There was a 4.7% reduction in the overall number of referrals compared with 2017/18.
The rate of re-referrals at 14.5 also remains considerably lower than national and
statistical neighbour averages, showing that those stepped down in the majority of cases
10

Agenda Pack Page 46

do not return to children’s social care.

2.1.2 Number of Children subject to a child protection plan (CS4)
No
Target

Performance
(Good to be low)

Data





NL

Numbers have increased from
497 in December.
557 equates to rate of 20.9 per
10,000 of 0-18 population
557
Next best comparable authority
Cambridgeshire with a rate of
35.4
The number of children subject to a child protection plan has increased for three
consecutive months and is a 4.5% increase on 533 in March 2018. Work is underway to
understand the reasons behind the increase. Hertfordshire still maintains one of the
lowest rates per 10,000 in the country, although this area remains a key focus for the
service.

2.1.3 Percentage of children with ICPC’s held within 15 days of S47 enquiry (CS5)

G

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





NL

Performance has improved
from 73.5% in December
79%
Best comparable authority
Central Bedfordshire at 98%
The percentage of Initial Child Protection Conferences (ICPCs) in timescale have improved
considerably this quarter following a task and finish group to improve performance.
Work continues to ensure conferences are held in timescale and it is hoped this will
improve further in 2019/20.

11

Agenda Pack Page 47

2.1.4 Number of Children Looked After (as at end of the month excluding
Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) (CS228)
No
Target

Performance
(Good to be low)

Data





NL

The number of CLA (exc. UASC)
has remained the same since
last quarter
The current rate is 31.2 per
834
10,000 (including UASC) which
compares to the next best
neighbour Buckinghamshire
with 39.
Numbers of Children Looked After (CLA) have remained the same from December,
although above that of March 2018 (815). It is noted that interventions to keep children
with their families are having an impact ensuring children only become looked after where
it is not safe for them to remain in their family environment. Hertfordshire maintains one
of the lowest rates per 10,000 (0-18 population) in the country. Work is underway to look
at ways to improve the placement profile and reduce the costs of CLA placements.

2.1.5 Percentage of 17-21 year olds in Education, Employment or Training (CS197)

G
53.6%

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





NL

Performance has decreased
from 53.7% last quarter

The percentage of care leavers aged 17-21 who are in employment, education or training
has decreased slightly this quarter to 53.6%. However the service is still collecting data and
it is expected this will rise to at least 56% which is higher than our statistical neighbour
(54%) and national (55%). This remains a key priority for the service. The service is in
contact with the majority of care leavers with 95.8% having a pathway plan.

2.2 Projects, Contracts & Risks
Type/ID &
RAG

Description/Aim

Reason


Project
CSP10
Green

Families First

422 outcome claims submitted for families to
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local
Government as part of Troubled Families
Payment By Results system (over the last 3
months)
12

Agenda Pack Page 48



Increasing number of Families First
Assessments that closed in the last quarter
did so with all or most outcomes achieved.
Others closed where either the case was
stepped up, the family moved to another
local authority area or the family disengaged
from support.

Next quarter:








Contract
CSC3
Amber
Stable

Independent Foster
Placements



Undertake work to measure the impact of
Families First on outcomes for children,
young people and their families in
Hertfordshire and the cost benefits of early
intervention to support a Business Case for
sustaining the Families First model post 2020.
Efficiencies continue to be sought through
taking a whole system approach, and working
collaboratively with partners, to identify
where services can deliver support in a more
cohesive way. Additionally, efficiencies to be
sought through commissioning
arrangements.
As at the end of February 2019, 661
children (including UASC, family and friends
placements) were in foster placements
excluding staying put (70 over 18 year olds).
Of these 487 were placed with in house
carers.
Recruitment remains focused on targeting
groups who are most likely to have the skills,
experience and attributes required to meet
the needs of our current CLA population, with
marketing aimed at profiling the services’
needs for carers for teenagers, sibling groups,
children with disabilities and children
requiring long-term, respite or specialist
placements.
The ‘Something Missing’ campaign, launch of
the fostering video and county-wide open
evenings has seen a steady flow of initial
contacts and enquiries to the team.
Next quarter.



A cohort of children in residential placements
13

Agenda Pack Page 49

have been identified for the Regional Inside
Out project with the aim of providing
intensive coaching enabling them to step into
foster care/return home or remain stable in
current provision.
 The Department for Education reports the
recruitment and retention of sufficient
numbers of high quality foster carers remains
one of the biggest issues in fostering. A
project group has been set up to look at
targeted action to address the current
placement profile.
All corporate risks, including any red risks relating to this Portfolio, can be
viewed through the electronic dashboard. There have been no significant
movements in the last quarter.

Risk

No high priority recommendations were made or 'limited' or 'no' assurance
Internal Audit opinions issued for this area in the last quarter

Audit

3

Public Health & Prevention

3.1 Service Performance
Key indicators are available through the HCC Performance dashboard and the complete set
of Public Health Outcome Framework (PHOF) indicators is available at
www.phoutcomes.info.

3.1.1 Smoking cessation – uptake and successful quits (PH4)
No
Target

618
Successful
quits

Performance

Data





NL
n/a

Performance has improved from
558 in the previous quarter

Hertfordshire stop smoking services annual report was presented to Public Health and
Prevention Cabinet Panel in March. It showed that a proportionately higher number of
routine and manual workers, people with mental health conditions and smokers who live
in the most deprived communities accessed stop smoking services. Services uptake is
comparable to Q3 2017/18. However, data quality from providers needs to be improved.
. Note – This indicator is reported a quarter in arrears

14

Agenda Pack Page 50

3.1.2 NHS Health checks: invited and delivered (PH5)
No
Target

87%
Numbers
Invited

Performance

Data





NL
n/a

Percentage has decreased from
89% in Quarter 2

For the five years to Q3 2018/19, 87% of the eligible population in Hertfordshire has been
offered a Health Check, compared to 85% for England and the Public Health England
target of 100%. In Q3, 9,319 individuals were invited for a Health Check and 5,397
individuals received one; 45% of those offered a Health Check received one compared to
47% for England in Q3. Hertfordshire’s eligible population has increased from 339,682 in
2017/18 to 342,243 in 2018/19. There are differences in how GP practices invite patients
and not all offers are recorded.
Note – This indicator is reported a quarter in arrears

3.1.3 Adult weight management: uptake and % achieving weight loss (PH3)
No
Target

788

Performance

Data





NL
n/a

Performance has decreased from
1,099 last quarter

The uptake of weight management services varies in line with seasonal trends and there is
always an expectation of lower numbers in Q3 (due to the Christmas period). This has
decreased again (to 788) since Q2 in line with the previous year. With the lower uptake
the numbers achieving 5% weight loss (372) has reduced from Q2 (524) but the
percentage of completers achieving the 5% weight loss is 65%, which remains over the
contract target of 60%.
Note – this indicator is reported a quarter in arrears

15

Agenda Pack Page 51

3.1.4 Successful completion of drugs and alcohol treatment – alcohol, opiates
(PH8)

G
41.5%
Alcohol

6.3%

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





NL

Performance has improved from
40.2% last quarter

A

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





Opiates

NL

Performance has increased from
6.2% previous quarter
Successful completion of treatment rates have increased in Q3 for both alcohol and
opiates. Individuals achieving a successful completion outcome demonstrate significant
improvements in health and general wellbeing. Each Local Authority has been assigned 32
revised comparator areas (LOC’s) which are those areas most similar to Hertfordshire in
terms of complexity of those in drug and alcohol treatment. As of January 2019,
Hertfordshire’s position in comparison to the LOC’s performance for successful
completions and representations is currently 13th out of 32.
Note – This indicator is reported a quarter in arrears

3.1.5 Sexual Health Hertfordshire (SHH) Sexual Transmitted Infection diagnosis
(STI) (PH10.1)

No
Target

154
Chlamydia
Diagnoses

Performance

Data



Up from 119 last quarter

(15-24)

Although Q3 saw a decline in attendance at sexual health clinics, STI testing increased. This
resulted in an increase in diagnosis for Chlamydia and Gonorrhoea.
Note – This indicator is reported a quarter in arrears.

16

Agenda Pack Page 52

3.1.6 HIV testing uptake (PH11)
No
Target

3,972

Performance

Data





Performance has improved from
3,625 last quarter

HIV testing uptake has increased slightly in Q3. Although Q3 saw a decline in attendance at
sexual health clinics, those accessing services continue to be offered a test, with an
increasing number of patients accepting.
National HIV Testing Week in November generates increased awareness of the importance
of HIV testing and where to access local testing services. This can result in more people
requesting an HIV test.
Note – This indicator is reported a quarter in arrears.

3.1.7 Emergency Hormone Contraception (EHC) provided by pharmacies (PH12)
No
Target

744

Performance

Data



Up from 653 last quarter

Q3 has seen an increase in the amount of EHC provided by Pharmacies. As the majority of
EHC is accessed within the AL10 postcode area (Hatfield), an increase could be linked to
the start of 'Fresher’s Week' at the University (September/October).
Note – This indicator is reported a quarter in arrears.

3.2 Projects, Contracts & Risks
Type/ID &
RAG
Project
Contract
Risk
Audit

Description/Aim

Reason

There are no additional updates on projects.
There are no additional updates on contracts
All corporate risks, including any red risks relating to this Portfolio, can be
viewed through the electronic dashboard. There have been no significant
movements in the last quarter.
No high priority recommendations were made or 'limited' or 'no' assurance
Internal Audit opinions issued for this area in the last quarter.

17

Agenda Pack Page 53

4

Community Safety & Waste Management

4.1 Service Performance
4.1.1 Number of Primary Fire Injuries (CP2)
No
Target

17

Performance
(Good to be low)

Data





NL

Performance has improved from
20 Q4 2017/18

Here the definition ‘Primary Fire Injury’ is an injury that was fire related where the victim
was conveyed to hospital as a result. The figures do not include first aid or precautionary
checks given at the scene.
During Q4 2018/19 17 injuries were recorded, this is 15% or 3 less than for the same
period last year.
Hertfordshire was ranked 16 out of the 18 (1 being the best) participating comparator
authorities within the Family Group 2017/18 (see p39).

4.1.2 Primary Fires (quarterly) (CPT1)

G
326

Performance
(Good to be low)

Data





NL

Performance has decreased
from 317 Q4 2017/18

The number of primary fires (a fire which involves property e.g. buildings, crops,
equipment etc.) attended increased by 2.8% or nine fires up from 317 in Q4 17/18 to 326
Q4 18/19.
Hertfordshire was ranked seven out of the 18 (1 being the best) participating comparator
authorities within the Family Group 2017/18 (see p39).

18

Agenda Pack Page 54

4.1.3 Secondary Fires (quarterly) (CPT2)

G

`

222

Performance
(Good to be low)

Data





NL

Performance has decreased
from 171 Q4 2017/18

The number of secondary fires attended (a fire of no discernible value or ownership i.e.
scrubland, grassland, rubbish etc.) increased by 51 fires or 29.8% from 171 in Q4 2017/18
to 222 in Q4 2018/19. This rise is mainly due to the following factors:
- a spate of arson attacks in North Herts where Police have identified and arrested
the perpetrator.
- Gang activity in Stevenage where fires were being started as part of game play
(point scoring system). Police intelligence indicates the gang has now disbanded.
- Lastly, fly tipping incidents in Stevenage are now being investigated more quickly
as these were often a target for arson and resulting in more secondary fires.
District volunteers have also been carrying out an increased amount of arson patrols and
passing this information onto councils.

4.1.4 Number of Deliberate Fires (rate per 10,000 population) (CP4)
No
Target

2.13
Rate

Performance
(Good to be low)

Data





NL

Performance has decreased
from 1.58 Q4 2017/18

Deliberate fires have increased by 0.55 fires per 10,000 of the population from 1.58 fires in
Q4 2017/18 to 2.13 fires per 10,000 of the population in Q4 2018/19.
The rise in numbers has been attributed to the following:
- North Herts and Stevenage – this is directly correlated to the increase in secondary
fires (see details above).
- Dacorum and St Albans - a combination of factors here including recording issues
where incidents such as out of control bonfires where mistakenly recorded and a
persistent area for deliberate fires (garage block) where preventative measure have
since been taken.
Hertfordshire was ranked 10 out of the 18 (1 being the best) participating comparator
authorities within the Family Group 2017/18 (see p39).

19

Agenda Pack Page 55

4.1.5 Percentage of Attendance Standards (all property fires) all pumps (CP3)

G
90.1%

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





NL

Performance has improved from
88.9% last quarter

At the end of Q4 2018/19 the first appliance to a property fire met the attendance
standard on 90.1% of all occasions over the previous 3 months. This is a 1.2% increase on
the previous quarter and a 2.6% increase on the same period last year. The target of 90%
was exceeded for the first time since Q2 in 16/17.
At the end of Q4 2018/19 the second appliance to a property fire met the attendance
standard on 84.4% of all occasions over the previous 3 months. This is a 0.6% decrease
from the previous quarter which was recorded at 85% and the target of 90% was not met.
At the end of Q4 2018/19 the third appliance to a property fire met the attendance
standard on 86.5% of all occasions over the previous three months. This is an increase of
0.9% from the previous quarter which was recorded at 85.6% and the target of 90% was
not met.
On occasion the nearest available appliances to an incident are too far away to meet the
Service's attendance standards. For Q4 2018/19 in cases where the mobilising system
estimated that an appliance would arrive within the standards and it did not the most
common reasons provided by the crews for delay were heavy traffic and the location of
the incident changing en-route.

4.1.6 Number of false alarms caused by automatic fire alarms attended by
Hertfordshire Fire and Rescue Service (HFRS) (CPT3)

G
576

Performance
(Good to be low)

Data





L

Performance has improved from
674 last quarter

The number of false alarms attended, caused by Automatic Fire Alarms, decreased by
7.2% or 45 from 621 in Q4 2017/18 to 576 in Q4 2018/19.
Hertfordshire was ranked nine out of the 18 (1 being the best) participating comparator
authorities within the Family Group 2017/18 (see p39).

20

Agenda Pack Page 56

4.1.7 Number of road traffic collisions attended by Hertfordshire Fire and Rescue
Service (HFRS) (CPT4)
No
Target

156

Performance
(Good to be low)

Data





NL

Performance has improved from
157 last quarter

The Fire and Rescue Service continues to be called out to rescue significantly more people
from Road Traffic Collisions (RTCs) than from fires and around ten times more people are
killed on Hertfordshire’s roads than in fires.
The number of RTCs attended by the Service in Q4 2018/19 has decreased by one from
157 to 156 when compared to Q3 2018/19. However, there is a 38.1% (43) increase in
RTCs when compared to the same quarter last year, up from 113 in Q4 2017/18 to 156.
Analysis of RTCs has not yielded a pattern or location to specifically focus efforts in order
to influence a reduction although it is worth noting that segments of the strategic road
network including the A41,M1/M25 and A1M motorways pass through a number of
districts which all have seen a rise in RTCs. Reduction strategies continue to be delivered
locally including: liaising with DVLA and new drivers; road awareness sessions during all
youth engagement activities and the county-wide Driving Home for Christmas campaign.
Hertfordshire was ranked five out of the 18 (1 being the best) participating comparator
authorities within the Family Group 2017/18 (see p39).

4.1.8 Number of Volunteer Hours (CP13)

1,540

Performance has declined from
1,746 last quarter

Volunteering opportunities over the period have resulted in 1,540 hours of contribution to
the Community Protection Department’s work which is slightly below the target of 1,600.
A new intake of volunteers have joined the scheme during the quarter and are already
active and it is anticipated that volunteer hours will increase significantly throughout the
latter part of spring and the summer months, as in previous years.

21

Agenda Pack Page 57

4.1.9 Number of Safe & Well Initiative Visits (CP14)
No
Target

1,122

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





L

Performance has improved from
1,109 last quarter

This quarter has seen a 1.2% (13) increase in the number of Safe and Well visits
undertaken by the Fire and Rescue Service.

4.1.10 Protection Team – Risk Based Inspections (HFRS) (CP16)
No
Target

60

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





L

Performance has improved from
59 last quarter

Fire Protection officers continue to assist crews with ORIM (Operational Risk Information
Management) which involves joint visits with crews on more complex buildings to gather
site specific risk information. There was a 1.7% (1) increase in the number of Fire
Protection Risk Based Inspections (RBIPs) closed in Q4 (60) compared to Q3 (59).

4.1.11 Household Waste Recycled and Composted (ENV8)

50.9%

Performance has decreased
from 52.2% in 2016-17

Final outturn figures for the countywide recycling rate (all Waste Collection Authority and
Household Waste Recycling Centre waste) reduced in 2017/18 to 50.9% from 52.2% in the
previous year. Both dry recycling and composting have seen a decline, whilst residual
waste has increased. Despite this decline in performance the rate still remains above the
target of 50% and above both the Eastern region (49.0%) and England (43.2%) averages.
Updated data for 2018/19 should be available in July (Q2).

22

Agenda Pack Page 58

4.2 Projects, Contracts & Risks
Type/ID &
RAG

Project
CPP2
Red

Description/Aim

Reason

Joint Command Project

The status of the project has remained Red in Q4
and work continues with CAPITA representatives
to resolve outstanding software issues and to
develop contingency plans in case the system
does not completely fulfil requirements.
Updates this quarter include:
 Work continues to ensure that Vision 4
software is sufficiently stabile to minimise
service breakdowns.
 Work ongoing to minimise the impacts of
system patches /upgrades. A team of
technicians are now located on site to assist
with issues arising as and when they occur.
 Release 4.27 of the software implemented in
January 2019.
 Work on the implementation of the Integrated
Communication Control System (ICCS) is well
underway and nearing completion..
Continued monitoring will ensure that the project
remains on track and within the revised and
agreed timescales.
At this stage in the programme a number of risks
have been reduced due to the control measures
in place. However, overall the status remains as
red due to the high profile nature and high value
of the programme.

Project
ENVP4
Red
Stable

Hertfordshire Residual
Waste Treatment
Programme

Under the contract with Veolia (VES) a planning
application for an Energy Recovery Facility (ERF)
at Rye House, Hoddesdon was submitted in
December 2016. Notification was received on 1st
February 2018 that the Secretary of State had
called in the planning application.
Following a public inquiry, concluding in August
2018, the planning inspector submitted her
report to the Secretary of State for determination
on the 4th February 2019. The Secretary of State
shall issue his decision on or before 7th May
2019. On the 14th February 2019 the
23

Agenda Pack Page 59

Environment Agency granted an operating permit
for Rye House ERF.
Contracts
Risk
Audit

5

There are no additional updates on contracts
All corporate risks, including any red risks relating to this Portfolio, can be
viewed through the electronic dashboard. There have been no significant
movements in the last quarter
No high priority recommendations were made or 'limited' or 'no' assurance
Internal Audit opinions issued for this area in the last quarter

Growth, Infrastructure, Planning & the Economy

5.1 Service Performance
5.1.1 Percentage of decisions for major county matter planning applications
(ENV10)

G
75%

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





NL

Performance has decreased
from 100% last quarter

For the last quarter the performance was 75% or 3 out of 4. Two applications were
determined within the statutory period, and one within an agreed extension of time to
allow the submission of additional information to address concerns from statutory
consultees. The application which was not determined within the statutory period of time
was a refusal of permission, and the applicant refused to agree an extension of time. An
extension of time can only be made bilaterally and due to the comparatively small number
of applications, the lack of an agreement to an extension of time can have a significant
impact on performance figures.

5.1.2 Percentage of bus stops with comprehensive and up to date information
(ENV31)

G
91.4%

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





NL

Performance has improved from
91.3 last quarter

Performance remains high and above target. In general, the aim is to display timetables at
all stops, but at some stops local constraints and the design of posts/columns can prevent
the installation of the infrastructure that would allow this to be achieved. For passengers
24

Agenda Pack Page 60

with smart-phones or other devices the Intalink App and website provide an alternative
method to accessing timetable information.

5.1.3 Percentage of new developments within 30 minutes by public transport of
key services (ENV59)

G
93.59%

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





L

Performance has decreased from
94.41% 2016/17

The percentage of new developments within 30 minutes by public transport of key
services has seen a slight decrease to 93.59% in 2017/18 from 94.41% in 2016/17.
However, performance remains above the target of 90%.
This indicator is reported a year in arrears

5.1.4 Percentage of consultations completed within 21 days and those with an
agreed extension (EN93a)
No
Target

97.4.%

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





NL

Performance has improved from
94.1% last quarter

Environmental Resource Planning operates three technical support functions, Historic
Environment, Ecology and Landscape as part of shared services for the Hertfordshire Local
Planning Authorities (LPAs) and one technical support function, Sustainable Drainage
Systems (SuDS), as a statutory consultee. When these functions are consulted upon, a
response is required within 21 days.
Overall numbers of consultations are up by 3.3% in Q4 when compared to the previous
quarter.
Note – this indicator is reported a quarter in arrears

5.1.5 Percentage of Overall Employment Rate (working age 16-64) (ENV14)

G
78.1%

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





NL

Performance has decreased
from 79.4% last quarter

Latest data for the overall employment rate for Hertfordshire shows that it decreased by
1.3 percentage points when compared to the previous four rolling quarters of data
25

Agenda Pack Page 61

(79.4%). However, it remains above target (75.3%) and above both the rate for the South
East (78%) and National employment rate (75%).
Please note that the data is shown one quarter in arrears.

5.1.6 Proportion of population qualified to Level 2 or higher (%) (ENV16)

G
78.5%

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





NL

Performance has decreased
from 79.5% last quarter

Although performance has decreased slightly this quarter and is below target (79%)
Hertfordshire continues to perform well in delivering NVQ level 2 skills , building a 2.1
percentage point difference with the rest of the South East and 3.4% percentage point gap
with the rest of England. This means that over 560,000 of Hertfordshire's working age
adults had attained NVQ qualifications at level 2 in 2015; in the last three years an
average of 4,000 additional people qualified to level 2 have been added to the workforce.

5.1.7 Proportion of population qualified to Level 4 or higher (%) (ENV17)

G
42.4%

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





NL

Performance has decreased
from 42.8% last quarter

Despite a slight dip in the proportion of residents educated to degree level in 2015,
Hertfordshire continues to maintain a good performance relative to England (39.0%) and
the South East (42.2%) and performance is above target (42%). However, there is
significant variability between districts in places like St Albans where over half the resident
population have degree and degree level qualifications and places like Stevenage which
have rates much closer to the national average.
The Hertfordshire Skills Strategy is a joint strategy between Hertfordshire County Council
(HCC), the Hertfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) and the Department for Work
and Pensions (DWP) and has as a key focus ‘skills for growth’ and encouraging investment
in higher skills by local firms.

26

Agenda Pack Page 62

5.1.8 Percentage of ALL Young People who are Not in Education, Employment or
Training (NEET) (CS156)
No
Target

2.58%

Performance

Data





NL
n/a

Performance has declined from
2.56% last quarter

The overall NEET rate in Q4 was 2.58%. This is an increase of 0.02 since Q3 but a decrease
of 0.09 percentage points from the same period 12 months ago (2.67%). Of the 636 young
people in the NEET group, 493 were available and 143 unavailable.
Comparative data from the Department for Education (DfE) for the period to March 2019
records the “lost contact” rate i.e. those young people whose activity is not known and the
NEET rate. At that time Hertfordshire’s lost contact rate was 1.04% (March 18 - 0.91%) and
NEET rate was 2.58% (March 18 – 93.26%). The combined total of 3.6 compares to a
national average of 5.1%.
YC Hertfordshire teams will continue to target this cohort to move them into education or
employment with training. YC Hertfordshire is working with providers of programmes such
as Herts Youth Futures to ensure that their offers are known to all services and young
people who are NEET.

Projects, Contracts & Risks
Type/ID &
RAG
Project
Contract
Risk
Audit

Description/Aim

Reason

There are no additional updates on projects
There are no additional updates on contracts
All corporate risks, including any red risks relating to this Portfolio, can be
viewed through the electronic dashboard. There have been no significant
movements in the last quarter.
No high priority recommendations were made or 'limited' or 'no' assurance
Internal Audit opinions issued for this area in the last quarter

27

Agenda Pack Page 63

6

Highways and the Environment

6.1 Service Performance
6.1.1 The percentage of newly registered walkers identifying that they are living
with 1 or more long-term conditions (ENV74)

G
38.6%

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





L

Performance has stayed the
same since last quarter

In Q4, 38.6% of newly registered walkers identified as living with one or more long-term
health conditions. This is the same last quarter and 6.6% above the target (32%). These
health conditions include diabetes, heart disease, high blood pressure and also mild to
moderate mental health conditions. Research has shown that increased physical activity
offered by activities such as Health Walks, could help an individual to manage these
conditions.

6.1.2 The percentage of new walkers that are inactive at signup (Herts Health
Walks) (ENV75)

R
21.2%

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





L

Performance has decreased
from 31.7% last quarter

In Q4, 21.2% of walkers identified themselves as inactive at sign up. This is below last
quarter and 8.8% below the target (30%) and reflects the fact that there is lower
participation in the winter months. Measuring the number of inactive signups allows for
the measurement of targeted promotions and partnership working. It also allows for the
setting of yearly targets. Participating in health walks results in the greatest health and
wellbeing outcomes for those whose activity levels were between 0-30 minutes per week
at sign up.

28

Agenda Pack Page 64

6.1.3 Integrated Transport Control Centre (ITCC) Percentage of Network
Interventions (ENVB1)

G

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





L

Performance has increased from
40.0% last quarter
In Q4, 57.9% of incidents on the network were proactively managed by the Integrated
Transport Control Centre (ITCC), i.e. use of Variable Message Signs (VMS) or CCTV to
identify the issue and inform the travelling public. 121 incidents in total were recorded, of
which 70 were proactively managed as described above, leaving 51 where this was not
possible due to a lack of Intelligent Transport Systems (ITS) nearby.
One important factor which has helped performance improve this quarter is the ability to
implement road closures on satnav thus improving our ability to proactively manage
incidents (emergency road closures) when they occur.

57.9%

6.1.4 Response to public correspondence within 10 days (ENB2)

78.3%

Performance has increased from
71.0% last quarter

Despite there being issues in the first two months of the quarter (staff not being able to
access their emails at the Customer Service Centre and connection issues related to
Outlook migration) there was still an increase in performance for Response to Public
Correspondence within 10 Working Days (78.3% compared with 71.0% in Q3). However,
performance remains below the target (90%) and work continues to bring it up to target
level.
4,412 of 5,635 items of correspondence met the 10 day response target.

29

Agenda Pack Page 65

6.1.5 Percentage of schemes delivered against the Integrated Works Programme
(ENVB3)
No
Target

57%

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





L

Performance has increased from
55% last quarter

This indicator measures the percentage of schemes expected to have been delivered by
that stage of the year. These figures reflect the way schemes are planned in a window at
the beginning of the year; therefore can show that more schemes have been completed
than planned even though this is not really the case.
Overall programme reliability is above last quarter (57% compared to 55% in Q3) but
remains below target (90%). This is due to significant amount of re-planning required
following the additional Highway Maintenance funding for 18/19 and some design dates
being revised in the Bridges and Drainage programme.

6.1.6 Street lighting defects rectified within the prescribed response times
(ENVB4)

99.9%

Performance has increased from
99.8% last quarter

Performance for street lighting defects is measured from 20 working days from receipt of
a street lighting fault to start of the job and monitoring takes place to ensure not all jobs
are being left until near the deadline. It should also be noted that a proportion of street
lighting faults turn out to be UK Power Network issues meaning they ultimately fall outside
of the scope for this indicator.
Response to publicly reported street lighting faults on non-A, B and C roads still remains
above target into the fourth quarter of 18/19. This has been scoring at or very near 100%
consistently throughout 17/18 and into 18/19. This reflects the overall health of the street
lighting service, with the percentage of street lights working on A, B and C roads (picked
up via continuous inspection) showing similarly consistent results.

30

Agenda Pack Page 66

6.1.7 Response to emergency (ENVB5)

G
96.8%

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





L

Performance has declined from
98.8% last quarter

Response to emergency has decreased slightly in Q4 to an average of 96.8% and is still
slightly below target (100%). However, performance showed positive increases in March
so Q1 is more positive to be on target.
The service is constantly monitoring the level of risk associated with the small number of
jobs that fall outside the target attendance time.

6.1.8 Response to Cat 1 (ENVB6)

G
99.9%

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





L

Performance has increased from
99.7% last quarter

Response to Category 1 defects to time (24 hours, 5 or 20 working days depending on the
severity of the defect) has been consistently at or above its target level of 98% and
continues to be so in Quarter 4 of 18/19.

6.2 Projects, Contracts & Risks
Type/ID &
RAG
Project
Contract
Ringway
Risk
Audit

Description/Aim

Reason

There are no additional updates on projects
Ringway’s overall performance score in Q4 was 95.5% which is a 1.1%
decrease from the previous quarter. However, performance remains strong
and this is still well above the minimum performance requirements of 75%
All corporate risks, including any red risks relating to this Portfolio, can be
viewed through the electronic dashboard. There have been no significant
movements in the last quarter
No high priority recommendations were made or 'limited' or 'no' assurance
Internal Audit opinions issued for this area in the last quarter

31

Agenda Pack Page 67

7

Education, Libraries & Localism

7.1 Service Performance
7.1.1 Percentage of Ofsted judgements – rated good and outstanding (all schools)
(CS17)
No
Target

88.5%

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





Performance has improved from
88.3% last quarter

The proportion of good or outstanding schools in Hertfordshire, as judged by Ofsted,
continues to show an improving trend since autumn 2013. The published data shows
Hertfordshire's percentage at the end of February 2019 to be 88.5% of good or
outstanding schools in the authority.

7.1.2 Percentage of Hertfordshire children not allocated a ranked school (Primary)
(CS22)
No
Target

2.68%

Performance
(Good to be low)

Data





L

Performance has improved from
3.13% in 2018

Although the number of applications has remained stable with only 63 more applications
than last year the percentage of pupils not allocated a ranked school has continued to
drop and is now less than 3%, and only 2.28% for those that applied on time.
The number of children applying for a place in a Hertfordshire primary school was 14,940.
13,992 Hertfordshire children(97.29% ) have been allocated a ranked primary school. 86%
of children were allocated their first ranked school which is the same as last year.

7.1.3 Percentage of Hertfordshire children not allocated a ranked school
(Secondary) (CS23)
No
Target

6.92%

Performance

Data





NL
n/a

Performance has decreased
from 5.48% last year
32

Agenda Pack Page 68

Almost 93% of families were offered a ranked school, with just over 75% being offered
their first rank. These figures are slightly lower than last year (94.42% and 78%) but there
was again an increase in the cohort size of 539 applicants from Hertfordshire. (14,714 in
2019 compared with 14,175 in 2018).

7.1.4 Number of Library Visits (Online/Virtual) (RP127)
No
Target

595k

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





L

Performance has improved from
546k last quarter

Virtual visits are 3% above target in Quarter 4. The target is to increase the total virtual
and physical visits to libraries by 1.8%. In comparison to Q4 2017/18, visits have increased
by 2.8%.

7.2 Projects, Contracts & Risks
Type/ID &
RAG

Description/Aim

Project
RPP3a
Green

Schools Expansion –
Primary (PEP)

Project
RPP15
Green

Hertfordshire Localism

Project
RPP3b
Amber
Stable

Project
CSP5

Schools Expansion –
Secondary (SEC)

Reason
PEP7 complete.
PEP8 programme approved by Cabinet in
February 2018. Consultation complete. Outcome
of consultation approved by Cabinet in April
2018. Statutory notices published and final
decision to be taken
The 2018/19 locality budget scheme has now
closed with 100% of the £780,000 funds available
allocated. The Annual Report to Cabinet Panel is
currently being prepared. The 2019/20 scheme
will open in June.
Initial work is currently being undertaken to
explore the possibility of commissioning a
crowdfunding platform for the county.
SEC1 places available on time.
SEC2 proposals on schedule: all approved by
Cabinet and funding agreements completed.
SEC3 approved by Cabinet in February 2018 as
planned. Funding agreements in place.
SEC4 programme needs and options being
identified.

Achievement Levels of  The Statistical First Release (SFR) was published
Children Looked After
on the 11th April 2019 by the DfE and confirmed
33

Agenda Pack Page 69

Amber
Stable

Risk
Audit

(CLA)

the educational outcomes for CLA in 2017-18.
 The data within the report indicates that
outcomes for Virtual School student attainment
exceeded National, Eastern Region, Statistical
Neighbours for both Key Stage 4 achieving grade
4-9 in English and Maths ( 21% Hertfordshire;
National 18%) and Key Stage 2 Achieving Age
Related Expectations (ARE) in Reading (62%
Hertfordshire, 51% National), Writing, (57%
Hertfordshire, 49% National) Maths, (52%
Hertfordshire, 47% National),Grammar
Punctuation & Spelling (55% Hertfordshire, 50%
National) and Reading, Writing and Maths ( 40%
Hertfordshire, 35% National) combined.
 Progress measures for these end of Key Stage
results indicates a rising trend in KS4 (against a
falling trend for Eastern Region and National).

 For Key stage 2, the progress trend is steady with
a slight fall in Maths for this cohort, which is
contrast to National, Eastern Region and
Statistical neighbours who have made small gains.

To ensure that we are capturing the impact of
Pupil Premium Plus, a Pupil Premium Awards has
been launched to all schools. These are called the
BU2Z Awards – Bringing Underachievement 2
Zero. Awards will be made at the annual
Designated Teacher Conference in October. The
judging panel will be volunteers from the Virtual
School Governing Body.
All corporate risks, including any red risks relating to this Portfolio, can be
viewed through the electronic dashboard. There have been no significant
movements in the last quarter.
No high priority recommendations were made or 'limited' or 'no' assurance
Internal Audit opinions issued for this area in the last quarter

34

Agenda Pack Page 70

8

Resources & Performance

8.1 Service Performance
8.1.1 HR Paybill (RP30 and RP134)
No
Target

£244m

Performance

Data





NL
n/a

Performance has decreased from
£241m last quarter

(Total)

£172m
(Basic)

Performance has decreased from
£170m last quarter

The rolling annual total pay bill (excluding agency spend) has increased by £3m from
£241.0m in Q3 (year to November 2018) to £244.0m (year to February 2019). This
represents a 1.2% increase (the increase from Q2 to Q3 was 1.1%).
The rolling annual basic pay bill for HCC has also increased by 1.1% from £170.4m in Q3
(year to November 2018) to £172.3m in Q4. This is due to planned pay increases for a
range of staff including centrally employed Teachers, Fire & Rescue staff, Herts Music
Service staff and those on Soulbury and Youth terms and conditions paid in November.
Also, following the lifting of a recruitment freeze in Adult Care Services, additional
permanent qualified staff have been recruited which has increased their basic pay bill.
The increase in total pay bill is due to employer on costs rising as a result of basic pay and
additional market forces payments for staff across Children’s Services.
In Q1 2019/20, the total pay bill will include annual pay increases for NJC and NHS staff
along with other scheduled market forces payments for April.

8.1.2 Agency Spend (£) (RP13)
No
Target

£11.7m
Spend

4.6%
Of paybill

Performance

Data





NL
n/a

Performance has decreased from
£11,15m last quarter
Performance has decreased from
4.4% last quarter
35

Agenda Pack Page 71

The 12 month rolling agency spend has increased from £11.15m in Q3 to £11.73m in Q4.
This is the third consecutive quarterly increase following steady downward trend since Q2
in 2015-16. The agency spend as a percentage of the total pay bill has also increased from
4.4% to 4.6%. The majority of the £584,193 increase was in Adult Care Services (ACS)
(+£346,721), Children’s Services (+£153,397) and Resources (+£96,096).

8.1.3 Headcount (RP15 & RP16)

No
Target

7,974

Performance
(Good to be low)

Data





N
L

Performance has decreased from
7,969 last quarter

Headcount

6,310
EWT

Performance has decreased from
6,259 last quarter

Average headcount has remained steady, increasing by just 5 heads from 7,969 in Q3 to
7,974 in Q4 (a 0.06% increase).
Average Equivalent Whole Time (EWT) has increased by 51 from 6,259 in Q3 to 6,310 in
Q4 (a 0.8% increase).
These small variations reflect stable levels of staffing.

8.1.4 Percentage of Voluntary Turnover (RP24)

G
12.9%

Performance
(Good to be low)

Data





L

Performance has improved from
13.4% last quarter

Voluntary turnover has decreased from Q3 but has increased slightly over the same time
last year rising from 12.5% in Q4 2017/18 to 12.9% in 2018/19.
Over the same period compulsory turnover has increased from 2.2% to 2.8%. Total
turnover is 15.7% and is in line with public sector turnover levels.

8.1.5 Percentage of Young People-Starters (RP27)

G

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





L

36

Agenda Pack Page 72

23.7%

Performance has improved from
15.6% last quarter

The percentage of starters under 25 years old, based on a rolling year to March 2019, is
19.2%, an increase of 0.7% since March 2018 when it was last reported as 18.5%. There
were 226 new starters aged under 25 in this annual period, out of a total of 1178 new
starters.
Services with the largest proportion of under 25 starters in the year to March 2019 are:
Children’s Services (27.1%, 118 starters); Libraries & Heritage Services (23.1%, 12 starters)
and Resources (21.9%, 33 starters).
The percentage of starters under 25 remains above the target of 15%.
This indicator is reported on an annual basis, in Quarter 4.

8.1.6 Percentage of Young People - Total Turnover (RP28)

R
43.1%

Performance
(Good to be low)

Data





N
L

Performance has decreased from
25% last quarter

Based on a rolling year to March 2019, turnover has increased by 11.8% from 31.3% to
43.1%. This equates to 178 leavers aged under 25 from a total population of 413.
84 of the 178 leavers left the organisation due to their fixed term contract coming to an
end, the majority of which were working as temporary Youth Support Workers within
Children’s Services to deliver the National Citizen Service (NCS) over the summer period. A
smaller group left Adult Care Services at the end of their apprenticeship programme in
social care. Of the 94 who left voluntarily, the largest group left to enter alternative
employment, others left to enter education, and a small group left for personal reasons.
Whilst 178 under 25s left, a larger number joined the organisation (226).
The largest increase in turnover is located within Children’s Services due to the NCS fixed
term contracts (30.7% to 67.3%). There were reductions in turnover across Community
Protection (22.6% to 14.5%), Adult Care Services (36.8% to 31.7%), Libraries & Heritage
Services (53.3% to 29.5%), Public Health (35.3% to 0%) and Herts Business Services (41.4%
to 0%).
This indicator is reported on an annual basis, in Quarter 4.

8.1.7 Apprenticeship Levy (RP146)

G

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





L

37

Agenda Pack Page 73

£1.59m
Total spend

Performance has improved from
£1.24m last quarter

Since the Apprentice Levy started in April 2017, a total of 247 apprentices have been
enrolled onto a programme (up from 179 in Q3), 178 of which are existing staff and 69 are
new recruits. In addition to these recruited apprentices a further 54 have been identified
as part of forward workforce planning.
The total amount committed to date on apprenticeships since April 2017 is £1,588,622 (up
from £1,244,125 in Q3). In the 2018-19 financial year £1,069,638 was spent, up from
£731,948 in Q3.
As previously reported, new apprentice standards are emerging on a regular basis and this
is expanding the County Council’s ability to identify further apprentice opportunities.

8.1.8 Number of complaints (RP1)
No
Target

323

Performance

Data





NL
n/a

Stage 1 & Stage 2 = 318
Performance decreased from
299 Q3 2018-19

The total number of complaints has increased by 8% from last quarter (299). There is an
increase of 15% from the same period last year (280).
 Requests for Education, Health and Care Plans remain high and pressure on the SEND
team capacity has resulted in increased complaints. Provision and capacity are being
reviewed to address this issue.
 The number of formal stage 1 and 2 complaints, excluding informal cases, has remained
stable with 244 this quarter, 232 last quarter and 246 for the same period last year.
• 5 notifications of investigations were received from the Local Government Ombudsman
(LGO) – 2 in Adult Care Services (ACS), 2 in Children’s Services (CS) and 1 in
Environment & Infrastructure.
8 final decisions of fault were received from LGO – 3 in ACS, 2 in CS and 3 in
Environment & Infrastructure.

8.1.9 Customer Service Centre all contacts – mystery shopping results (RP115)

G

Performance
(Good to be high)

Data





38

Agenda Pack Page 74

87%
Answered
satisfactorily

Performance has improved from
81% last quarter

Performance has increased in Q4 and was 87% (137/158 questions answered satisfactorily). This is
This is 6% above the previous quarter but 3% below the target of 90%.

8.1.10 Customer Service Centre (CSC) all contacts – average waiting time (RP116)

G
18
Seconds

Performance
(Good to be low)

Data





L

Performance has improved from
19 seconds last quarter

CSC average wait time is within target each month. CSC average wait time was less than 20
seconds for January, February and March - this included weather related peaks for
highways, social care peaks in January and secondary school allocation calls in early
March.

8.2 Projects, Contracts & Risks
Type/ID & RAG

Project
RPP5
Amber

Description/Aim

Reason

Superfast Broadband

Progress to date: under Contract 2, the
Superfast Extension Programme has enabled
superfast broadband coverage for 97% of
Hertfordshire premises, however Openreach
continues to have delivery challenges.
Openreach has presented a new Deployment
Plan in which the Implementation Area Total
Homes Passed (IA THP) targets were altered
between Q3 2018/2019 to Q2 2019/2020 to
ensure a more evenly distributed
implementation profile which will enable
recovery back to the original delivery profile
by the end of Q2 2019/2020. The delivery
completion date remains at Q3 19/20.
Performance is being closely monitored and
39

Agenda Pack Page 75

reviewed, however confidence is growing that
Openreach are starting to deliver.

Contract RPC1
Amber

Contract
RPC2
Amber

Contract
RPC4
Green

Shared Managed
Services (SERCO)

Training &
Development
Services (KPMG)

Pensions (London
Pension Fund
Authority)

Future Funding: Confirmation has been
received that the council has been granted
£2.2m DEFRA funding to support delivery of
superfast broadband to rural businesses. A
procurement exercise for this is now
underway.
Where service failures have arisen, the
County Council and Serco continue to identify
and proactively resolve these in such a way as
to minimise the business impact.
No key risks identified at present, however as
the end of the contract approaches (March
2021), contract managers are concerned that
performance may slip. This will be
continuously monitored and action taken
where required.
The contract with KPMG Learning Services
was signed and sealed on the 5th April 2019
following several months of negotiation. The
contract with KPMG LS is for a period of three
years with options to extend annually for a
further three years. KPMG LS were selected
for three key reasons a. the track record they have across the public
sector;
b. the expertly designed learning content;
c. the combination of Learning &
Development experts with industry specialists
to ensure that business requirements are
met.
The London Pension Fund Authority (LPFA)
has entered into a partnership with
Lancashire County Council to form the Local
Pension Partnership Ltd (LPP) for the delivery
of pension administration services as well as
asset pooling. Each party has equal shares in
this company. The LPFA has subcontracted
delivery of services to LPP via this partnership,
permissible under the contract. This new
arrangement will not relieve the LPFA of any
of its obligations or duties under this
40

Agenda Pack Page 76

Risk

arrangement and County Council officers will
monitor service delivery under this new
arrangement. Further support for the fire
service scheme will be provided by the
London Office in the near future.
All corporate risks, including any red risks relating to this Portfolio,
can be viewed through the electronic dashboard. There have been no
significant movements in the last quarter.

41

Agenda Pack Page 77

Key & Notes
1 Indicators - Red, Amber & Green Explanation
No target
specified

2

Projects & Contracts - Red, Amber, Green Explanation

Rating has improved

3

Rating same as last time

National and Local Key Performance Indicators
National Indicator

Local Indicator

N

4

Rating has deteriorated

L

Risks – Additional Information

All corporate risks, including any red risks relating to this report, can be viewed via the dashboard

5

Comparable Authority

To provide a means of benchmarking progress other local authorities (LA’s) are identified where
they are deemed to have similar characteristics. These designated LAs are known as statistical
neighbours (stat neighbours) or comparable authorities.

Agenda Pack Page 78

42

Any LA may compare its performance (as measured by various indicators) against its statistical
neighbours to provide an initial guide as to whether their performance is above or below the level
that might be expected.
The term ‘comparable neighbour average’ (or stat neighbour average) is used when, for that
indicator, the individual totals from LA’s in the group are combined and divided by the number of
LA’s in the group.
The sections below list the comparable authorities used by the various HCC Services/departments.
We continue to review the appropriateness of these comparators.
Please note: Highways do not benchmark with neighbouring authorities for performance, instead
current performance is compared against previous years.

5.1 Adult Care and Health Services
Referred to throughout Section 1
Oxfordshire
Essex
Buckinghamshire
Hampshire
Kent
Cambridgeshire
Surrey
Gloucester
Northamptonshire
West Sussex
Warwickshire
Worcestershire
Staffordshire
Lancashire
Somerset

5.2 Children’s Services & Education
Referred to in Sections 2 and 7
Bracknell Forest
Hampshire
Oxfordshire
Central Bedfordshire
Trafford
Buckinghamshire
Cambridgeshire
West Berkshire
West Sussex
Warwickshire
Hertfordshire

Agenda Pack Page 79

43

5.3 Environment5.4
– Bus Information
Referred to in section 5
Cambridgeshire
Essex
Suffolk
Central Bedfordshire
Bedford

5.5 Public health

5.4 Environment
Referred to in section 6
Authority
Buckinghamshire CC
Cambridgeshire
Essex
Gloucestershire
Hampshire
Kent
Lancashire
Northamptonshire
Nottinghamshire
Oxfordshire
Suffolk
Surrey
Warwickshire
West Sussex
Worcestershire

5.6 Human resources

PHE now use CIPFA comparators. For
Hertfordshire these are the 6 statistically
nearest county councils linked in the IMD
2015
Referred to in Section 3
Oxfordshire
Hampshire
Surrey
West Sussex
Cambridgeshire
Buckinghamshire

Referred to throughout section 8
Buckinghamshire
East Sussex
Essex
Hampshire
Kent
Oxfordshire
Surrey
Wiltshire

Agenda Pack Page 80

44

5.7

Fire & rescue – family group

Family Group comparison data is produced from the Department for Communities and Local
Government: Fire Statistics Monitor: England April 2016 to March 2017 and the CIPFA Fire
and Rescue Service Statistics 2015.
The Family Group is a group of Fire and Rescue Services defined by the Department for
Communities and Local Government (DCLG) for comparison purposes, here Hertfordshire is
compared to the 18 other English Fire and Rescue Services in Family Group 4 (FG4)
Referred to throughout section 4
Avon
Cheshire
Cleveland
Derbyshire
Essex
Hampshire
Hertfordshire
Humberside
Hereford & Worcester
Kent
Lancashire
Leicestershire
Lincolnshire
Northern Ireland
Nottinghamshire
Staffordshire
Surrey
South Wales

Agenda Pack Page 81

45

This page is intentionally left blank

HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Agenda Item No.

RESOURCES AND PERFORMANCE CABINET PANEL
FRIDAY 5 JULY 2019 AT 10:00AM

5

VALUE FOR MONEY REVIEW - CHILDREN LOOKED AFTER
Report of the Director of Children’s Services
Author:

Marion Ingram - Operations Director, Specialist Services
(Tel: 01992 588620)

Executive Member: Teresa Heritage – Children, Families and Young People
1.

Purpose of report

1.1

To give Resources and Performance Cabinet Panel an overview of
the challenges facing the Council in relation to the costs of caring for
our Children Looked After. It also describes action being taken to
mitigate these costs.

1.2

This report forms part of the Panel’s value for money review process,
the purpose of which is to enable service areas to respond to
emerging financial and/or performance issues which the Panel has
identified worthy of more detailed discussion from a value for money
perspective.

2.

Summary

2.1

In recent years, the number of Children Looked After (CLA) in
Hertfordshire has reduced significantly against an increase both
nationally and with statistical neighbours.

2.2

This reduction is a result of the Council undertaking a number of
initiatives including the introduction of the Family Safeguarding Model
and the development of a robust Families First Offer, including
Children’s Centres/Family Centres.

2.3

With the focus of both these offers being families with children aged
under 12, this work has had an impact on the age profile of the
Council’s CLA cohort. Over the last five years the number of CLA in

Agenda Pack Page 83

1

Hertfordshire aged under 10 years has reduced by 157 whilst the
number aged over 10 years has increased by 52.
2.4

The Council has found it more challenging to find internal foster care
placements for these older children and young people, who often
enter care with more complex and acute support needs and therefore
require more specialised support. This has led to a greater reliance
on the use of more costly external placements which are causing a
significant pressure on the Council’s CLA budget.

2.5

This report outlines the challenges the Council is currently facing in
this area alongside benchmarking information on how its costs
compare to those of other similar local authorities. It also informs the
Panel of key measures being undertaken to address this situation.

3.
4.
4.1

Recommendations
The Resources and Performance Cabinet Panel is invited:
a)

To reflect and comment on the reasons behind the growing CLA
cost pressures set out in this report, in particular those outlined
under:
 placements for CLA (p5);
 insufficient placement capacity in Hertfordshire (p10);
 increased number and cost of children in residential care
(pp11-15);
 relatively high cost of placements reflecting the
complexity of need which characterises Hertfordshire’s
CLA population as stabilised (figs 13-18).

b)

To note the activities, actions and strategies being developed to
manage CLA numbers and address cost pressures in the
context of the comparative information presented in the report,
in particular:
 responding to local placement capacity under the
“Residential Strategy” (pp9-10, 17);
 recommendations arising from the external “Review of
Cost Pressures” (p16);
 foster care recruitment under the “Fostering Strategy”
(p18);
 innovation approaches aimed at improving outcomes for
CLA, including “Inside Out” and “Valuing Care” (pp18-19).

Agenda Pack Page 84

2

c)

To consider the extent to which the Service is securing value for
money based on the information set out in this report, with
particular reference to the commentary pertaining to figures 1, 35, 8-18, 20.

d)

To consider what measures, in addition to the current volumetric
measure of CLA presented in the Council’s Performance
Monitor, could usefully be included on a regular or periodic basis
to enable the Panel to assess the extent to which value for
money is being maintained overall and improved in specific
areas.

e)

To determine any areas of service provision highlighted in the
report as benefitting from further investigation and improvement
which might be considered at a later stage with a further paper
to Panel.

4.

Background

4.1

Children come into the care of Hertfordshire County Council when
they are unable to safely live at home with their family. For younger
children this is usually due to abuse or neglect within the family, for
older children it is often because their family is unable to keep them
safe from external influences and exploitation. This is known as
contextual safeguarding and includes Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE)
and Child Criminal Exploitation (including gang and drug related
activity/County Lines).

4.2

At the end of May 2019 Hertfordshire were looking after 943 children
and young people, of whom 102 were unaccompanied asylum
seeking children (UASC). Over the year March 2018 to March 2019
the number increased by 33, six of which related to an increase in
UASC.

4.3

The table below illustrates the change in number of Children Looked
After (CLA) by Hertfordshire County Council against comparator
groups. As can be seen, the number in Hertfordshire has reduced
significantly against an increase nationally and for statistical
th

neighbours. In March 2018 Hertfordshire had the 7 lowest rate per
10,000 (0-18 population)

Agenda Pack Page 85

3

Figure 1

4.4

The number of CLA has reduced due to a number of initiatives
including the introduction of the Family Safeguarding Model and the
development of a robust Families First Offer, including Children’s
Centres/Family Centres. The focus of both these offers has been
families with children aged under 12 years and Figure 2, below,
illustrates the impact this has had on the age profile of our CLA in
Hertfordshire. Over the last 5 years the number of CLA aged under 10
years has reduced by 157 whilst the number aged over 10 years has
increased by 52.
Figure 2

Agenda Pack Page 86

4

4.5

Figure 3 illustrates the difference between Hertfordshire’s CLA
population and the national percentage split. 75% of CLA in
Hertfordshire are aged 10 – 17 years compared with 62% nationally.
Figure 3

5.

Placements for CLA

5.1

When a child comes into the care of the local authority there is a clear
hierarchy of placement choice in terms of both desirability and cost. It
is important for a child to remain connected and wherever possible
s/he will be placed with a member of the extended family in a
‘connected persons’ foster placement. If there are no family members
available or assessed as suitable, efforts will be made to identify a
foster carer living within the child’s local community, enabling
relationships and school placements to be sustained. Preference is
given to placing with Hertfordshire foster carers since they have been
trained and supported by the local authority and there is enhanced
‘access’ in terms of quality assuring the care provided. If a Council
foster placement is not available the independent fostering market will
be approached.

5.2

There is a small group of children for whom a foster placement would
not be appropriate and a further group of CLA where a foster
placement cannot be found, usually due to behaviours that challenge
including self harming behaviours and sexually harmful behaviours. In
such cases a residential children’s home is sought. Again, Council
children’s homes are usually the first choice however, where
specialist support is required or where there are no beds, an
independent provider may be approached. Other provision that may

Agenda Pack Page 87

5

be identified to meet the needs of the child include secure welfare
provision, unregulated semi-independent provision and, exceptionally,
unregistered provision.
5.3

The average CLA placements costs, as at May 2019 are detailed in
Figure 4 below.
Figure 4
Placement Type

Provider

Foster Care

In House (Council)

383

Independent

969

Residential Children’s Home

5.4

£ per week

In House (Council)

2901

Independent

4608

As the age profile has changed, so has the placement profile. It is
more challenging to find foster care placements for older children and
young people since carers are less able to contain/live with the
challenging and risk taking behaviours many of the young people
exhibit as a response to trauma they have experienced prior to
becoming looked after. The challenge of finding a foster placement
has been exacerbated both by the recent increase in risk associated
with contextual safeguarding, some of which is perceived to be the
‘London effect’, and the apparent saturation of the foster care market
due to the national increase in CLA. The State of the Nation’s Foster
Care Report 2019, produced by the Fostering Network, reports that
48% of carers say they are supporting a child with mental health
needs who is not accessing specialised support and 50% say that,
over the last 24 months, they have looked after a child who has either
caused violence in their home, self-harmed, gone missing from home
or been involved with the police.

Agenda Pack Page 88

6

5.5

Figure 5, below, illustrates how the placement profile in Hertfordshire
has changed over time.
Figure 5

5.6

Of most significance is the increase in the number of children and
young people in Children’s Homes (an increase from 10 to 16% of the
CLA population). As at February 2018 there were 68 children in
independent children’s homes. Six were in solo homes. The average
distance from home was 116 miles and the average unit cost per
week £4,608. This is an increase in unit cost of over £500 in the last
six months which is largely due to the increase in additional support
required by the placement to look after the children (2-1’s and waking
nights and high placement costs for children in solo provision). 60% of
young people in independent children’s homes are male and 65% are
aged 14 years and over.

5.7

During the year 2018/19 there were six children for whom, following a
previous placement breakdown, it was impossible to find a placement
due to the behaviours exhibited. In such instances over 200 providers
were approached and none was able to offer a placement, often due
to ‘matching’ with other children already placed. The final result was
the establishment of an ‘unregistered’ care arrangement in
partnership with an independent care agency. Such packages of care
have cost between £16,000 and £28,000 per week. Case studies of
two such children are attached at Appendix A.

Agenda Pack Page 89

7

6.

Placement Capacity in Hertfordshire

6.1

As noted above, wherever possible children are placed close to their
home address in order that they are able to maintain important
relationships. Exceptionally, children are placed at a distance, usually
for safeguarding reasons, including where young people are involved
in exploitative relationships. Keeping a child local is dependent on the
sufficiency of placements, either foster placements or children’s
homes.

6.2

Figure 6 illustrates the gradual reduction in the number of Council
foster placements. This is partly a result of young people ‘Staying Put’
after their 18 th birthday but is also a consequence of a higher rate of
deregistration of carers than approval of new carers as demonstrated
by Figure 7.

Figure 6

Agenda Pack Page 90

8

Figure 7

6.3

In Hertfordshire, as nationally, foster carers are an ageing population
and each year a number retire as the child/ren in placement reach
adulthood. The Department for Education evidence review, ‘Foster
Care in England’, published in February 2018, and the more recent
Education Select Committee report highlighted that the recruitment
and retention of enough, high quality foster carers remains one of the
biggest issues in fostering. A recent Innovation Project being
conducted in partnership with Credo Care, a specialist fostering
agency was recently set aside due to the difficulty in recruiting foster
carers in or near Hertfordshire. The feedback was that the Council
had saturated the market.

6.4

Recognising the need for a ‘mixed economy’ of foster carers, Council
children’s commissioners have established a framework agreement
which seven independent fostering agencies have signed up to.
Contact with these agencies is regular and positive however, to date,
call off is limited since they have struggled to provide carers to match
identified needs. Commissioners are currently working with these
providers to attempt to match a small group of identified children who
will be looking to move from their current placement over the coming
months.

6.5

The Council provides four children’s homes, one offering six beds for
disabled children and young people, the remaining three providing
five beds each for young people aged 12 to 18 years. Of the 20
children placed at the end of March 2019, there were gang and drug
associations with four of the children, seven of the children had an
Education, Health and Care Plan, there were CSE concerns in

Agenda Pack Page 91

9

relation to five young people and three exhibited harmful sexual
behaviours.
6.6

As is evident from the data above, this does not meet the demand for
residential beds and commissioners attempted to establish a
framework agreement similar to the fostering framework. No providers
were prepared to sign up to the framework.

6.7

The Council currently block commissions five beds as part of a Cross
Regional Project (increasing to 6 from August 2019) and a solo
provision with St Christophers Fellowship, a voluntary sector provider.
A recent tender has also resulted in MacIntyre opening a 4 bed
residential home for children with autism and behaviour that
challenges in Council premises. Commissioners are currently in the
process of block commissioning 4 beds in partnership with Luton
Borough Council and two beds within a 4 bed home just over the
Hertfordshire border with trauma/mental health problems and/or at
risk of CSE. A recent capital funding agreement will support the
development of a solo, short term, emergency bed at Hudnall Park in
a council owned building on the site of the outdoor centre located in
Berkhamsted. Two beds in an independent children’s home in
Hertfordshire are spot purchased on an ongoing basis. Providers
attending a recent Pre Procurement Market Engagement Event
expressed the desire for a mix of Block purchase and Framework
Agreement, in order to entice them to tender for services. They also
stated that more solo 1:1 High Needs placements are required under
a Framework Agreement for specialist support.

6.8

These arrangements go some way towards keeping CLA in
Hertfordshire. However, Figure 8, below, illustrates the national
measure of the number of CLA living outside Hertfordshire and more
than 20 miles from their home. The Council performs better than
regional and statistical neighbours but below the national average. As
at March 2019 23.6% (207) of our CLA were out of County, in some
cases less than 20 miles from their home, and 297 were living 20
miles or more from home, in some cases within Hertfordshire.

Agenda Pack Page 92

10

Figure 8

6.9

Of those living outside Hertfordshire in March 2018 66% were in
foster placements, 24% were in residential or semi-independent
placements and the remaining 10% were either living independently
or placed for adoption. 50% were placed in neighbouring authorities
including 37 in Essex, 37 in Luton, 21 in Central Bedfordshire, 21 in
neighbouring London authorities and 20 in Buckinghamshire.

7.

Financial Pressures

7.1

The increase in the number of children in residential care is causing a
significant pressure on the CLA budget as illustrated in Figure 9
below.

Figure 9

Year

CLA
Budget

CLA
Outturn /
Forecast

Variance
(£)

Variance
(%)

2018/19

44,521,000

48,770,000

4,249,000

10

2019/20

46,722,000

50,055,000

3,333,000

7

7.2

At an average unit cost of £4608 per week, one child in a residential
bed for a year represents a cost of £239,616 per year.

7.3

The increased percentage of children in residential care in
Hertfordshire also increases the spend per head as illustrated in

Agenda Pack Page 93

11

Figure 10, below. This graph excludes UASC since this group of
children are grant funded and the grant now covers costs.
Figure 10

7.4

Financial pressures due to both the rising number of CLA nationally
and the increasing costs of care are not isolated to Hertfordshire as
illustrated by the quotation below taken from the Guardian
‘newspaper’ January 2019, and the benchmarking data at Figure 12.
Figure 11

Agenda Pack Page 94

12

Figure 12

7.5

The following quotations are samples taken from this benchmarking
exercise:
 East Sussex: “the increased spend (£3.645m or 5.3%) in LookedAfter Children (LAC) is because there continues to be significant
pressure on agency placements for children with complex needs”.
 Cambridgeshire: “the key reasons for the overspend (£4.084m or
3.6%) in this area is the continuing higher-than-budgeted number
of LAC placements and the increasing number of children placed in
external placements”.
 Oxfordshire: “is forecasting an overspend of £3.5m, of which £2.3m
relates to an increase in demand which, if continues to rise in line
with current trends, would give actual growth for the year of
approximately 17% against the budgeted growth of 6%”.
 West Sussex: “has a projected overspending on placement
budgets of £3.704m. Additional high-cost external residential
placements are partly indicative of market pressures, but also a
gauge of the increasing complexity of cases now being presented
(especially in relation to challenging behaviours within this cohort).”

7.6

Whilst the benchmarking data at Figure 12 does give an overall
indication of financial pressures it cannot be used as a basis for
comparison since the budget variance depends on the size of the
allocated budget.

7.7

Similarly there are challenges when comparing other benchmarking
data, for example the data collected at Figure 13 which ‘compares’
the cost of residential placements. One of the authorities purchasing
beds at what appears to be a significantly cheaper price has advised
that additional costs such as 1:1 care are paid from a separate
budget line, another has said that they exclude contributions from

Agenda Pack Page 95

13

health and Dedicated Schools Grant funding. Both these costs are
included in the Council figures. Officers from Hertfordshire and Essex
County Council have recently agreed to compare actual placement
costs for individual providers to ascertain whether there are
differences.
Figure 13

7.8

Figures 14 and 15 are taken from the CIPFA Children Looked After
Benchmarking Club report. They indicate that placement costs for
children in residential and foster care are higher than average
however the cost per head of population is significantly lower than
average. This fits with the narrative that we have a low number of
children in our care however those that do come in tend on average,
to have more complex needs and therefore require a more costly
placement.

Figure 14

7.9

Figure 15

Figures 16 and 17 illustrate the percentage of children placed with
Council foster carers and the percentage placed with independent
agency carers. Hertfordshire has significantly more than the average
percentage of children placed ‘in house’ and significantly less with
agency carers. The benchmarking data at Figure 18 below indicates
that the Council pays its carers perhaps £30 per week more

Agenda Pack Page 96

14

(assuming there is a like for like comparison) than another local
authorities pay their carers, however this is more than offset by the
£600 per week higher cost of a foster carer from an independent
agency.
Figure 16

Figure 17

Figure 18

7.10

Work in the benchmarking arena, as well as the very significant
financial pressure prompted the commissioning of an independent
review of Looked After Children Cost Pressures carried out by Ameo
Professional Services Ltd.

8.

Looked After Children, Review of Cost Pressures, April 2019

8.1

Following a period of ‘fieldwork’ the report presented an analysis
based on four broad themes; Anticipating and resourcing demand,
gearing up the wider system, shaping the internal market and shaping
the external market. The review found that Hertfordshire had
successfully reduced and stabilised its number of CLA against the
national trend and that the impact of this was an increased proportion
of teenagers coming into care with complex and acute support needs.
It also noted the well documented evidence regarding the increasing
complexity of the needs of young people. It then described the
challenge of predicting need, responding to crises and finding

Agenda Pack Page 97

15

appropriate placements within a market that is determining cost at
escalating levels.
8.2

The review resulted in seven recommendations as listed below, a
number of which were already in progress at the time of the review.
Recommendation one was determined to be likely to have the biggest
impact on reducing cost pressures.
1) Development of a clear strategic vision, sufficiency strategy and
implementation plan to develop a pathway for children and young
people through the care system. To include:
 A market-shaping strategy for the development of the in-house
and external residential placement market. The second phase
of this work should include confirmation of the position on
alternative delivery models, including timeline and scope for
options appraisal, if required.
 A plan for how the authority and its partners will develop the inhouse fostering offer, with a particular focus on crisis
management arrangements alongside longer-term placement
capacity.
2) Agree a model of budget setting and resource deployment from
2019/20 to be calculated based on a range of data, including
individual profiling of case-level data to inform projected demand.
This work will build on the existing model currently in use.
3) Undertake a rapid review of systems, processes and practices
with the Brokerage Team.
4) Finalise implementation of the co-ordinated support offer for
vulnerable adolescents as a critical element of the in-house offer.
5) Review and streamline project and developmental activity
associated with children and young people’s journeys through the
care system
6) Review and implement changes to minimise transition and handoff points
7) Review options for improving alignment and joint working
arrangements with central business functions (Procurement,
Finance, Property, Legal) to support a more cost-effective and
outcome-focused ‘whole-Council’ approach to placement
sufficiency for children and young people. In scope should be

Agenda Pack Page 98

16

consideration of aligning children’s commissioning with central
procurement functions, including the option of embedding
procurement staff within commissioning teams.
9.

Residential Strategy

9.1

A residential strategy has been developed that meets the medium
and longer term needs of CLA by the Council has been developed
and considered, initially, by Children’s Services Core Board. The
strategy proposes the development of both additional in-house
capacity alongside working with independent providers to create good
quality, local provision for children requiring residential care. The
strategy recognises that some children will always need either
specialist provision or placement at a distance and looks to provide
children’s homes places in or near Hertfordshire for 30 children.

9.2

The Strategy acknowledges the Housing, Communities and Local
Government Committee (HCLGC) report issued on 1st May which also
highlighted the pressure Children’s Services face in meeting current
demands:
‘Constricted funding and ever-increasing demand have left children’s
services in England at breaking point, a report published today by the
Housing, Communities and Local Government Committee has found.
Ahead of the 2019 Spending Review, the report calls for a funding
settlement that reflects the challenges local authorities face in
delivering children’s social care, and recommends a minimum
increase to core grant funding of £3.1 billion up until 2025.’

9.3

Amongst other things the report asks for barriers to creating greater
residential care placement capacity to be investigated and addressed.
The recommendations include:
Reducing the costs of using independent providers
The independent sector constitutes a significant part of the children’s
residential care market, and this comes at a financial cost to local
authorities. There needs to be better commissioning and procurement,
to improve the market for residential care and provide better value for
money.
 The Government should consider the barriers to creating more
residential care placements to increase supply.

Agenda Pack Page 99

17

 There may also be a role for greater regulation of the children’s care
market to ensure that costs do not rise disproportionally and that
there is appropriate competition. The Competition and Markets
Authority should investigate this market.
 A review of the commissioning and procurement system should be
conducted by December 2019. The Government and local
authorities should introduce greater oversight of how different care
placements affect outcomes for children and their value for money.
9.4

Commissioners are currently working with property colleagues to
identify where buildings might be available for refurbishment to deliver
either solo or 4 bed children’s homes since property prices are
currently a deterrent to independent providers.

10.

Fostering Strategy

10.1

Whilst the benchmarking data provided at 18 indicates that foster
carer payments in Hertfordshire are high, research with colleagues in
neighbouring authorities, particularly Essex County Council, indicate
that Council rates have fallen behind, for some age groups as much
as £100 per week. Essex have found that the increased payments
mean a number of foster carers who were fostering for independent
agencies made an application to move across to become carers for
Essex County Council. The fostering service has therefore started
work on a full review of foster carer payments.

10.2

A broader review is to be undertaken and a new foster carer
recruitment and retention strategy will be developed which, alongside
foster carer fees and allowances, will include a review of foster carer
support. It will also consider an expansion of the current specialist
scheme and linking foster carers to children’s homes to enable ‘step
down’ when children are ready. Such schemes are essential in light of
the complex needs of the young people we are currently looking to
place.

10.3

The remainder of the report will cover some of the activities in
children’s services to address the financial pressures and improve
outcomes for the children in the care of the Council:

11.

‘Inside Out’

11.1

Inside Out is a Department for Education funded programme that will
test an innovative new approach to improving outcomes and stability

Agenda Pack Page 100

18

for children aged 15 years and over in residential care in Essex,
Hertfordshire and Norfolk. Through the use of intensive ‘coaching’ the
aim is to enable children to develop a trusting relationship with an
adult who is not connected with their placement. Many children in
residential care have been through a significant number of
placements and have experienced serial relationship and placement
breakdowns. This relationship is intended to stabilise the young
people enabling them to successfully ‘step down’ to a less intensive
care placement or home to a family member wherever appropriate
and possible. Hertfordshire have identified a cohort of children for the
project and they are currently being matched with coaches. The
project, if successful, will reduce the number of children in residential
care over the next 12-18 months.
12.

Review of Child and Adolescent Mental Health Support for CLA

12.1

The two Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs), in partnership with
the local authority, have commissioned a review of the mental health
support available to CLA and their carers. The prevalence of self
harming and other behaviours associated with a lack of emotional
wellbeing is increasing and this is leading to a significant number of
placement breakdowns and a direct increase in the cost of care since
children usually move up the placement continuum following
placement breakdown. Support to both the young people and their
carers needs to be enhanced and funding has been ‘earmarked’ to
deliver the recommendations arising from the review.

13.

Valuing Care

13.1

Valuing Care is an approach developed with IMPOWER Consulting to
quantify the assessed needs of all CLA. The children and young
people’s needs are assessed and scored at the point of admission
using the Hertfordshire Outcomes Framework. Their needs are
scored again at three months and then six monthly thereafter. The
scores are recorded on a ‘radar chart’ as illustrated in Figure 19 and
changes in need can be monitored. The radar chart below illustrates
how a child’s needs have reduced over time. As well as monitoring
individual progress, the model enables a move towards
commissioning for outcomes. See Appendix 2 for further information.

Agenda Pack Page 101

19

Figure 19

13.2

In addition to considering the needs and outcomes of individual
children, the data can be aggregated and themes and trends
identified which inform wider commissioning. Unsurprisingly, the
highest need for children aged over 10 years is support for their
mental health and emotional wellbeing. The highest need overall is for
support with identity and self-esteem.

13.3

Aggregated data can also be used to consider the needs profile for
CLA by placement type. For example, Figure 20 below illustrates the
needs of children placed with in house carers against placement cost.
It shows that Council carers look after children across the spectrum of
need, it also shows that specialist carers who receive the highest fee
payment are not looking after the children with the highest level of
need. This has prompted a review to assess whether the need has
reduced over the duration of the placement or whether the specialist
carers are being ‘wrongly’ used. A similar exercise has been carried
out for children in residential care and there is limited correlation
between placement cost and needs profile. Going forward, the
approach will enable better matching of placement to need and
increased accountability for providers.

Agenda Pack Page 102

20

Figure 20

13.4

Figure 21 below illustrates the change in need of the Council’s CLA
over the six months to April 2019. This provides the first numerical
evidence that care is reducing need.

Figure 21

14.

Financial Implications

14.1

There are no financial implications associated with this paper however
Children’s Services are currently working on a number of proposals which

Agenda Pack Page 103

21

will lead to ‘invest to save’ considerations. These relate primarily to the
development and delivery of the Residential and Fostering Strategies.

15.

Equalities Implications

15.1

When considering proposals placed before Members it is important
that they are fully aware of, and have themselves rigorously
considered, the equalities implications of the decision that they are
taking.

15.2

Rigorous consideration will ensure that proper appreciation of any
potential impact of that decision on the County Council’s statutory
obligations under the Public Sector Equality Duty. As a minimum this
requires decision makers to read and carefully consider the content of
any Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) produced by officers.

15.3

The Equality Act 2010 requires the Council when exercising its
functions to have due regard to the need to (a) eliminate
discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other conduct prohibited
under the Act; (b) advance equality of opportunity between persons
who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not
share it and (c) foster good relations between persons who share a
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. The
protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 are age;
disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership;
pregnancy and maternity; race; religion and belief, sex and sexual
orientation.

15.4

This report has no implications for any persons with protected
characteristics.

Agenda Pack Page 104

22

APPENDIX 1

Case Study 1
Jack had his 14th birthday in March, he was living in a secure children’s home
where he has been living since February. A court order is in place enabling
him to be placed in a locked setting for his own safety.
Jack and his younger sister were removed from the care of their parents when
Jack was three years old. He had experienced chronic neglect and high levels
of violence whilst in the care of his parents. During this time he took on the
role of being the protector for his younger sister. Jack has significant
developmental trauma which is impacting adversely on his emotional and
behavioural development.
After 21 months in foster care, Jack and his sister were placed for adoption
and they were adopted in 2012 when he was seven years old. Within several
years of placement the adopters started to have difficulties managing the
behaviours Jack was presenting. They asked for respite and said that they
could not continue caring for him without it. In 2015, aged 10 years, Jack went
to a respite placement which was planned to last for four weeks. Sadly his
parents said that they were unable to have him return to their care and he has
been in our care since that date.
Jack is functioning emotionally much younger than his chronological age. He
has been diagnosed with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD), Autism, Attachment disorder, hyper
vigilance and anxiety. He has previously had support from Great Ormond
Street Children’s Hospital at their Trauma clinic and, more recently, was
supported by Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services, although it was
challenging to provide him with any support due to the frequent placement
moves. Jack has medication to manage some of the symptoms he
experiences.
Jack has had 15 placements since becoming a looked after child, all of which
have broken down. His first, respite placement started well and it was agreed
that Jack should remain living with the carer and her family however he
started exhibiting behaviours that the carer struggled to manage including
talking about wanting to kill himself, having nightmares and ‘head banging’
when he was upset. The carer issued notice when her own daughter became
pregnant.
Jack moved from this placement to a children’s home which lasted almost 18
months however he was described as having feelings of self loathing and
struggling to adhere to boundaries. His behaviour escalated and he became
increasingly pre-occupied by death, both his own and that of others around

Agenda Pack Page 105

23

him. He sent a photograph of him ‘hanging himself’ (he was actually standing
on a chair) to his adoptive parents and he described death in increasingly
graphic and violent terms. He became more overtly challenging to his carers,
threatening violence, climbing on the roof of the home and he started going
missing from his placement. He established contact with his birth father
unbeknown to staff and he started experiencing night terrors. Eventually the
placement decided that, despite the agreed additional staffing, they could no
longer meet his needs and he was asked to leave the placement. He was 12
years old.
The next children’s home lasted only a month and Jack was described as
defiant, challenging and constantly pushing boundaries. He was asked to
leave. The next children’s home completed a detailed assessment of Jack
however they did not have any available ‘move on’ accommodation and
again, after 6 weeks he had to leave.
He moved to a children’s home in Halifax where he was placed in solo
provision (living in a home with staff but no other children). For six months the
placement appeared to be going well however Jack started to go missing
more and more regularly and he was found by police on a number of
occasions with adults known to them. He again became violent and
threatening and was restrained with increasing frequency. The placement
finally issued notice after Jack threatened a female member of staff with a
knife.
Jack moved to his new placement in October 2018. This placement broke
down after only a month. His next placement also gave notice after one
month reporting that due to his high risk behaviours, they were not able to
safeguard him or the staff. Before the notice period ran out, Jack was taken
into police custody after barricading himself in his room and threatening
suicide and harm to staff. He was not able to return to the placement.
At this point the placements team were unable to identify a placement for him
anywhere in the country. He was perceived to be too high risk to both himself
and others. A bespoke arrangement was made to care for him in an
‘unregistered’ arrangement. He absconded numerous times and was escorted
back to placement by the police. Jack again exhibited fire starting and
aggressive behaviour, including threatening staff with sharp objects. Whilst
missing he visited his first foster family on three occasions and the foster
carer had to call the police to have Jack removed from the property. The
arrangement cost the local authority £26,000 over Christmas week due to the
difficulty of sourcing agency staff prepared to work with Jack.
On 3 January Jack was moved to a 28 day outward bound program. It had
been hoped that during this period an alternative placement could be

Agenda Pack Page 106

24

identified however the outward bound programme ended the placement early,
again stating that they could not manage his risk taking and aggressive
behaviours. After a further two weeks in unregulated provision a secure order
was obtained and Jack was placed in secure accommodation where he
remains to date. He appears to be settled in the secure children’s home and
he says he feels safe. He is starting to have short periods off site,
accompanied by staff; however he is becoming anxious about his pending
move. Despite an extensive search and approaches to over 200 providers, a
new placement has not yet been identified.

Case Study 2
Emily is 16 years old. She is currently living in a solo placement in
Staffordshire with two to one staffing and a waking night.
Emily first came to the attention of Children’s Services in 2007 due to
domestic abuse between her parents. In 2008, when she was five years old, a
joint investigation was carried out with the police when Emily was found to
have bruising to her eye, forehead, neck, lower back and left leg. It was
believed that the bruising was caused by her mother. Initially Emily went to
stay with her grandmother but after a month she went into foster care with her
younger brother.
Both children stayed in the placement for almost a year however the carer
struggled to manage Emily’s behaviour which was reported to be ‘out of
control’. She was described as aggressive and reports indicated that she had
kicked, punched and pinched her carer and she was violent towards her
younger brother. In August 2009 both children were moved to a new
placement and 3 months later, due to the aggression between the siblings,
Emily was moved to a new placement on her own. Again this placement did
not last and within three months the carer had asked for a new placement to
be found. Emily was described as aggressive and abusive and she had
started refusing to go to school. When she did attend school there were
problems with aggression towards other pupils. At the end of January 2010,
aged just seven years, Emily moved into her 5 th foster placement.
In October 2010 a Care Order was granted in respect of Emily and her
brother and contact with her birth family reduced. There had previously been
a high level of contact since an assessment had been taking place as to
whether Emily could return safely to the care of her mother. The making of
the Care Order confirmed for Emily that she would not be going back home.
The following month Emily’s brother joined her in her foster placement and
there followed a relative period of stability.

Agenda Pack Page 107

25

During the summer of 2013 Emily started to self harm by cutting her arms.
This was managed and she remained reasonably settled until the following
Autumn when she started secondary school. Within weeks she was excluded
for violence and aggression towards other children. The following May the
placement was ended after Emily had made a number of allegations against
her foster carer. Her next placement lasted two months and was ended after
an assault on another child in placement. She moved to her respite carer in
July 2015 (7th placement) with whom she already had a relationship. Sadly,
several months later she was told that her uncle had committed suicide and
this caused her a lot of distress. The difficult relationships with her peers in
school continued, she was losing weight and she was self harming by cutting
her arms. In December her placement was ended following an assault against
her carer.
In December 2015 she moved into a specialist, therapeutic foster placement
which lasted 9 months and again ended due to allegations against the carer.
She was moved to another carer within the organisation however she wasn’t
happy and she absconded, returning to her previous placement. In March
2017 she was diagnosed as being on the autism spectrum and was
prescribed medication which, to date, she rarely takes. At this time she was
moved again due to the same allegations, she had been excluded from
school due to an assault on two members of staff, she was experiencing
anxiety and panic attacks and she was frequently going missing from her
placement and displaying aggressive behaviours. In August 2017 she was
moved to a residential special school.
As was the pattern, the placement started well however by October she had
been asked to leave due to having caused extensive damage to the property.
She had been arrested by the police three times during the preceding week
and she was expressing suicidal thoughts. The unit said they were unable to
keep Emily or others safe. After 2 weeks in an interim placement Emily
returned to her residential special school at her request, however her
circumstances did not improve. She continued to express challenging and self
harming behaviours, on one occasion head butting a window and breaking it
and breaking a shower screen with her head. An ambulance was called but
she refused treatment. At the end of January 2018 the unit ended the
placement with very little notice. Emily moved to the residential setting where
she had spent two weeks during August however she was unhappy in the
placement and continued to self harm and assault staff, on one occasion
pushing a staff member down the stairs and on another smashing four
windows with an iron bar. Despite an extensive search another placement
couldn’t be found and in May 2018 Emily’s placement was ended following
her smashing an upstairs window, jumping from the porch roof and breaking

Agenda Pack Page 108

26

her ankle. An unregulated arrangement was put in place which lasted 2
weeks before another placement could be found.
The only placement which would agree to take Emily was a Hertfordshire
foster carer who lived in Norfolk. The placement lasted 8 weeks during which
the violence and missing episodes continued. During early August Emily
again moved into an unregulated setting with the specialist agency. She
stayed six weeks until another placement could be found at a cost of £2,100
per day.
Emily appears to be settled in her current placement where she has now
been living for nine months. She continues to have episodes of challenging
behaviour however the damage and self harm are reducing. Her current
placement costs £10,600 per week.

Agenda Pack Page 109

27

APPENDIX 2

The ‘needs statements’ used in the valuing care work are illustrated below.
Figure 1

Be Healthy
1) Has a physical health need that requires additional support.
2) Needs support with their emotional health or diagnosed / undiagnosed
mental health condition.
Be Safe
3) Needs support and encouragement to form positive and healthy
attachments and friendships, free from any form of exploitation.
4) Needs support to make safe decisions around the use of drugs, alcohol
and sexualised behaviour.
Be Ambitious
5) Has an assessed learning difficulty or disability and requires additional
support to manage this.
6) Has a lower level of educational progress and therefore requires
additional support to achieve at the expected level in school.

Agenda Pack Page 110

28

Be Resilient
7) Needs support to manage emotions, respond to stress and to selfregulate or observe appropriate boundaries.
8) Needs support to engage in social activities in their community.
Be Independent
9) Needs support in developing age-appropriate self care skills.
10) Needs support in setting age-appropriate goals and objectives for
independence
Be Happy
11) Needs support to ensure wishes, opinions and feelings are known.
12) Needs support to understand their identity, their life story and to develop
positive self-esteem
Within each outcome domain there are two statements and the child’s
assessed level of need is rated against each statement depending on how
great their need is in that area, for example, within the Be Resilient domain,
statement 8 is ‘needs support to engage in social activities within their
community’. The statement is included in this domain because there is
evidence that children who are isolated, have no hobbies or interests and do
not engage with extracurricular activities, including sporting activities, are less
resilient than their peers who are actively engaged.
The child’s needs in this area are assessed and the social worker ‘quantifies’
their level of need, currently out of 100 but changing to a scale of 10 in the
near future, where a low number indicates low need and a high number
indicates high need. By consciously considering this area of need the social
worker and the carer can build activities into the care plan which will reduce
need. Using this example, the carer can explore with the child what areas of
interest they have, encourage them to try new experiences and work to
promote positive social engagement. The social worker will then rate the level
of need again against each statement in preparation for the next Statutory
Review. Following this example through, a very insular child might score 70 at
the first rating, the carer has then identified that the child enjoys trampolining
and supports them to join a Saturday club, where they have started to make
friends with one of the other children. The next time the social worker
assesses the child their need in this area has reduced to 60 showing an
increase in their resilience.
In order to help with ‘reading’ the ratings, a ‘radar chart’ has been developed
to map them. An example of a young woman’s assessed and quantified
needs is shown below in Figure 2. She was first assessed in April/May 2018
(green). This young woman was assessed as being very high need in a
number of areas including needs area 2, ‘Needs support with their emotional
health or diagnosed/undiagnosed mental health condition’ where she was
rated at 80, and number 4, ‘needs support to make safe decisions around the
usage of drugs, alcohol or sexualised behaviour’ where again she was
assessed at 80. Her needs were assessed again in August 2018 (yellow) and

Agenda Pack Page 111

29

her needs in both these areas had reduced to 65. Her need in area 6, ‘Has a
lower level of educational progress and therefore requires additional support
to achieve at the expected level in school’ did not reduce between April/May
and August, remaining at 80. The young woman’s needs were reassessed
again six months later for her next review (red). She was settled in placement
and was attending school. Her needs in most areas, including in area 6, had
reduced. A new, emerging need was identified against statement 8, ‘Needs
support to engage in social activities in their community’. This had previously
been rated at 0 and was now rated at 30. Also, her need against statement 12
had gone up slightly having started at 40, reduced to 30 and then gone up to
35. This quantified assessment evidences the overall success of the
placement and prompted a review of the care plan in specific areas.
Figure 2

In addition to considering children’s individual ratings against each of the
needs statements the ratings can be added together to give an overall
quantified level of need for a child. This child had an overall assessed level of
need of 430 at her last review. In this way the CLA with the highest assessed
needs can be readily identified and monitored. Also, where there is a large
change in numerical value in either direction, the child and placement are
readily identified and any exploration for the reason can be carried out.
Using the Valuing Care data it is possible to profile the needs of the CLA
population overall. It is also possible to break it down, for example, by age,

Agenda Pack Page 112

30

gender, placement type and placement cost. An example of this is shown in
Figures 3 and 4 below. Figure 3, shows that for girls Emotional Health is the
highest scoring need whilst Figure 4 shows that for boys Managing Emotions
is the highest scoring need. This correlates with the experience of girls turning
their distress inwards, exhibiting behaviours such as self-harm, whilst boys
more often turn their distress outward through more directly challenging
behaviours such as aggression and violence.
Figure 3

Figure 4

Agenda Pack Page 113

31

Article on Valuing Care that was published in Children and Young People
Now magazine:
Hertfordshire County Council is using an innovative approach to enhance the
commissioning of children’s services to better meet the needs of its looked
after children.
The local authority is one of five areas across the UK to embed the Valuing
Care programme, developed by independent consultancy iMPOWER, in its
social work teams.
The programme complements existing assessment tools to produce a needs
and outcomes profile for both individual looked after children as well as the
entire population of young people under a local authority’s care.
The decision to use Valuing Care came soon after Hertfordshire began rolling
out its new outcomes framework for looked after children, says Marion
Ingram, the council’s Operations Director for Specialist Services. She explains
the ‘Outcome Bees’ framework consists of six domains covering areas such
as happiness, safety and independence.
“It became very apparent that this was the time to do this piece of work we
had talked about with iMPOWER on the quantification of need. “It’s a way of
translating an assessment into numerical values so that we have a way of
noting change and of comparing over time and across the cohort,” explains
Ingram.
Under each of the six outcomes, social workers and managers devised two
explanatory sentences such as ‘needs support in managing their physical
health’ for the Be Healthy domain. When a young person is taken into care,
social workers use a tool to score the needs of the child against these 12
sentences which is then used to help find a placement for that child.
The scores are then recorded on a ‘radar chart’ which enables staff to track
the progress of a young person over time. “What we are very clear about is
that it gives a much more rounded picture of who the child is and what their
needs are because it goes across all those six outcome domains,” says
Ingram. Social workers are asked to review the radar chart scores when they
carry out periodical reviews of their looked after children.
“Because we’ve built this system into our dashboard we can also look at our
children’s needs as a population and that informs the whole commissioning
conversation. “One of the highest needs for our looked after children is
around identity and self-esteem which you would think is really obvious but it’s

Agenda Pack Page 114

32

not something that we’ve really focused on. As a consequence of being able
to analyse this data we’ve commissioned a lot of training around life story
work for our foster carers, children’s homes and social workers,” explains
Ingram.
Similarly, the data has led the authority to review its CAMHS offer for looked
after children after highlighting the biggest need for teenagers is around
emotional health and wellbeing.
Ingram says training is being delivered to social workers to ensure they
prioritise the Valuing Care programme as well as advice and guidance in
terms of how to score young people. “Not only are we having a conversation
about consistency within the local authority, but we are also talking about it
with Oxfordshire County Council who are also using the programme but are
scoring it differently to us,” she explains.
In its first year of operation, Ingram says the programme is helping staff to
move away from traditional care planning methods that focus on risk to ones
based on quantified need. “That enables providers to work with us to reduce
the needs of children they are looking after,” she says.
As one of five local authorities to use Valuing Care - as well as Oxfordshire it
is being used in Central Bedfordshire, Norfolk and north east Lincolnshire meetings have been held at senior level to share experiences of the
programme. “Ideally, the more of us that use it and the more consistency that
we can get the more helpful it’s going to be when you are talking about the
broader commissioning conversation,” adds Ingram.
Impact:
The experience of a 15-year-old boy being looked after by Hertfordshire
illustrates how the Valuing Care programme ensured his needs were
identified and appropriately met after an adoption breakdown meant he was
moved to residential care.
For each of the needs statements the boy’s scores were plotted on a colour
coded radar chart. This allowed analysis of the scores to be carried out easily
and any changes in need to be readily identified. Over a period of more
than18 months the boy’s scores - which were highest around identity, selfesteem and understanding his life story - had decreased and he was
achieving good outcomes.
Ingram says creating a more “holistic picture” of children’s needs has allowed
the authority to address them better both individually and on a population

Agenda Pack Page 115

33

basis. She says emerging data - small percentage change in need scores
over a six month period - show a reduction in need for looked after children.
“So for the first time ever I can actually say that the needs of our children are
reducing while they are in care. We’ve never been able to say that before we are making lives better for children.”

Agenda Pack Page 116

34

HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Agenda Item No.

RESOURCES AND PERFORMANCE CABINET PANEL
FRIDAY 5 JULY 2019 at 10:00AM

6

VALUE FOR MONEY REVIEW UPDATE - CARRIAGEWAY MAINTENANCE
Report of the Director of Environment and Infrastructure
Author:

Steve Johnson, Head of Contracts & Network (Tel: 01992
658126)

Executive Members:

Phil Bibby, Highways and Environment

1.

Purpose of the report

1.1.

To provide Resources and Performance Cabinet Panel with an update
on progress following the value for money review on carriageway
maintenance the Cabinet Panel carried out at its meeting on 16
November 2018.

2.

Summary

2.1.

At the November Resource and Performance Cabinet Panel, Highways
Officers gave a presentation on ‘Value for Money in Carriageway
Maintenance’. Members identified four areas for highways to consider
and report back to Cabinet Panel on.

2.2.

This report provides an update on the actions identified and sets out an
indicative timeframe for providing evidence on how the investment in
highways is delivering longer term benefits.

3.

Recommendation

3.1.

Resources & Performance Cabinet Panel is invited to note and
comment on the report.

4.

Background

4.1.

The Highways service maintains 5,100 km (3,169 miles) of
carriageways. The gross replacement cost of this network would be
approximately £6 billion.

4.2.

To maintain this network, the service undertakes reactive and planned
carriageway maintenance using a variety of treatments as set out in the
previous panel report.

Agenda Pack Page 117

1

4.3.

Following the presentation to panel, members identified four areas for
further consideration as set out below.
4.4.

The Resources and Performance Cabinet Panel:

1. Would be interested in receiving a further report focussing on the
improvement of the Highways Network as a consequence of the
additional funding for Unclassified Roads made available to the
Highways Service in the current IP, with the report to be made
available after a sufficient period of time has elapsed for the
programme to have had a material impact on the network.
2. Recognised the continuing concern of the public in relation to the
condition of Hertfordshire roads, with regards to potholes and value
for money. Panel resolved to continue to monitor the value for
money for highways in relation to Cat 1 works.
3. Noted that in view of the consistently high performance of the
County Councils contractor in meeting response time targets for
pothole repairs, would the Executive Member for Highways
consider reviewing target levels acknowledging that the additional
resources associated with shorter reaction times need to balance
against the benefits those resources could deliver elsewhere?
4. Noted that with the significant increase in Highways Funding
directed at improving the condition of Unclassified Roads and the
general improvement in the Highway Network, would the Executive
Members for Highways consider using the potential future savings
from the reduction in the occurrence of potholes to review the
current pothole intervention levels?
5.

Update on the matters identified

5.1.

The table overleaf sets out a summary of the actions being taken with
an indicative timeframe for responding back to Cabinet Panel.

Agenda Pack Page 118

2

Recommendation(s)

When and How can this be addressed?

Other Comments/Considerations

1. R&P Panel would be interested in receiving a further report
focussing on the improvement of the Highways Network as a
consequence of the additional funding for Unclassified
Roads made available to the Highways Service in the
current IP, with the report to be made available after a
sufficient period of time has elapsed for the programme to
have had a material impact on the network.

Report to Resources & Performance Panel in Spring 2022
on the outcomes from the i2i investment – The Invest 2
Improve programme is 5 years long. It is estimated that the net
effect of this programme on the overall network will start to show
after the first 3 years (i.e. 2018/19, 2019/20, and 2020/21).

Ongoing monitoring of asset condition – Monitoring of the highway asset
condition performance is undertaken on an annual basis via a series of
indicators for A, B, C and U roads. These are reported to Highways &
Environment Cabinet Panel, with the most recent figures available here
(Item 9a), and the showing ‘Percentage of U-Roads in need of structural
maintenance’ included below:

At this point, the condition surveys to be conducted in Autumn
2021 will provide an indication of the programme’s outcomes.
With these becoming available in early 2022, a report to panel
will be produced for Spring 2022.

The above shows that the U-Road asset condition has been broadly
consistent, reflecting the service’s continued application of asset
management principles, building resilience into the network.

Agenda Pack Page 119

2. R&P Panel recognised the continuing concern of the public
in relation to the condition of Hertfordshire roads, with
regards to potholes and value for money. Panel resolved to
continue to monitor the value for money for highways in
relation to Cat 1 works.

A quarterly Performance Report is presented to the
Highways & Environment Cabinet Panel together with an
Annual Asset Performance Report – as below:




Highways & Environment Quarterly Performance Report
(Item 9a) – This includes Response to Cat 1 (%),
measuring our adherence to Cat 1 timescales, and the
Quality Audit (Cat 1) measure, measuring the quality of
Cat 1 jobs.
Annual Asset Performance Report – This includes more
detailed information on the condition of the network as a
whole, and outlines the service’s Lifecycle Planning
approach. The 2018/19 report is currently in production.

The Highway Service is working on two initiatives below, both of which are
focused on driving Value for Money in the service, including (but not limited
to) Cat 1 works:
Building a predictive model for reactive repairs – The service is working
with the Business Intelligence Team to explore the possibility of predicting
reactive interventions on the network before they occur.
This involves taking datasets on all the possible variables that could
determine the occurrence of a pothole, i.e. surface type, drainage
conditions, traffic levels etc., and determining the causality between each
variable and the occurrence of a pothole in a particular road section.
It is an experimental piece of work that may not return significant results, but
if successful, would be the next step in enhancing the planning of workloads
at a service level, and at a granular level intervene on the network before
the need for a reactive repair arises.
Comprehensive Value for Money assessment of the service – The
service has recently engaged Proving Services Ltd to undertake a
comprehensive value for money assessment of the service.
The all-day workshop, attended by Councillor Bibby and senior Highways
officers from HCC, WSP and Ringway identified potential areas for further
evolution to work more efficiently and to increase its strategic value. One of
the assessment conclusions was that overall the service “compares
reasonably well to its peer group”.
The recommendations from the assessment will be discussed by Highways
Senior Management Team and Executive Members, with a view to drawing
up an action plan for implementation.

3

Please note: Due to the following recommendations both
relating to our Defect Management Approach, they are taken
together
3. R&P Panel noted that in view of the consistently high
performance of the County Council’s contractor in meeting
response time targets for pothole repairs, would the
Executive Member for Highways consider reviewing target
levels acknowledging that the additional resources
associated with shorter reaction times need to balance
against the benefits those resources could deliver
elsewhere?

Monitoring the impacts of the additional investment will need to
be carried out over a suitable period of time (2 to 3 years)
before it would be possible to determine with a degree of
certainty what the potential future savings could be and then
how these potential future savings could be used.
The service will continue to monitor reports of potholes and
other defects, analysing data on a quarterly basis to help identify
underlying trends, to ensure that investments are delivering the
desired outcomes.
An analysis will be undertaken at the end of 2019/20 and the
results with any initial recommendations produced.

4. R&P Panel noted that with the significant increase in
Highways Funding directed at improving the condition of
Unclassified Roads and the general improvement in the
Highway Network, would the Executive Members for
Highways consider using the potential future savings from
the reduction in the occurrence of potholes to review the
current pothole intervention levels?

Agenda Pack Page 120
4

6.

Financial Implications

6.1

There are no financial implications as a result of this report.

7.

Equalities Impact Assessment

7.1

When considering proposals placed before Members it is important
that they are fully aware of, and have themselves rigorously considered
the equalities implications of the decision that they are taking.

7.2

Rigorous consideration will ensure that proper appreciation of any
potential impact of that decision on the County Council’s statutory
obligations under the Public Sector Equality Duty. As a minimum this
requires decision makers to read and carefully consider the content of
any Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) produced by officers.

7.3

The Equality Act 2010 requires the Council when exercising its
functions to have due regard to the need to (a) eliminate
discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other conduct prohibited
under the Act; (b) advance equality of opportunity between persons
who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not
share it and (c) foster good relations between persons who share a
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. The
protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 are age;
disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership;
pregnancy and maternity; race; religion and belief, sex and sexual
orientation.

7.4

No equality implications have been identified in relation to this report.

BACKGROUND REPORTS
Resources & Performance Cabinet Panel – 16 November 2018:
https://democracy.hertfordshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=283&MId=
1109&Ver=4

Agenda Pack Page 121

5

This page is intentionally left blank

HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Agenda Item No.

RESOURCES AND PERFORMANCE CABINET PANEL
FRIDAY 5 JULY 2019 AT 10:00AM
COUNTY COUNCIL CORPORATE PLAN 2019 – 2025

7

Report of the Director of Resources
Report authors:-

Alex James, Head of Corporate Policy
Daisy Stanton, Policy Officer, Corporate Policy Team

Executive Members:-

David Williams, Leader of the Council

1.

Purpose of report

1.1

To invite Members to consider and make recommendations to Cabinet on the
County Council’s draft Corporate Plan for 2019-2025.

2.

Summary

2.1

The Council’s current Corporate Plan covers the period 2017-2021. As part of
the Local Government Association (LGA) Peer Review of the County Council
which took place in October 2018, it was recommended that the current
Corporate Plan was refreshed to enable the Council’s leadership to
demonstrate and assert its aspirations and priorities for both Hertfordshire
County Council and the county it serves.

2.2

The refreshed corporate plan, which covers the period 2019 – 2025 is
designed to be a short, strategic, high level and outward-facing, with an
emphasis on outcome focussed actions.

3.

Recommendations

3.1

The Resources and Performance Cabinet Panel is invited to recommend to
Cabinet that it approves the Council’s refreshed Corporate Plan 2019 – 2025
subject to any minor amendments made prior to its publication; the Chief
Executive to be authorised to make such minor amendments to the Corporate
Plan 2019 – 2025 in consultation with the Leader and Deputy Leader of the
Council.

3.2

The Panel is also asked to note that the refreshed Corporate Plan will be
presented to County Council on 16 July 2019, when County Council will be
asked to note its contents.

Agenda Pack Page 123

1

4.

Background

4.1

Hertfordshire County Council’s Corporate Plan outlines the Council’s strategic
priorities and objectives alongside its vision for Hertfordshire. It acts as a key
part of the Council’s ‘golden thread’, setting the overarching strategic basis for
all of the Council’s other strategies and policies.

4.2

The current version, Hertfordshire – County of Opportunity, covers the period
of 2017-2021. It was approved by County Council in February 2017 and again
endorsed by County Council in July 2017 following the County Council
elections. The refreshed corporate plan is a more significant refresh of the
previous 2013-2017 Plan.

4.3

As part of the LGA’s Peer Review of the County Council that took place in
October 2018, the following recommendation was made:
“Following the recent appointment of the new Chief Executive Officer (October
2018) and Council Leader (November 2017) a refresh of the corporate plan is
recommended. A refresh will provide an opportunity for the Chief Executive
Officer and Council Leader to assert their individual and collective leadership
to the plan, clearly signalling new leadership internally to the workforce but
also externally to residents, partners locally, regionally and nationally.”

4.4

As set out in the LGA Peer Review recommendation, it was considered that a
refresh of the Corporate Plan would enable the council’s leadership to
demonstrate and assert its aspirations and priorities for both Hertfordshire
County Council and the county it serves.
Questions relating to the refresh of the Corporate Plan were included in a
recently conducted Stakeholder Survey. These questions asked partners for
their views on whether they agree with the current Corporate Plan’s vision and
themes. The majority of respondents (78%) agreed that the Council’s vision
was still the correct one for Hertfordshire, and over 91% of people said they
agreed the ambitions were the right ones for Hertfordshire. As part of the
survey views were sought on whether there was anything else that should be
included in the vision. Many comments reflected the need to include more on
‘place and growth’, linking to the growth agenda. It was also suggested that
the vision should include the importance of “engaged communities” that
enable local autonomy and taking local responsibility through a ‘volunteering
ethos’ as well as placing more emphasis on the importance of good
partnership working.

5

Proposed changes to the Corporate Plan

5.1

The refreshed Corporate Plan is designed to be short, strategic, high level and
outward-facing, with an emphasis on outcome focussed actions.

5.2

It is designed to provide the Council with an opportunity to further demonstrate
its ‘pivot’ towards providing that wider leadership of place and assert an

Agenda Pack Page 124

2

external image of strategic and operational excellence with Government and
key partners.
5.3

This refresh allows for a review and update of text, whilst not requiring a
complete re-write of the existing Plan. This includes a proposed revision of the
Council’s four ‘opportunity’ themes. In recognition of the importance of the
need to effectively manage growth in the county, a new place-based theme is
proposed. In turn, it is proposed to remove the previous Plan’s ‘opportunity to
take part’ theme and incorporate key elements of this area elsewhere in the
Plan.

5.4

The proposed revised ‘opportunity’ themes are as follows:
•
Opportunity to live in thriving communities
•
Opportunity to share in Hertfordshire’s prosperity
•
Opportunity for everyone to achieve their potential
•
Opportunity to enjoy healthy and safe lives

5.5

Work is also being done to give the Plan a new look and modern feel with
more use of images and infographics. It is proposed to print a small number of
the hard copies of the Plan for circulation to partners and in libraries and other
public buildings. It will also be published on the Council’s website.

6

Financial implications

6.1

Whilst the refreshed Corporate Plan relates to the overall business of the
County Council, beyond the costs of the limited print run proposed in
paragraph 5.5 above, there are no further specific financial implications arising
from the proposals in this report.

7

Equalities implications

7.1

When considering proposals placed before Members it is important that they
are fully aware of, and have themselves rigorously considered the equalities
implications of the decision that they are taking.

7.2

Rigorous consideration will ensure that proper appreciation of any potential
impact of that decision on the County Council’s statutory obligations under the
Public Sector Equality Duty. As a minimum this requires decision makers to
read and carefully consider the content of any Equalities Impact Assessment
(EqIA) produced by officers.

7.3

The Equality Act 2010 requires the Council when exercising its functions to
have due regard to the need to (a) eliminate discrimination, harassment,
victimisation and other conduct prohibited under the Act; (b) advance equality
of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic
and persons who do not share it and (c) foster good relations between
persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do
not share it. The protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 are
age; disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership;
pregnancy and maternity; race; religion and belief, sex and sexual orientation.

Agenda Pack Page 125

3

7.4

No EqIA was undertaken in relation to refreshed Corporate Plan itself as
individual actions mentioned in the report will be subject to their own rigorous
equality assessments.

Background Information
Hertfordshire County Council’s Corporate Plan 2017-21
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/about-the-council/dataand-information/corporate-plan-2017-21.pdf
Corporate Peer Challenge of Hertfordshire County Council, feedback report
https://preview-hcc.cloud.contensis.com/about-the-council/news/stakeholdersnewsletter/media/hertfordshire-cc-lga-corporate-peer-challenge-report-2018.pdf
County Council – 21 February 2017
https://democracy.hertfordshire.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=216&M
eetingId=517&DF=21%2f02%2f2017&Ver=2
County Council -18 July 2017
https://democracy.hertfordshire.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=216&M
eetingId=521&DF=18%2f07%2f2017&Ver=2

Agenda Pack Page 126

4

Corporate Plan
Hertfordshire County of Opportunity
2019 - 2025
Agenda Pack Page 127

VISION

CONTEXT

KEY FACTS

THRIVE

PROSPER

ACHIEVE POTENTIAL

HEALTHY & SAFE

DELIVERING OUR VISION

Our vision
Agenda Pack Page 128

As the county of opportunity,
we want Hertfordshire to continue
to be a county where people are
able to live healthy, fulfilling
lives in thriving, prosperous
communities.
This vision is underpinned by the
following four ambitions:
• Opportunity to live in thriving places
• Opportunity to share in Hertfordshire’s
prosperity
• Opportunity for everyone to achieve
their potential
• Opportunity to enjoy healthy and
safe lives

David Williams
Leader of the council

CONTACT US

VISION

CONTEXT

KEY FACTS

THRIVE

PROSPER

ACHIEVE POTENTIAL

Introduction
Hertfordshire is a great place to live and work. We have some
of the best schools in the country, low crime levels, and a high
proportion of our residents are healthy and well.

HEALTHY & SAFE

DELIVERING OUR VISION

CONTACT US

As the democratically accountable authority covering the whole of
the county, we are committed to providing the leadership required
to respond positively and resiliently to this uncertain and changing
environment.
Building on our county’s renowned track record of pioneering new
settlements, we will work closely with our partners to deliver good
growth - designing thriving communities that are fit for the future.
We will work collaboratively with others to promote and help manage
our population’s health and wellbeing, targeting our collective
resources where they will have the greatest impact and intervening
early to help those who need our support.

However, we face a range of major challenges in the coming years.
Significant population and housing growth is anticipated and, as
with the rest of the country our population is ageing and increasingly
experiencing long term complex health conditions. All of which will
generate increasing demand on our services and infrastructure.

As with all county councils, we continue to face
significant financial constraints. Since 2010 we have
made savings of almost £315 million from our £1 billion
annual revenue budget and we must make further
savings of £90 million per annum by 2023.

Agenda Pack Page 129

Hertfordshire is critical to the UK economy, contributing £37.5
billion a year to the national purse. We are home to some of the
country’s leading businesses, including world class creative media
and advanced manufacturing organisations and our life sciences
industries and research capabilities sit right at the heart of the ‘Golden
Research Triangle’ that links Oxford, London and Cambridge.

£315m
savings

In order to tackle these issues, we know we must continue to
transform how we work, finding innovative ways to improve and to
reduce our costs whilst maintaining a keen focus on our primary
purpose - delivering high quality services that enhance the lives of
our residents.
We want to ensure Hertfordshire is a county of opportunity where our
residents can enjoy a good quality of life and can succeed regardless
of their circumstances.
This plan outlines our vision and aspirations for the county and sets
out the key steps we will be taking to achieve these aims.
David Williams
Leader, Hertfordshire County Council

VISION

CONTEXT

KEY FACTS

THRIVE

PROSPER

ACHIEVE POTENTIAL

What we do
Our services affect the lives of every Hertfordshire resident,
business and community. We act as an advocate on residents’
behalf and deliver a wide variety of services that make a
positive impact to the areas where people live.

Agenda Pack Page 130

£197.4m

Library and Other
Community Services

We maintain 3,000 miles of
roads, carrying out over 1,000
maintenance and
improvement schemes as
well as fixing more than 25,000
potholes and we are planning for
the delivery of up to 100,00 new
homes and associated infrastructure

Our support teams ensure robust
governance of the county council’s
processes and look after our

Total spend

£70.2m

8,000 staff.
Total spend

£38.8m

Our fire service responds to

and our dedicated Home Safety Service
visits around 1,800 homes.

Total spend

Total spend

10,000 emergencies each year

£41.1m

£13.6m

Adult Care Services
We supported 28,000 adults last
year, including provision of essential
social care services. We also supported
around the same number of carers.

£356.4m
Financing and Support
for Frontline Services

Fire and Community
Protection

There are more than 390,000 loans
a month from our libraries. Our archives
team collects and preserves 1,000
years of history for our residents.

Total spend

Highways, environment
and infrastructure

CONTACT US

£242.8m

£818.7m

From funding vital support for
vulnerable and disabled adults and
children, maintaining and keeping
traffic moving on our 3,000 miles
Children’s Services
of roads to making sure that each
We protect the county’s most
and every child has a school
vulnerable children and young
place, your Council Tax, along
people. Since 2010 we have created
with money from other funding
19,000 extra school places.
sources, pays for a wide
Total spend
range of local services.

DELIVERING OUR VISION

2019/20
capital financing:

2019/20
revenue budget:

Your Council Tax for 2019/20

HEALTHY & SAFE

Legal and Statutory Services
We register 3,700 marriages and
over 20,000 births and deaths a year.
Total spend

Waste Management
We fund the treatment of

£7.2m

525,000 tonnes of waste
generated each year.
Total spend

£47.8m

How we
spend your
money

Public Health
Our Public Health teams help residents to lead healthier
lives. More than 150,000 health checks have
been delivered over the past five years and there are
fewer smokers in the county than ever before.
Total spend

£46.4m

VISION

CONTEXT

KEY FACTS

THRIVE

PROSPER

ACHIEVE POTENTIAL

HEALTHY & SAFE

DELIVERING OUR VISION

CONTACT US

Hertfordshire the place
By 2031...

11%

POPULATION

1.35 million

OF RESIDENTS

RURAL

TRAFFIC

more people
living in Hertfordshire

67%

of Hertfordshire

increase in Hertfordshire

30% GROWTH

SUPPORTED HOUSING

100,000

to meet needs

NEW HOMES ARE PLANNED IN THE COUNTY

URBAN

20%

175,000

areas make up just over

OF RESIDENTS

EXPECT TO SEE

Average house price

89%

Agenda Pack Page 131

UP TO

£467,300

areas make up just over

32%

of Hertfordshire

VISION

CONTEXT

KEY FACTS

THRIVE

PROSPER

ACHIEVE POTENTIAL

HEALTHY & SAFE

DELIVERING OUR VISION

CONTACT US

2.58%

YOUNG PEOPLE

More than

AGED 16-17

Not in education,
employment or training

BUSINESSES

Lowest rates nationally

in the county
VALUE OF EXPORTS
from Hertfordshire

81%
OF RESIDENTS
feel like they belong
to their local area

80% RESIDENTS

HERTFORDSHIRE

Agenda Pack Page 132

58,000

provides

690,000

JOBS

44,650

NEW JOBS

feel that their local area is a place
where people from different ethnic
backgrounds get on well together.

planned by

2031

£5.5
billion

45,000

LONDON

people from London work in

HERTFORDSHIRE

118,000

people from

HERTFORDSHIRE WORK IN LONDON

£55m funding for the Stevenage BIOSCIENCE CATALYST CAMPUS

150 JOBS GENERATING £1.2bn of revenue by 2020

VISION

CONTEXT

KEY FACTS

THRIVE

PROSPER

ACHIEVE POTENTIAL

HEALTHY & SAFE

DELIVERING OUR VISION

CONTACT US

Opportunity to

live in thriving
places
Agenda Pack Page 133

We want everyone to have the opportunity
to live in active, vibrant communities.
Sustainable places where people can enjoy
a good quality life, growth is sensitively
managed, and the value of Hertfordshire’s
clean and green environment is respected.

VISION

CONTEXT

KEY FACTS

THRIVE

PROSPER

ACHIEVE POTENTIAL

HEALTHY & SAFE

As with other parts of the UK, Hertfordshire is facing the challenge of how to
accommodate a growing population. Alongside our district and borough council
partners who are the local planning authorities in Hertfordshire, we are preparing
for around 100,000 additional new homes over the next 15 years or so.
We want:

Working with our partners, we will:

Hertfordshire to be home to well-designed
communities, where families can live,
learn and work locally. This includes good
quality housing to meet the needs of all
Hertfordshire residents and safe local road
networks supported by sustainable travel
options which reduce reliance on cars.

Agenda Pack Page 134

• Develop and deliver a positive
shared long-term vision for growth
in Hertfordshire.

Our natural environment and diverse
habitats to be protected from inappropriate
growth, including the negative aspects of
airport expansion.

• Deliver a sustainable solution for dealing
with the county’s future waste.

A cleaner, greener and more
environmentally sustainable county with a
reduced carbon footprint and with the re-use,
recycling and disposal of household waste
managed effectively.

Our residents to be engaged in local
issues, helping to shape services to
meet local need and making a personal
contribution through a range of volunteering
opportunities.

• Ensure new developments provide
the necessary infrastructure and other
community resources, such as roads,
schools and libraries.
• Act to limit the impact of climate change
by taking a countywide approach to
improving environment sustainability and
improving air quality.

• Deliver a co-ordinated programme of
highway improvement and maintenance.

DELIVERING OUR VISION

CONTACT US

VISION

CONTEXT

KEY FACTS

THRIVE

PROSPER

ACHIEVE POTENTIAL

HEALTHY & SAFE

DELIVERING OUR VISION

CONTACT US

Opportunity to

Agenda Pack Page 135

share in
Hertfordshire’s
prosperity
We want Hertfordshire’s strong economy to
continue to grow, with resilient and successful
businesses that offer good employment
opportunities and help to maintain a high
quality of life for all.
We want Hertfordshire to be recognised as a
great place to do business, with a skilled and
productive workforce and infrastructure that
supports the local economy.

VISION

CONTEXT

KEY FACTS

THRIVE

PROSPER

ACHIEVE POTENTIAL

HEALTHY & SAFE

DELIVERING OUR VISION

CONTACT US

45,000

Hertfordshire is a prosperous county with one of the strongest economies in the country.
We have a thriving business community and are home to specialist industries of both
national and international significance. With the growth anticipated in the county in
future years, it will be vital that our economy continues to grow. However, productivity
in Hertfordshire has declined significantly compared to the national average over the
last decade with the county both benefiting and being challenged by being located on
the edge of London.

Agenda Pack Page 136

We want:

Working with our partners, we will:

To continue to develop the county’s key
high value and high skill sectors, such
as our global excellence in life sciences,
advanced manufacturing and creative media.

• Improve Hertfordshire’s workforce by
delivering the county’s Skills Strategy

Our economy to provide sustainable
employment opportunities for all with the
skills of our workforce enhanced to meet
current and future business needs.
To regenerate many of the county’s larger
towns to unlock their economic potential.
To improve Hertfordshire’s strategic road
and rail network to ease congestion and
improve access to major developments.

• Broaden access to the labour market
by developing the county’s offer of work
experience and employment opportunities
• Reinvigorate many of our town centres,
ensuring that the changing roles of our
High Streets are curated effectively.
• Address the county’s strategic
infrastructure priorities by exploring
innovative funding models and external
funding opportunities.
• Implement our long-term strategic
Transport Vision for the county.
• Deliver a fair but robust regulatory
and support environment that enables
businesses to grow and create jobs.

people from
London work in

HERTFORDSHIRE

118,000

people from
Hertfordshire work in

LONDON

73,000

net outflow of commuters
from Hertfordshire to London

VISION

CONTEXT

KEY FACTS

THRIVE

PROSPER

ACHIEVE POTENTIAL

HEALTHY & SAFE

DELIVERING OUR VISION

887,400
ADULTS

Hertfordshire the people

1,180,900

in Hertfordshire

Estimated population of

HERTFORDSHIRE

293,500
UNDER 19’S

Agenda Pack Page 137

expected to grow by

in Hertfordshire

175,000

Set to rise

by 2031

Making up

33% 24%

OF THE POPULATION

AGEING
POPULATION
Over 85’s projected

18% QUALIFICATIONS
aged 16 and over have no

to rise by 137.5% by 2030

43%

CONTACT US

HERTFORDSHIRE
POPULATION

Compared to 22.5% of people in England

under

20

OR

over

65

by 2031

VISION

CONTEXT

KEY FACTS

THRIVE

PROSPER

ACHIEVE POTENTIAL

HEALTHY & SAFE

LOW LEVEL

Agenda Pack Page 138

YEARS

CONTACT US

CHILD
POVERTY

3.1% of unemployment

LIFE
EXPECTANCY

DELIVERING OUR VISION

85%

32% highest 1% lowest

of residents

114,000
5.4 7.2

Lower in the most
deprived areas

10%

POPULATION
living with multiple long
term health conditions

providing

SATISFIED

UNPAID CARE

4,000 are under 18 year olds

with HERTFORDSHIRE
compared to 78% of people nationally

88.5%
SCHOOLS

Judged good or outstanding

Average of

7.8 crimes
PER 1,000 PEOPLE
reported in Hertfordshire

VISION

CONTEXT

KEY FACTS

THRIVE

PROSPER

ACHIEVE POTENTIAL

HEALTHY & SAFE

DELIVERING OUR VISION

CONTACT US

Opportunity for

Agenda Pack Page 139

everyone to
achieve their
potential
We want everyone to have the opportunity to
enjoy a happy, fulfilling and independent life.
Where people encounter difficulties or
challenges, we want them to be able tackle
these issues early on, minimising the impact
on their lives, the lives of their families and the
communities around them.

VISION

CONTEXT

KEY FACTS

THRIVE

PROSPER

ACHIEVE POTENTIAL

HEALTHY & SAFE

Hertfordshire is generally affluent county, where its residents receive a good education
and enjoy a good standard of living. However, this sometimes hides the fact that the
county is also home to areas of deprivation, disadvantage and social exclusion.
Working with our partners, we will:

Every child in Hertfordshire to have a
good start in life with a place at a good
school with additional support provided
where needed.

• Bring key services together at our Family
Centres to ensure every child is ready to
thrive when they begin school.

Agenda Pack Page 140

We want:

Once leaving education, everyone to be
able to live independently in supportive
communities.
Those who need our care the most are
provided with personalised support that
meets their individual needs.
Everyone to be treated with dignity
and respect with the opportunity for their
individual views on issues to be heard.

• Continue to improve educational
standards and raise aspirations and
attainment;, maintaining the provision
of good schools including for those with
special educational needs and disabilities
• Increase people’s resilience by providing
them with the information, tools and
services they need to help themselves.
• Ensure everyone can enhance their
opportunities through access to lifelong
learning.
• Enable independent living by improving
the supply and choice of accommodation
options available in the county.
• Help those who most need to live at home
independently for longer by investing in
the latest supportive technology
• Support carers in the invaluable role they
play looking after loved ones.

DELIVERING OUR VISION

CONTACT US

VISION

CONTEXT

KEY FACTS

THRIVE

PROSPER

ACHIEVE POTENTIAL

HEALTHY & SAFE

DELIVERING OUR VISION

CONTACT US

Opportunity to

enjoy healthy
and safe lives
Agenda Pack Page 141

We want everyone to have the opportunity to
live healthy lives for as long as possible and to
live safely in their communities.
Recognising the significant effect that
remaining healthy and safe has on happiness
and life chances, we want all services to work
together to improve the overall wellbeing of our
residents, including effective early intervention
to help tackle inequalities.

VISION

CONTEXT

KEY FACTS

THRIVE

PROSPER

ACHIEVE POTENTIAL

HEALTHY & SAFE

The health of Hertfordshire’s population is generally better than the national average,
but problems persist in parts of our communities with serious but avoidable conditions
such as obesity and excessive alcohol consumption. At the same time, incidences of
individuals experiencing mental health difficulties are on the rise especially with
children and adolescents and more people are living into old age with long term
conditions including heart disease and diabetes.

Agenda Pack Page 142

Crime rates in the county remain low, although we have seen an increase in ‘hidden’
offences such as child sexual exploitation, domestic abuse, and cyber enabled crime.
We want:

Working with our partners, we will:

Joined up health and care services
that provide tailored support to those who
need it to improve their physical and
mental health.

• Integrate health and social care services to
improve the support that people receive.

Fewer hospital admissions, with partners
working together to support patients to return
to their own homes as soon as possible.
Residents to make changes to their lives
to improve and maintain their own health.
Even lower levels of crime and anti-social
behaviour and effective measures in place
to respond to emergencies.
Consumers protected from rogue traders,
scams and illegal sales of harmful agerestricted products to young people.

• Improve the health of the county’s
population, employing preventative
strategies to help reduce or delay the
need for health and care services.
• Reduce the number of accidental deaths
by undertaking preventative safety work
• Address serious violent crime in
Hertfordshire, taking a shared approach to
tackling knife crime, modern slavery and
cross county border drug dealing.
• Develop closer working arrangements
with our emergency service partners to
provide collaborative services in an ever
more effective and efficient way
• Work with communities to ensure they
are prepared for emergencies such as
a flooding, a major fire or an infectious
disease outbreak.

DELIVERING OUR VISION

CONTACT US

VISION

CONTEXT

KEY FACTS

THRIVE

PROSPER

ACHIEVE POTENTIAL

HEALTHY & SAFE

DELIVERING OUR VISION

CONTACT US

Delivering our vision

Collaborative leadership

We are ambitious for our residents and communities and are
demanding of ourselves as an organisation. We have outlined
our priorities for Hertfordshire and the actions we will take
to achieve these aims. In doing so, we will focus on the
following areas.

Many of the challenges our county faces will not be solved by
organisations working in isolation. Instead we need to work
collaboratively with our key partners across the public, private
and community and voluntary sectors to develop shared ambitions
and solutions.

Citizen focus

We will break down barriers and areas of silo working so that we
can tackle the challenges of today and develop new and innovative
ways of working that deliver better outcomes for our communities in
the future.

Agenda Pack Page 143

Our residents are all very different, whether this is in their ethnic
background, age, gender, religion or other factors. We will use this
diversity to drive innovation, a culture of fairness and respect and
equality of opportunity for all.
We want everybody in the county has the opportunity for their views
to be heard. We will work with our residents, young and old, to shape
and design the delivery of services so that they are sensitive to local
need and ensure that the decisions we take are informed by effective
and inclusive consultation and engagement.
We also want our residents to make an active contribution to their
local area. We will encourage residents to get involved with local
issues, and engage volunteers in a range of roles, to help improve life
in our communities and get things done.

We are having a constructive dialogue with government on how best
to address the needs of our communities and will ensure we speak up
for Hertfordshire when the need arises. Whether that be expressing
the need to support the county in managing growth or championing
the interests of Hertfordshire commuters with the rail companies,
we will ensure the interests of our residents and local businesses
are heard.
Operational excellence
We are proud to deliver key services which make a real difference to
the residents of Hertfordshire.
We strive for excellence and are always ready to learn and improve
on what we do in pursuit of that goal. We welcome feedback about
our services and regularly compare ourselves against other local
councils to gather new ideas and ensure we are providing value
for money.
We recognise the need to spend taxpayers’ money wisely and
have rigorous processes in place to ensure we make best use of
our resources, including investing in preventative measures and
long-term solutions.

VISION

CONTEXT

KEY FACTS

THRIVE

PROSPER

ACHIEVE POTENTIAL

HEALTHY & SAFE

DELIVERING OUR VISION

CONTACT US

Delivering Transformation
We have a strong track record in improving our services in innovative
ways. Given the challenges we face, it is vital we continue to
transform the way we work to improve our services whilst reducing
our costs.

Agenda Pack Page 144

A key part of this will be tapping into the ever-growing possibilities
offered to us by technology. We will take advantage of new digital
solutions, tools and techniques to improve and tailor our services to
changing needs of our residents.
We will also adopt more a commercial mind set. In ways which are
in line with our wider social and ethical values, we will increase our
income to help protect our services. Through our property company,
Herts Living Ltd, will also use our surplus land to play our part in
providing new homes for the county.

Developing our people
Hertfordshire County Council is one of the largest employers in the
county. We are proud of our staff, care about their wellbeing and
recognise the importance of supporting their development. We know
that we can only provide the best services if we can recruit and retain
excellent employees.
We employ a flexible working culture that we believe supports staff to
deliver their best. Giving them greater control over when and where
they work provides them with the ability to carry out their role in the
most productive way possible, whilst enabling them to also maintain a
vital work – life balance.

VISION

CONTEXT

KEY FACTS

THRIVE

PROSPER

ACHIEVE POTENTIAL

HEALTHY & SAFE

DELIVERING OUR VISION

CONTACT US

Our equalities commitment

How to contact us

Hertfordshire County Council is committed to
achieving diversity and equality of opportunity as a
large employer of people and as a provider of services.

To find out more about the services we provide
you can:

Agenda Pack Page 145

This is about more than legal compliance: we want to
ensure that Hertfordshire is free from discrimination and
make every effort to positively promote equality and
diversity within our workforce and across the services
we are responsible for.
As a deliverer of services, we will promote diversity
and equality in everything we do to improve the quality
of life of everyone living in, working in and visiting
Hertfordshire - to create a county of opportunity for all.
As a provider of services, we recognise, respect and
celebrate the fact that our staff and the people we
serve are all very different, whether this is in our ethnic
background, family setting, gender, religion and belief
or other factors. We believe that diversity can drive
innovation, a culture of fairness and respect and
equality of opportunity for all.

• Look at our website www.hertfordshire.gov.uk
where you can access many of our services online
• Telephone. If you wish to contact us you can call
0300 123 4040
• Write to us. Hertfordshire County Council, County
Hall, Pegs Lane, Hertford, SG13 8DQ
• Get email updates from Update Me. Sign up and
choose to receive email updates from a variety
of services across the county council.
www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/updateme

Follow us on social media
@hertscountycouncil
@hertscc
@hertscc

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item No.

HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
RESOURCES AND PERFORMANCE CABINET PANEL

8

FRIDAY 5 JULY 2019 AT 10:00AM
FINANCIAL OUTLOOK
Report of Director of Resources
Authors:

Scott Crudgington, Director of Resources

Executive Members: Ralph Sangster, Executive Member for Resources and Performance

1

Purpose of report

1.1

To update Panel on the overall financial outlook for the Council, and to seek Panel’s
views on areas where further work should be done as part of this Integrated
Planning round.

2

Background

2.1

It is clear that the Council faces significant financial challenges. This includes how
demand for our services is outstripping the funding the Council has available, and
also that there is significant uncertainty with regards to its future funding levels.
These issues were becoming apparent when the most recent Integrated Plan (for
the years 2019/20-2022/23) was approved by Cabinet and Council in February
2019. As a result of this, both Cabinet and Council agreed:
“that, in the light of the requirement for delivery of further savings in future
years, Chief Officers be commissioned to work with Executive Members and
their Cabinet Panels to develop options at the earliest possible opportunity
for the delivery of substantial additional savings”.

2.2

In May 2019, Cabinet received a report on the Financial Outlook for the Council. A
copy of this is attached to this report. Starting the refresh of the Integrated Plan in
May will be the earliest the Council has done so, reflecting the scale of the
challenge faced.

2.3

Cabinet agreed the following recommendation to:
invite Cabinet Panels meeting in June and July 2019 to consider the
financial outlook, the initial high level options suggested and to suggest
other areas that the Council should be considering in order to meet the
financial challenges;

Agenda Pack Page 147

1

2.4

As such, Panel are invited to comment on the following questions:


What are the Panel’s views on the overall financial position outlined in Part 1
of the Financial Outlook (attached)?



What are the Panel’s views on the range of options outlined in Part 2 of the
Financial outlook, and whether there are any areas where further work
should be done as part of this IP round to identify savings ?

2.5

Work on IP proposals can then take place over the summer. Specific proposals for
any new efficiencies or policy choices will be brought forward for separate
consideration as part of the Integrated Plan process in Autumn 2019.

2.6

The Resources and Performance portfolio statement, taken from the current
Integrated Plan (IP) is also attached to this report, as Appendix 1, for reference.

3

Recommendation

3.1

That Panel considers the questions raised at 2.4 above to enable informed
proposals to be raised at future meetings of Cabinet where the IP is discussed.

4

Equality Implications

4.1

When considering proposals placed before Members it is important that they are
fully aware of, and have themselves rigorously considered the equalities
implications of the decision that they are taking.

4.2

Rigorous consideration will ensure that proper appreciation of any potential impact
of that decision on the County Council’s statutory obligations under the Public
Sector Equality Duty. As a minimum this requires decision makers to read and
carefully consider the content of any Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA)
produced by officers.

4.3

The Equality Act 2010 requires the Council when exercising its functions to have
due regard to the need to (a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation
and other conduct prohibited under the Act; (b) advance equality of opportunity
between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who
do not share it and (c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. The protected
characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 are age; disability; gender
reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and maternity; race;
religion and belief, sex and sexual orientation.

4.4

No EqIA has been undertaken in the production of this report but as proposals are
developed EqIAs will be undertaken and will include mitigation measures which
are intended to minimise the impact on any service user who may be adversely
affected by the proposals.

Agenda Pack Page 148

2

4.5

In addition to the need for Members to have due regard to the Public Sector Duty
under the Equality Act 2010, they also need to be aware that the County Council
when making decisions is under a general duty of Best Value to make
arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its functions
are exercised having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and
effectiveness.

Agenda Pack Page 149

3

Appendix 1 – the Financial Outlook report, Cabinet (May 2019)
Cabinet
Agenda Item No.

HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
CABINET
MONDAY, 13 MAY 2019 AT 2.00 PM

County Council
Agenda Item No.

FINANCIAL OUTLOOK FOR THE PERIOD 2020/21-2023/24
Report of the Director of Resources
Authors:
Scott Crudgington, Director of Resources (Tel: 01992 555601)
Steven Pilsworth, Assistant Director Finance (Tel: 01992 555737)
Benjamin Jay, Head of Corporate Finance (Tel: 01992 556257)
Executive Member:
Ralph Sangster, Resources and Performance
1

Purpose of report

1.1

To consider the financial outlook for the Council which will inform the preparation of
the Integrated Plan for the years 2020/21-2023/24.

2

Summary and Background

2.1

Attached to this report is a review of the financial outlook for the council which
outlines the financial challenges facing the Council. This includes how demand for
our services is outstripping the funding the Council has available. It also outlines
the significant uncertainty the Council faces with regards to its future funding levels.

2.2

These issues were becoming apparent when the most recent Integrated Plan (for
the years 2019/20-2022/23) was approved by Cabinet and Council in February
2019. As a result of this, both Cabinet and Council agreed:
“that, in the light of the requirement for delivery of further savings in future
years, Chief Officers be commissioned to work with Executive Members and
their Cabinet Panels to develop options at the earliest possible opportunity
for the delivery of substantial additional savings”.

2.3

The report on the Integrated Plan that was presented to cabinet and Council in
February contained the confirmation of the Director of Resources (s151 officer)
regarding the robustness of the estimates and the adequacy of the reserves held
by the Council (this is sometimes referred to as the s25 report). That report
concluded that

Agenda Pack Page 150

4

“The medium term financial position of the Council is very challenging […]. It
is recommended that the Council does not wait for the regular IP timeline in
the Autumn of 2019, but rather starts work early in the new year to develop
options for delivering medium term financial sustainability for the Council. All
options will need to be considered, including further efficiencies, income
options, transformation and policy choices.
2.4

The attached financial outlook responds to the decision of Cabinet and Council
referred to in paragraph 2.2 above. Starting the refresh of the Integrated Plan in
May will be the earliest the Council has done so, reflecting the scale of the
challenge faced.

2.5

As well as outlining the significant financial challenge faced, the financial outlook
also starts to indicate the high level areas that the Council will need to look at in
order to tackle this challenge. These are not detailed, nor are they likely to be
comprehensive. The intention is that we use the financial outlook to start the
discussion with Cabinet Panels, and to seek feedback from them on these initial
options and what other areas the Council needs to be considering.

3

Recommendations

3.1

Cabinet is recommended to:
note the financial outlook as set out in the document attached to the
Report;
note the need to proceed ahead of usual timeline for the budget
preparation to ensure adequate time to consider possible new areas for
savings;
invite Cabinet Panels meeting in June and July 2019 to consider the
financial outlook, the initial high level options suggested and to suggest
other areas that the Council should be considering in order to meet the
financial challenges;
note that specific proposals for any new efficiencies or policy choices will
be brought forward for separate consideration as part of the Integrated
Plan process in Autumn 2019.

4

Equality Implications

4.1

When considering proposals placed before Members it is important that they are
fully aware of, and have themselves rigorously considered the equalities
implications of the decision that they are taking.

4.2

Rigorous consideration will ensure that proper appreciation of any potential impact
of that decision on the County Council’s statutory obligations under the Public
Sector Equality Duty. As a minimum this requires decision makers to read and
carefully consider the content of any Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA)
produced by officers.

4.3

The Equality Act 2010 requires the Council when exercising its functions to have
due regard to the need to (a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation
and other conduct prohibited under the Act; (b) advance equality of opportunity
between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who

Agenda Pack Page 151

5

do not share it and (c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. The protected
characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 are age; disability; gender
reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and maternity; race;
religion and belief, sex and sexual orientation.
4.4

No EqIA has been undertaken in the production of this report but as proposals are
developed EqIAs will be undertaken and will include mitigation measures which
are intended to minimise the impact on any service user who may be adversely
affected by the proposals.

4.5

In addition to the need for Members to have due regard to the Public Sector Duty
under the Equality Act 2010, they also need to be aware that the County Council
when making decisions is under a general duty of Best Value to make
arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its functions
are exercised having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and
effectiveness.

Agenda Pack Page 152

6

Hertfordshire County Council
Financial Outlook: 2020-24

Agenda Pack Page 153

7

1. Executive Summary
a) The financial challenges facing local government have never been greater. The
amount of funding this Council receives from Central Government is now £150m
lower than it was in 20101. At the same time, it has faced significant increases in
demand for vital services for Hertfordshire residents, as well as in the cost of
delivering them.
b) The end of March 2020 will see the end of the current four-year Government
funding settlement for local government. It is not yet clear what the future funding
model will look like and there are a number of significant emerging Government
plans and policies, including a Spending Review, the Fairer Funding Review, and
the Business Rates Retention scheme, which will all shape that. This Financial
Outlook report considers the impact of those forthcoming changes and kick starts
the Council’s budget planning process, ensuring it can continue to be in the best
possible position to fund and provide much needed public services.
c) As an organisation, the Council has a strong track record of sensible financial
management and taking action early before issues escalate. There is a legal duty
to manage our budget responsibly.
d) In the four years from April 2019 it is expected that the costs of delivering Council
services will increase by £140m, however across the same time period we only
expect our income to grow by £50m. The result is that savings will need to be
found totalling £90m. Half of those savings are already identified but further work
will be needed to secure the rest – this is no easy task.
e) It is increasingly challenging trying to meet the rising demand and costs for the
services currently provided. This is particularly true for social care services, which
serves a growing and ageing population (the number of over 85s is projected to
rise by 137.5% by 2030) and the fact that residents with more complex needs are
now thankfully living longer, which is putting more pressure on scarce resources.
f) The Council has successfully made significant savings in the region of £315m since
2010 – but we are approaching a point where further efficiencies are increasingly
difficult to identify and deliver. Whilst all alternatives will need to be exhausted
before frontline service reductions are considered, it is clear that few, if any, such
alternatives are available and some difficult decisions lie ahead.
g) The financial outlook outlined in this paper is just one element of the Council’s wider
plans for the future, which also include a major transformation programme,
developing commercialism and innovative ways of working and playing the lead
role in ensuring good growth for Hertfordshire.
h) The report will be considered by each of the cabinet panels over the coming
months, seeking views on areas to be considered in helping to meet the financial
challenge. Proposals will then be developed and will form part of the budget
consultation in the autumn, where all residents, service users and other interested
parties will be able to have their say.
1

Considering all Government funding, including Revenue Support Grant.

Agenda Pack Page 154

8

2. Introduction
a) This financial outlook document starts the work to refresh the Council’s Integrated
Plan (IP2) for 2020-24. The overarching objective is to secure the future financial
and operating sustainability of the Council, ensuring it continues to be able to
deliver valued public services in an efficient and effective way.
b) This document is divided into 2 parts. Part 1 covers the background to the current
position, including national and local developments that define the current
operating context for the Council and considers “Where we are”.
c) Part 2 sets out the options that the Council is likely to need to consider to address
the challenges described in part 1.

The Council receives an Integrated Plan report each year in February as part of the process of setting the
budget for the forthcoming financial year. The IP also includes a medium term financial plan, and sets out
budget estimates for the next three years. The IP is prepared in the months leading up to February –
typically, work begins during the summer period.

2

Agenda Pack Page 155

9

Part 1 – Background – Where we are
a) The first part of this document will set out the key features of the financial
environment in which the Council finds itself. Key points are –
i.

In terms of the national context of local government funding, councils generally
are entering into a period of uncertainty. This is both in terms of the overall
level of grant funding for local government, but also in turn how much will be
allocated to Hertfordshire County Council.

ii.

The Council has a strong track record for its financial management - a view
supported by the independent external auditor, and the Corporate Peer
Challenge3. Separately, the recent Ofsted review of children’s safeguarding
services pointed to good operational management and an ‘impressive’ record
of attracting additional funding.

iii.

Since 2010, savings now equating to £315m per year have been delivered. Of
these, the majority (85%) have been efficiencies.

iv.

The current IP sets out clearly the pressure on Council budgets and the extent
of new savings that must be identified and planned. These rise from an
additional £20m in 2020/21, through £30m in 2021/22, to £45m in 2022/23.

3. National context
Spending Review
a) The council has now entered the last year of the 4 year funding agreement that
existed from 2016 to 2020. There is now great uncertainty regarding local
government funding after March 2020.
b) A new Spending Review is planned by Government, and was originally expected to
take place during the summer. This would have outlined the overall levels of public
expenditure for the next three years. There is now a risk that this may not happen,
and that there may be some form of one year settlement for the public sector for
next year.
c) Alongside the Spending Review, it was also expected that local government funding
reforms, including the fair funding review and business rate retention, would be
implemented from April 2020. If the Spending Review is delayed, there is also a
risk that these could be similarly delayed.
Local government funding - macro
d) It is already clear that Government is planning increased spending in some areas.
This is set out in figure 2 below, which shows that protected Government
departments can expect growth above the level of increase in overall Government
The outcomes of the Corporate Peer Challenge are available as part of the HCC Cabinet papers for
February 2019.

3

Agenda Pack Page 156

10

spending. However, as a result, unprotected departments could continue to see
cuts in Government funding. This position exacerbates the uncertainty outlined
above.

Figure 1: Anticipated changes in Government revenue (‘resource’) spending: protected versus
unprotected departmental spending (source: Resolution Foundation, March 2019) 4

Local government funding - micro
e) The funding received by Hertfordshire CC is via the same mechanisms as for other
councils. This is principally driven by a needs-based formula, which determines the
level of Government grant for each council. This is adjusted to take account of the
amounts that can be raised locally through business rates and council tax. It should
be noted that council tax increases are currently limited by a threshold beyond
which a local referendum is required – this threshold is specified each year by the
Secretary of State.
f) Government is currently reviewing the overall needs-based formula as part of the
Fair Funding Review. It is also reviewing the retention mechanisms for business
rates through the Business Rates Retention Scheme. These reviews are both
ongoing and are expected to be implemented in due course. The exact impact is
not yet possible to determine.
g) Fees and charges and specific or ring-fenced grants are also part of the funding for
councils, but are usually excluded from the considerations set out above.
Different patterns of funding
h) Despite the use of a needs-based formula, analysis of local government funding
has identified significant differences in the way the different types of councils in
Figure 1 shows the movement in total Government spending within the ‘resource departmental expenditure
limits’ (RDEL) - essentially revenue budgets allocated to Government departments.
4

Agenda Pack Page 157

11

England are funded. The chart below shows the current average position for
different types of council in England (figure 2). It shows that funding from council
tax is higher in areas where funding from Government is lower.

Figure 2: Government funding and local council tax

i) Considering the position of Hertfordshire as a county council, it can be seen that
county councils receive less funding from Government per head of population than
any other type of council, and counties are also more reliant on funding from
council tax. This means that growth in council tax is an important way that the
Council could support services in the future, but it should be noted that there is a
limit set nationally on the maximum level of possible increase each year (see
below).
4. Local context
Strong financial management since 2010
a) Hertfordshire County Council has successfully delivered significant savings since
2010. These savings mean that the current budget is some £315m lower than it
otherwise would have needed to have been if those savings had not been made.
b) The Council has adhered to a proactive approach to financial planning, and has a
good track record of delivery. This is underpinned through a number of processes,
including robust budget setting, risk analysis, and regular reporting of budget
forecasts including any remedial action required.
c) Financial planning was a noted strength in the feedback on the Corporate Peer
Challenge undertaken in 2018, which referred to a ‘mature’ approach to financial
strategy and ‘a positive history’ of financial performance5. It has also been noted by
the independent external auditor – the Council has consistently received an

Corporate Peer Challenge: Feedback report, included in the papers of the HCC Cabinet meeting of
February 2019 (item 14).
5

Agenda Pack Page 158

12

unqualified ‘Value for Money’ opinion6. In a further validation of the approaches
taken by the Council, the inspection by Ofsted of Children’s Services in 2018 found
that the overall effectiveness of services for children was good, with outstanding
performance in terms of the impact of social work practice on the lives of children
and families, referring to well managed and run services.
5. Service Transformation
a) The Council has always had a strong focus on service performance and
transformation. For example, at a time when many local authorities are
experiencing increasing cost and demand pressures within Children’s Services,
considerable progress has been made in Hertfordshire to manage the numbers of
children looked after or subject to protection plans, through approaches such as
the early provision of necessary support.
b) The Families First programme has transformed the way early help support is
managed ensuring that the needs of vulnerable children, young people and families
are identified at the earliest opportunity and that those needs are well assessed
and met by families and agencies working effectively together. The programme
has developed Families First partnership hubs, a central triage team, and regular
local triage panels which bring together a range of organisations including; district
councils, health, police, housing, schools, family centres as well as the voluntary
and community sector who provide early help support to families under one
'umbrella' of consistent practice and clearer processes. As a result there have been
increases in the number of partners taking on key worker roles.
c) The Family Safeguarding project allows adult specialists and social workers to
focus on direct, relationship-based therapeutic work and is transforming the family
life of children at the highest risk in the Hertfordshire community. Evaluation
conducted by the University of Bedfordshire evidenced a 66% reduction in
domestic abuse call outs, A&E visits by 53% and reduced the number of children
on child protection plans by 50% as well as contributing to savings for the council
of around £2.5m. The project has received national recognition and was the overall
winner of the 2017 Guardian Public Service Awards. Hertfordshire is now
supporting four other local authorities to redesign their services and extend the
evidence base of this revolutionary child protection model.
d) The ACS Connect programme is at the heart of driving forward ambitious plans to
deliver transformation in Adult Care Services as outlined in the service’s 3 year and
15 year plans. This will support delivery of savings estimated at £42m. The
programme covers a range of activities designed to manage demand, deliver better
outcomes for people who use care and support services in Hertfordshire and
ensure a balanced budget. It supports the long term strategic vision of how
services will transform in an ever changing landscape and work is centred around
the four overarching themes of the ACS 3 year plan: Information and Advice,
Connected Communities, Valuing Independence and Caring Well.
The ‘Invest to Transform’ Fund
The VFM opinion confirms whether effective arrangements are in place to ensure that money is spent
properly and in line with the objectives of economy, efficiency and effectiveness.

6

Agenda Pack Page 159

13

e) The Invest to Transform Fund (ITT) was created in 2010, to fund projects that
would achieve service transformation or efficiency savings. The following examples
are projects that would not have been possible without this investment fund. They
are a few of the projects that ITT has supported – there are many more.
f) Through the ITT fund, over 67,000 of Hertfordshire’s streetlights have been
converted to LEDs along with an improved Central Management System and by
March 2020, all of Hertfordshire’s 115,000 street lighting lanterns – with the
exception of some conservation areas – will have been converted to LED.
Requiring £18.5m of investment, this will deliver savings in energy, maintenance
and carbon costs totalling £1.87m per year. The conversion also won the Street
Lighting service Sustainability award at the Chartered Institution of Highways &
Transportation awards in 2017.
g) Also through the ITT, Cabinet agreed a £5m invest to transform allocation for Adult
Social Care to support the ACS Connect programme. This will support
achievement of savings totalling £42m per year by 2021/22 (as outlined above).
h) A further £3m investment has been recently approved for services for children with
Special Education Needs and Disabilities (SEND), to support further savings,
enhance preventative work, and reduce future demand in this area.
i) Lastly, the Council has been delivering its Inspiring Libraries programme since
2015. This has seen the roll out of the community libraries programme, leading to
refurbishment of around half the libraries estate, extending their digital facilities and
using local volunteers to help support their operation. This has enabled the Council
to keep all of its 46 libraries open (and indeed increase opening hours in some)
whilst saving £2.5m on their running costs.
Part 2 – Initial options to help tackle the financial challenges
a) Part 2 of this financial outlook report sets out areas that the Council is likely to need
to consider to address the challenges described in part 1. It is unlikely that this is
an exhaustive list, and it is expected that early publication of this document will
enable the Council to seek views from Cabinet Panels on other areas that should
be looked at.
j) The principles of creating an investment fund that can facilitate the delivery of
significant service savings have clearly been established within the Council. This is
critical to our strategy moving forward, since the planned programme of change
and transformation will depend upon more of this type of investment and will take
time to fully deliver the planned benefits. As part of its recent financial strategy, the
Council has been able to make additional provision to top up this reserve.
Different ways to deliver council services – Alternative Delivery Models
k) The Council has a long history of pragmatically considering alternative delivery
models and commercial activity. In 1999, the Council was the first in the country to
open a Customer Service Centre, changing the nature of how the Council works
with the public. In 2007 the Council established Hertfordshire Community Meals –
now known as Hertfordshire Independent Living Service – an award-winning

Agenda Pack Page 160

14

Social Enterprise. In 2013, Herts for Learning - a school improvement company was developed in partnership with Hertfordshire schools, to maintain a clear focus
on improving standards of education. This has contributed to the percentage of
Hertfordshire’s schools which are rated good or outstanding now being one of the
highest in the country. The council also established Herts Catering Ltd as a 100%
Council owned private company focusing on school catering which now returns a
dividend approaching £1m per year to support the council’s financial position.
Herts Full Stop - a school supplies service originally set up to support
Hertfordshire schools - looks continually to expand and increase its return to the
Council, and now provides services in Suffolk and Nottinghamshire.
l) This commitment to considering innovative commercial opportunities continues:
in 2018, Herts Living Ltd, the Council’s recently incorporated property
development company entered into a joint venture partnership with Morgan Sindall
with an aspiration to develop over 6,000 properties and other front line service
facilities. This has the potential to generate over £1bn in developable value for the
Council. This innovative and important project will generate new income streams
and achieve enhanced financial returns from the Council’s surplus land – one of
the Council’s key assets. Opportunities for alternative delivery approaches to
support the provision of some adult care services as well as Hertfordshire’s
libraries are also being actively explored.
6. The current Integrated Plan and the Financial Outlook
a) Budgets are under pressure for all of the Council’s services. This is true for
functions such as Highways and Libraries as much as for Social Care functions.
Social care budgets are under pressure from three key factors:
 There are more people who need support;
 Those people often have greater needs (complexity and acuity); and
 These factors mean that the price of service provision, based on a simple unit
cost analysis, will inevitably escalate from year to year.
b) Population growth has a critical influence on the Council’s spending especially for
social care services. For example, the number of over 85s living in Hertfordshire is
predicted to rise by 137.5% to 67,700 by 2030, with the number of adults with
learning disabilities increasing by nearly 15% to 24,200 over the same period. The
average cost of a residential care placement is £580 per week. (Although one
needed support costing up to £165,000 per year.) This is also the case in Adult
Disability Services and Mental Health Services. The average cost of a supported
living client is £635 per week. (Although some can cost over £250,000 per year.)
c) At the other end of the age spectrum, the Council is also having to spend more on
care for young people who have more complex needs. The average weekly cost
per child is £963. (The most expensive care costs over £700,000 per year.)
d) Overall, through the period of the current Integrated Plan (to 2022/23), it is
anticipated that the Council will face cost pressures that significantly exceed the
expected increase in resources. This difference creates the need to find additional
savings. The overall position is summarised below, and the increasing level of
overall savings, and savings still to be identified, is shown in figure 3.

Agenda Pack Page 161

15



£140m in increased costs, including
o population growth (£42m, mainly for disability services),
o price inflation pressures (£57m),
o necessary service investments (£24m), and
o legislative pressures (£17m – mainly National Living Wage).



£50m increase in resources
o Government funding reductions of £32m, offset by
o Council tax increases of £76m (through a combination of population and
property (taxbase) growth, and anticipated annual tax rate increases)



£90m gap (of which plans currently exist for £45m)

Figure 3: Savings planned and further savings required, 2019-23

d) The Council has increased its focus in recent years on the medium term outlook,
and has developed significant transformation and savings programmes. However,
the experience of setting the budget for 2019/20 illustrated clearly that the financial
position has become more challenging, and this informs the current financial
outlook.
e) Using the latest information, the IP position for 2019/20-2022/23 is therefore very
challenging – a gap of £20m, increasing by £10m, then a further £14m, to £45m by
2022/23. The chart above (figure 3) shows the required level of savings, which
builds to £90m in 2022/23. Of this, plans have been prepared for £45m with a
further £45m of savings to be found. In considering the prospect of seeking £45m
of further savings, it must be remembered that savings have been delivered
consistently every year for the last 10 years. Of the savings delivered to date, 85%
have been efficiencies and 15% have been policy choices or service reductions7.
7. Level of reserves and balances

The policy choices made include some items that do not directly impact on service delivery, such as
technical changes to debt repayment policies.

7

Agenda Pack Page 162

16

a) The Council holds a number of reserves for specific purposes. These include the
ability to fund significant transformation programmes – enabling clear plans to be
laid and delivered. However, these reserves can only be used once and are best
used as a way to secure additional reductions in day to day savings (such as
transformation).
b) The level of reserves held by HCC can be compared with those held by other
similar councils. This is shown in the chart below (figure 4), which shows that, by
comparison with other County Councils, HCC holds a relatively low level of
reserves (HCC is highlighted in black).

Figure 4: Level of Reserves; comparison between County Councils (source: CIPFA, 2018)

8. Part 1 – Conclusions
a) The first part of this review of the financial outlook has sought to set out the key
features of where the Council finds itself. Key points include:
i.

The Council is facing significant uncertainty over future funding levels.

ii.

The Council will continue to face increased demand for services, and increases
in the costs of providing those services.

iii.

Since 2010, savings now equating to £315m per year have been delivered. Of
these, the majority (85%) have been efficiencies.

iv.

HCC has a track record of strong financial management, supported by
independent opinions such as those of the external auditor, Ofsted, and the
Corporate Peer Challenge.

v.

The current Integrated Plan sets out clearly the extent of current pressure on
Council budgets and the extent of new savings that must be identified and
planned. Given the level of savings that have been delivered so far, identifying
and delivering further savings in the future will be challenging.

vi.

Levels of reserves are sufficient to meet with day to day pressures, but are low
by comparison with other county councils.

Agenda Pack Page 163

17

b) The overriding objective is to consider all options for delivering savings and
increasing income. Policy choices should only be considered as a last resort.
9. Transformation
a) As outlined earlier, the Council has a track record of delivering extensive
transformation of services across departments. These have delivered both service
improvement and savings. This transformation continues, with examples of key
projects being outlined in figure 5, below.

Figure 5: Current cross-cutting and service based change programmes

b) Many of these programmes are underway, and savings benefits are already
included in the savings plans within the current Integrated Plan (for example, the
ASC connect programme, outlined in section 5 above, had an investment and
savings package that was agreed as part of the February 2018 IP report). Where
programmes are at an early stage, it will be necessary to forecast potential benefits
to ensure they are included in the Integrated Plan forecasts.
c) Recognising the considerable work already undertaken in service departments,
further transformation programmes are focussing on organisation-wide
opportunities.

Agenda Pack Page 164

18

d) However, these initiatives are complex and it will take time to realise the full
benefits. It is expected that these new programmes will be implemented through
2020/21 and 2022/23, with full benefits being realised from 2023/24 onwards. A
good example of this is the current work at Apsley, where the rationalisation of
council office space from two buildings into one, supported by a re-modelled
environment to support staff in working more flexibly (‘smart working’) is
progressing well, but has a significant lead time.
e) This project will deliver a modern working environment for staff and save the
Council nearly £2m on lease costs, but will take several years to complete.
10. Growth
a) The document ‘Fit for the Future’ includes the shared ambition to create a
Hertfordshire that’s fit for the future - that is: fit for life, fit for work, and fit for
business. This includes well-connected, good quality homes for all; healthy,
independent and safe communities, and a thriving, productive workforce and
economy. The strategy anticipates a significant level of growth over the next
decade, including more than 100,000 new homes and 100,000 new jobs; more
than 175,000 more people using the transport infrastructure; and 37% more people
over 75. The necessary investment to support this level of growth (equivalent to at
least two more towns the size of Watford) is estimated to be at least £5bn. It would
not be possible for the Council to fund that level of investment on its own –
however, there will be cost impacts for the Council as it will undoubtedly need to
fund some of the necessary capital investment and bear some of the revenue cost
of preparing for this. Many of these pressures have not yet been included in the IP
cost estimates for future years, partly as they cannot yet be assessed with
sufficient confidence, but mainly because in many cases they will occur in the
period beyond our 4 year planning horizon. The refreshed IP will look to see what
implications there are for our 4 year plan.
b) The growth strategy is an important way in which growth in housing (and therefore
growth in council tax receipts) can be used to fund the growing cost of providing
social care and other public services. Further, growth in the economic base of the
county – with enhanced infrastructure attracting new and relocating businesses,
will help to support income from business rates which will is intended by
Government to be retained locally at a higher level in the future than it is now.

11. Commercialism
a) As has been outlined earlier, the Council has a good track record of using
innovative approaches to improve services and save money, including the use of
alternative delivery models and sharing services. The Council should consider

Agenda Pack Page 165

19

whether lessons learned from these early examples could be applied in other
areas.
b) Work will be undertaken to develop guidance to help facilitate this. This includes
three main strategic strands:
 Income generation – facilitating assessment, prioritisation and delivery of
robust income generation proposals
 In-House Transformation/Alternative Delivery Models – establishing
principles and support to assist internal review and reform of existing
activities
 Commercial Mind-Set – embedding amongst all staff an understanding of the
commercial implications of decisions and practices in all undertakings
12. Fees and charges income
a) The Council currently receives income in the form of fees and charges for a range
of services. In 2019/20 the budgeted level of this income is nearly £120m. The
Council continues to explore areas where further income can be secured – through
increased trading volumes, increases to current charges, or through identifying new
areas where charges may be appropriate.
b) Further benchmarking of fees and charges income is planned – this has already
been done for two key areas of income (Adult Care Services and Herts Business
Services) – but will be extended to consider other areas where additional fee
income could be generated.

Figure 6: Fees and charges income budgets, 2019/20

13. Asset Management Strategy
a) The current Integrated Plan requires the council to generate £10m of capital
receipts every year. This is proving to be challenging, as the focus becomes more

Agenda Pack Page 166

20

on bringing forward fewer high value sites, that may take many years to bring
forward. Also, the growth in demand for services means there is a tension between
selling those sites and holding them to meet potential future service demand. A
new Asset Management Strategy will be developed to help meet these challenges.
b) The objective of this strategy is to optimise use of Council assets such as land and
buildings. It will take into consideration current and future service delivery needs
and potential to sell sites to gain capital receipts, or to develop them to secure
future revenue income.
c) Next steps will include the development of a pipeline of potential sites to dispose of
(generating capital receipts) as well as to support the rationalisation of HCC
property to reduce the cost of maintaining those properties. However, it will be vital
to ensure a proper balance between access for residents in all areas to council
facilities with the need to minimise the running costs of the council.
14. Capital strategy
a) The current capital strategy outlines an extensive programme of service and
infrastructure investment, with the current IP setting out plans for £1bn of
investment over 4 years.
b) This should be further developed to ensure that it also supports the revenue budget,
by helping to deliver more cost-effective services as well.
c) For example, Adult Care Services are currently investigating whether investing in
providing ‘extra care’ housing facilities will provide better and more cost-effective
care for older people. A capital sum and indicative savings were included in the
2019 IP, and the department are now working up proposals.
d) Children’s Services and other service areas are also considering how investment in
capital assets might enable revenue costs to be reduced, For example, whether the
Council should invest in providing additional facilities supporting children in care.
e) The use of Herts Living Ltd (HLL) to maximise returns has been noted earlier in this
strategy. The Council will consider how it can extend the approach and maximise
the benefit of having HLL. For example in utilising smaller site opportunities for
development.
f) Inevitably, these are mostly longer term proposals that could take 2-3 years to be
developed and delivered. Also, in some cases the benefits will be to prevent costs
escalating further, rather than direct cashable savings.
15. Working with Government and external partners: Council Tax, and future
resources
a) The current IP assumes that the council tax current referendum threshold of 2% will
remain in place across the period.

Agenda Pack Page 167

21

b) The council tax position compared to other county councils with fire and rescue
responsibilities is shown below. This shows that the HCC council tax charges at
band D are average by comparison with similar councils (other councils’ charges
range from just above £1,200 to just above £1,400, and Hertfordshire is just above
£1,300).

Figure 7: Comparative levels of council tax (2018/19)

c) However, the wider financial challenges being faced mean that future rises above
those already planned for may need to be considered. The Council will look to
lobby central Government and to request greater local determination of council tax
levels. This is in line with the recent Integrated Plan consultation, that showed that
support for a council tax increase rather than service cuts had increased by 10%,
from 57% to 67%, since 2016.
d) Similarly, the Council will continue to put to Government the case for improved
overall levels of funding both for Hertfordshire and for all councils, as consultation
on the new funding mechanisms continue.
e) Finally, the Council will continue to work with wider public agencies in the local area
and further afield (for example, including Police, Health, and other services) to seek
the best use of public money in all cases, and to pursue consistent approaches to
shared challenges.

16. Savings
a) Whilst this financial outlook outlines a number of areas where the Council will look
to develop further savings and income, it is very unlikely that they alone will close
the budget gaps being faced in the future. As such, all services will be tasked with
identifying new savings in the cost of service delivery.

Agenda Pack Page 168

22

b) This is likely to be challenging given the level of savings already delivered, and
those already planned for the future.
c) Given the scale of the challenge, departments are being asked to undertake this
work during the summer 2019. Proposals can then be considered by Cabinet
Panels, where appropriate including formal public consultation during the autumn.
17. Part 2 – summary of key points
a) The second part of this document has sought to set out the key features of where
the Council may need to go next to secure its future financial and operational
sustainability. Key points include:
i.

There is a significant programme of change and transformation already in
place across the whole Council. This will continue and grow rapidly over the
next few years and will provide a stronger base for further changes in the years
to come. In some cases, those benefits are already included with IP plans.
Where there are new transformation programmes, even where they are
already underway, it will take several years to implement and fully realise the
benefits.

ii.

Commercialism could help to secure some additional benefits in future years.
However, overall income from fees and charges is already high, and key areas
such as ACS have only recently completed benchmarking work to ensure that
they are charging appropriate rates for Council services. Scope exists to
secure some additional income, but, again, this will be only part of the solution.

iii.

The strategy for asset management is an important part of rationalising Council
property and reducing property maintenance costs, but will principally
contribute to securing the target level of capital receipts within existing IP
plans.

iv.

The Capital Strategy is key to ensuring a strong relationship between revenue
budget pressures and capital investment objectives. In some cases, this
investment will help avoid further cost pressures in the future.

v.

Future budget gaps must therefore be addressed through further savings
plans.

vi.

Noting that over the last 10 years efficiencies have represented the majority
(85%) of all savings delivered, it is unlikely that this can be maintained. Difficult
decisions in some areas may be required.

18. Financial outlook - Conclusions
a) This document is placed in the context of significant budget pressure being faced by
the Council across the medium term period (2020-24). It is clear that, despite a
huge amount having been achieved already in the years since 2010, further
challenges will be presented in the years to come. Indeed, the financial challenge
has never been more acute for the Council.

Agenda Pack Page 169

23

b) In light of this, the Council needs to enhance its approach to financial planning. This
year the Council is starting the work many months earlier than usual, with this
document starting that.
c) It sets out the approach that has been taken in the period 2010-2020, and also
highlights the further initiatives already being put in place to ensure the future
sustainability of the Council. However, it also sets out that many of those new
opportunities will help to achieve our current plans, or will provide benefit later on in
the planning period – not in the first 2 years.
d) It is likely, therefore, that potential new policy choices and service reductions may
need to be considered to ensure that, overall, the Council continues to be able to
delivery much needed public services in a safe and reliable way.
e) Starting the process early will ensure that there is sufficient time for comprehensive
consultation with Members and the public, and will also allow time for alternative
support arrangements to be considered where this may be required.

Agenda Pack Page 170

24

Appendix 2 – extract from the Integrated Plan for 2019-23, relating to the Resources
and Performance Portfolio, Cabinet (Feb 2019)

INTEGRATED PLAN
PART B - STRATEGIC DIRECTION AND FINANCIAL
CONSEQUENCES
Resources and Performance Portfolio

Agenda Pack Page 171

25

Contents

Page

Portfolio on a Page

178 - 179

Section 1: Future Strategic Direction
 Key priorities for the portfolio over the period 2019/20 – 2022/23

180 - 181

 Key pressures and challenges facing the portfolio for 2019/20 –

181 - 182

 Key projects/programmes that the portfolio will deliver 2019/20 –

182 - 185

2022/23

2022/23



Benchmarking and other information used in setting Strategic
Direction and assessing service outcomes

185 - 186



Key Risks, mitigation and resilience plans

186 - 187

Section 2: Revenue Budget Information


Key Budget Movements:
o Technical Adjustments
188 - 193

o Exceptional Inflation
o Pressures
o Savings


194 - 197

Revenue Budget by Objective Area

Section 3: Capital Programme

Agenda Pack Page 172

198 - 202

26

Resources & Performance Portfolio
Strategic Direction:
•

To provide professional advice and insights, and the tools to
deliver services and enable change

Key services provided:
•

•

Agenda Pack Page 173

Key priorities and programmes:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Driving forward digital strategies to maximise the effectiveness
of digital solutions for the council and its clients.
Leading on an effective People Strategy to deliver a high
performing, engaged and committed workforce.
Maximising the use of public sector assets to drive out
efficiencies and generate ongoing revenue streams.
Driving forward further commercial opportunities for trading,
procurement and contract management.
Leading on enabling and developing a Smart, flexible and
mobile workforce.
Enable effective approaches of prevention and demand
management.
Funding – Drive forward strategic financial planning and
proactively respond to the impact of proposed changes to
Business Rates (NNDR) and government funding.
Development of key transformation proposals.

Support services including; Assurance,
Finance, HR, Improvement & Technology,
Procurement, Property, Legal, Democratic &
Member services, Communication and Policy
support.
Citizen focused services for Births, Deaths,
Marriages and Citizenship Services, Support to
the Coroner, delivery of school meals through
Herts Catering Limited and the supplies
service HertsFullstop

Key risks in achieving IP proposals:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Changes in funding and grant announcements
Volatility of and changes to local business
rates system
Council tax reforms and changes to council tax
base
Wider inflation, interest and borrowing rate
risks post Brexit
Ability to market assets and secure revenue
streams
Continuing to attract, recruit and retain an
effective workforce

27

Agenda Pack Page 174

28

Resources and Performance Portfolio: Future Strategic
Direction
1
What are the key priorities for the portfolio over the period 2019/20
– 2022/23?
Resources provide centralised support services to the Council’s
departments, as well as providing front-line services including
Registration, Coroners and Citizenship Services and Herts Business
Services. The Resources Directorate also includes Libraries, as well
as Performance and Improvement. Information on Libraries is included
in the Education, Libraries and Localism Portfolio.
The net total departmental budget for 2018/19 was £70.942m and
£26.17m of savings have been achieved between 2010/11 and
2018/19. A further £2.8m of savings are already assumed in the
baseline figures for 2019/20 rising to £8.4m by 2022/23.
A proportion of the service is carried out through third party providers
and managed under contract including pensions’ administration,
payroll, occupational health, IT support and development, HR and
finance transactions, temporary staff recruitment, facilities management
and some property services (Leasehold and empty property
management & maintenance, valuation services, capital projects
delivery and project management). Approximately 35% of the gross
Resources budget is spent on these outsourced services.
Resources has a key role in supporting the Council’s departments to
improve services and make savings enabling the Council to continue to
operate within increasingly difficult financial circumstances. In key
areas of the service such as technology we will need to sustain the
capacity of our teams in order to drive change; this may increase the
pressure to drive out savings in other areas of the service to meet the
authority’s funding gap.
The department’s strategic priorities are:
1) Providing corporate services to enable the delivery of departmental
services and projects
2) Delivering citizen services to support engagement, wellbeing and
self-service within the community
3) Leading on the future sustainability of the organisation through
collaboration and innovation and the delivery and support of major
change initiatives
4) Leading on and promoting the existence of good governance in all
aspects of the organisation

Agenda Pack Page 175

29

Our priorities over the medium term are to:
1. Be proactive enablers of change – providing leadership, direction
and support to drive transformation and improvement. This
includes;


Effective delivery of new transformational change initiatives
including Smart Working, Next Generation and Future Workforce
to support a sustainable workforce and working environment.



Making the most of our property, office and service
accommodation portfolios, including through the Councils new
property company, Herts Living Ltd and Smart Working



Increasing commercial opportunities including those relating
to major re-procurements, and supporting the delivery of Smart
Commercial and the commercial strategy



Using outcome driven technology to respond to fast-changing
digital opportunities



Having a high performing, engaged, and committed
workforce

2. Ensure that Resources Directorate meets the needs of the
organisation, provides best value for money and enables our
frontline services to continue to provide effective services. We will
continue to review our structures and ways of working to ensure
that we are as efficient as possible and can effectively support the
changing needs of the organisation.
3. Proactively respond to and manage the proposed changes to
government funding and other policy changes, including the
proposed devolution of Business Rates.
4. Support the Council’s delivery of service led projects and programmes
5. Enable effective internal and external communication and engagement
with other citizens and partners
6. Managing the strategic partnership framework for the county –
Hertfordshire Forward – which brings together the key decision
makers around the table to secure common purpose.
7. Support and enable the role of Members.
2

What are the key pressures and challenges facing your portfolio
for 2019/20 – 2022/23?


As the provider of Support Services to the organisation the
Resources Directorate needs to ensure that it responds to the ever
changing needs of departments whilst continuing to identify
opportunities to deliver savings and other efficiencies. This involves
working with services to predict and respond to the impact of

Agenda Pack Page 176

30

demographic pressures and other policy changes, ensuring
continued effective and appropriate support services.

3



Ensuring that the organisation is able to use the best technology to
improve efficiency and productivity and engagement with its
citizens. This will include use of the most appropriate fit for purpose
technology including cloud services and ensure safe and effective
transition of any changes. It will also involve maximising digital
opportunities with a user-focussed end to end service re-design,
exploiting data analysis to tailor services and pre-empt trends and
needs and efficiencies around ways of working; as set out in the
County Council’s three-year Digital Roadmap.



Supporting the council in tackling the financial challenges outlined in
the Integrated Plan, and delivering financial sustainability over the
medium term.



Responding to changes in funding; in particular the risks and
opportunities associated with changes to funding regimes including
Business Rate localisation. In addition, there is an increased risk of
more schools becoming Academies and insufficient funds to meet
the needs of the remaining schools.



Ensuring that we support the organisation to develop a workforce
strategy that ensures that we maintain the capability and capacity to
deliver current and future outcomes and we continue to attract,
recruit and retain people with the right skills, abilities and values,
particularly in key shortage skill areas including Social Work,
Planning, Digital and Legal.



Ensuring that we have the resources, knowledge and skills to
support changes in the way we operate, including the development
of the property company (Herts Living Ltd) and other commercial
opportunities.

What are the key projects/programmes that the portfolio will
deliver 2019/20 – 2022/23?
Procurement – ensuring we have effective procurement and contracts
management arrangements in place across the council. Enabling the
effective review and procurement of Directorate contracts; including the
Shared Managed Services (SMS), Temporary Staff Recruitment and
Pension Fund contracts. Spotting and engaging in opportunities for
collaborative procurement with other public sector partners.
Funding and financial planning – Resources will continue to support
the organisation in taking a strategic, medium term view of financial
challenges faced and developing option to meet these challenges. We
will proactively responding to proposed changes to Business Rates
(NNDR) and central government funding to ensure that the impact for
HCC is understood and informs Medium Term Financial Strategy.
Working with our partners, we will ensure that the impact of any

Agenda Pack Page 177

31

changes (including local growth) are understood and reflected in the
medium term financial strategy.
Transformation – Develop and drive forward new transformational
change initiatives including Smart Working, Next Generation and
Future Workforce to support a sustainable workforce and working
environment. Also ensuring there is a holistic view of these and wider
departmental change programmes
Assurance – The individual parts of the Service continue to consider
opportunities for expanding their customer base e.g. further work from
Academies and other Districts and Boroughs with a view to generating
further revenue surplus contributions or by reducing charges in relation
to Partnership Services (SIAS & SAFS).
Legal Services – supporting the Council to achieve its objectives,
particularly providing specialist and focussed support for major
initiatives, taking the opportunity to develop shared service
arrangements where appropriate, engagement with client departments
to manage in conjunction with them increasing demands for legal
advice and development of initiatives (e.g. on line resource hubs) to
reduce the reliance on Legal Services.
Information Governance – continue to support the Council with
GDPR compliance and access to information requirements.
Coroner Service - continued development of the case management
system to enable electronic referral of sudden deaths and electronic
signing and distribution of post-investigation documents to improve
service to the bereaved and efficiency. Prepare for the introduction of
the non-statutory NHS Medical Examiner Service April 2019.
Registration & Citizenship Service – continued development of
customer online appointment and ceremony booking, and development
of online payment system to improve customer service and service
efficiency. Identifying further opportunities to generate income to
improve efficiency.
County Council Election 2021 – prepare for the County Council
Election 2021
Customer Service - the new Hertfordshire.gov.uk website has been
live for two years, achieving best website award at the UK Public
Sector Communications Awards and the highest rating from society for
IT manager in the public sector. Priorities remain for its development to
maximise the potential of channel shift encouraging residents to selfserve rather than call the customer call centre; and to develop more
personalised content.
Financial and HR systems review – to prepare for the future
withdrawal of support for the current version of SAP systems in 2025,
the Next Generation project is looking for improvement and change to

Agenda Pack Page 178

32

ensure that use of the core system functionality is maximised, whilst
also reviewing future options for systems and process provision. The
drivers will be to seek improvements and efficiencies for the end user
and bring about efficiencies from the process design.
Human Resources – will continue to contribute to internal and external
major change programmes. Support the review of HR and Payroll
services in the lead up to 2021 contract through Fit for the Future, Next
Generation project.
Technology & Improvement – Drive completion of the Next
Generation project by March 2021 within the overall context of
organisational transformation. Continue to deliver the technology
roadmap to enable new ways of working across the organisation, which
includes migration to Windows 10 and Office 365 by the end of 2019
and rollout of refreshed user hardware (starting with laptops) over the
next 2 years.
Corporate Policy & Communications - Supporting services on policy
and service
changes, building the County Council’s external profile, supporting the
county’s strategic partnership and joint working arrangements through
Hertfordshire Forward and the Public Sector Chief Executives Group
and maintaining internal communication with staff to support
organisational change.
Supporting the Organisation – supporting services to deliver their
change programmes and savings and where appropriate develop the
capability and capacity to deliver improved trading income and
opportunities for partnership working.
Leading on our property and office and service accommodation


To make better use of the public sector portfolio of assets by
sharing buildings and developing more multipurpose facilities,
particularly in support of co-delivered services. This is proposed to
reduce costs and deliver better outcomes wherever possible to staff
and service customers. The council will work with partners through
the Hertfordshire Property Partnership and One Public Estate
programme.



In the context of Local Strategic Plans and the need for significant
housing and infrastructure development, to drive forward required
development and return with some or all of the profit component to
the public sector or, through private rented housing, to generate
ongoing revenue income streams to support spending on essential
services. This approach will utilise the Council’s newly established
property company (Herts Living Ltd).

Leading on increasing commercial opportunities

Agenda Pack Page 179

33



Developing the Councils commercial strategy, including:
o Implement consistent and coherent approach to HCC
companies, and options for future arm’s length entities
o Developing guidance to support the organisation in considering
commercial opportunities
o Enhance approach to strategic commercial planning & retendering
o Benchmark contract management and commercial approaches.

Leading on outcome driven technology to respond to fast-changing
digital opportunities


Targeting service-specific agile redesign to maximise quick wins –
the strategy is delivery as set out in the three-year Digital Roadmap.



Encourage greater level of user-focussed end to end service redesign, exploiting data analysis to tailor services and pre-empt
trends & needs.



Deliver an effective technology infrastructure to underpin resilient
digital first approaches across the council.



Ensure a digitally confident and competent workforce.

Leading on an effective People Strategy to deliver a high performing,
engaged, and committed workforce


Ensuring our workforce has the capability and capacity to deliver
current and future outcomes.



Positioning HCC so that we are recognised as an employer of
choice.



Developing reward frameworks that support us to attract, recruit and
retain people with the right skills, abilities and values.



Ensure Workforce plans are aligned with IP and service business
plans.



Right person, right place doing the right thing.

Leading on developing and enabling SmartWorking throughout the
organisation


Leading widespread cultural change to drive increased
collaboration, mobility and flexibility.



Delivering modern technologies to enable smarter ways of working
as the new normal.



Ensure close links to office estate consolidation, people strategy
and digital workstreams.

Agenda Pack Page 180

34

Supporting the right approaches to prevention & demand
management


Working with services and partners to identify and analyse the
quantum of funding supporting prevention activity and the outcome
of such spend.



Supporting the development of outcome measures and toolkits.

Key savings proposals include:
Resources Directorate has looked to reduce the costs of its operation,
ensuring that it is efficient and fit for purpose. Since 2010 it has
delivered savings of £26.17m rising to £31.79m by 2022/23. This
included working with external partners to lever out savings through
more efficient ways of working and maximising the use of available
technology where appropriate. It continues to review opportunities for
efficiencies including reducing the use of our office space and joint
working with partners to share fixed costs and generate income.
The proposals set out in the IP cover:
 Further reduction in back office costs – this includes savings
across each of the Resources teams - £0.304m
 Additional income from traded and statutory services - £0.430m
 Property and asset management, including energy - £2.180m
 Serco SMS contract savings - £0.111m
Key to future savings will be the extent to which the Directorate can
identify further efficiencies from the key cross-cutting transformation
programmes. In the short term there may be a requirement for
additional investment to support and drive the transformational
changes across the organisation.
4

How has the portfolio reviewed its effectiveness / value for money
in delivering service outcomes?
The service undertook a comprehensive review of the level and scope
of its services through joint work with Essex County Council, and ten
other county councils to inform the 2016/17 budget plan. This exercise
identified that we compare relatively favourably on costs and scope of
service spending 4.4% of our gross budget on support service with only
one of the 10 other councils spending a lower proportion.
Subsequent to this a number of further exercises have been
undertaken:


Legal Services – are part of the Public Law Partnership (PLP is the
legal services partnership of authorities in Essex, Hertfordshire,
Suffolk and Cambridgeshire). PLP share staff, legal information,

Agenda Pack Page 181

35

know-how and training to ensure value for money. Our aim is also to
work closely with other legal departments in Hertfordshire
authorities to share training and, where appropriate, resource.

5



SERCO– the outcome of a previous review undertaken by an
independent assessor revealed that the overall contract price
across all service lines is 9% below reference group average, and
therefore continues to represent value for money at the aggregate
level. The Council has taken advantage of the opportunity to extend
the contract from March 2019 by 2 years. In doing so it has been
able to negotiate further savings on the contract, reducing cost not
just in Resources but in ACS and children’s services too.



Property services – the work to develop the approach to
management and development of property assets has involved
research with external providers and other organisations to
determine options and best practice in this area. . This can be
achieved both through the implementation of the ‘Accommodation
Strategy’ and through working with “One Public Estate” to pump
prime collaboration across all Herts public sector.



Procurement – the Central Buying Consortium benchmarking
exercise results (published in early 2017) showed that of the 8
authorities participating, Hertfordshire ranked the second from
lowest for cost of service, despite having the second from highest
level of externally procured spend. Likewise, the Society of County
Treasurers procurement benchmarking exercise of 12 authorities
(published in early 2017) ranked Hertfordshire lowest in terms of
cost of the central procurement team as a percentage of net
revenue budget.

What are the key risks in delivering projects and programmes for
this portfolio, and what mitigations are in place? What steps are
being taken to ensure resilience?
Major budget related risks are set out in the Sensitivity Analysis (IP Part
A – Overview) with a number of these relating to this portfolio. In
particular:


potential income from business rate incentives; success of the Local
Enterprise Partnership; impact of business rate appeals;



the Collection Fund balance and council tax base for future years,
as well as council tax support schemes and wider council tax
reforms;



outstanding grant announcements;



inflation: non-pay inflation including exceptional inflation;



delivery of savings to timescale;



interest rates, impacting on borrowing costs and investment income;

Agenda Pack Page 182

36



ability to sell assets and secure capital receipts; and



potential impact of the decision to exit the EU on inflation, treasury
management, the property development market and staff
recruitment and retention.

Some of the key mitigations in place include:


Continuing to review and manage our overall resource position
including changes to grant funding.



Continued commitment to deliver savings through robust project
management and ensuring the focus remains on key priorities.



The availability of contingency funding which alongside general fund
and specific reserves takes account of the uncertainties and risks
across the organisation.



Continued leadership of cross-cutting transformation programmes
to support transformation change across the organisation and
deliver future savings.



Workforce planning and strategy to ensure that we recruit, engage
and retain a highly performing workforce and deal with key skill
shortage areas.

Agenda Pack Page 183

37

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item No.

HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
RESOURCES AND PERFORMANCE CABINET PANEL

9

FRIDAY 5 JULY 2019 AT 10:00AM
DRAFT FINANCIAL STRATEGY FOR THE PERIOD 2020/21-2023/24
Report of Director of Resources
Authors:

Scott Crudgington, Director of Resources

Executive Members: Ralph Sangster -Resources and Performance
1

Purpose of report

1.1

To update the Panel on the discussions held across other Council Cabinet Panels
during June and July 2019, further to the Cabinet discussion in May covering the
overall Council Financial Outlook. This report provides the Resources and
Performance Panel with an update on the discussions that took place in other Panel
meeting, prior to this being reported to Cabinet in July 2019.

2

Background

2.1

Cabinet received a report covering the Financial Outlook facing the Council in May
2019. Part 1 of that report covered the background to the current position, including
national and local developments that define the current operating context and
financial challenges faced by the Council. Part 2 set out the options that the
Council is likely to need to consider in addressing those challenges.

2.2

Given the challenging nature of the financial outlook that report described,
characterised by significant levels of uncertainty and also by a very challenging
level of savings to be delivered by the Council, it was agreed that this report should
then be considered by all Cabinet Panels in their June and July cycle of meetings.

2.3

This report provides an update to Resources and Performance Cabinet Panel
regarding the discussions that have been had in the different panels as a result.
This report will progress to Cabinet on 8 July 2019.

Agenda Pack Page 185

1

3

Recommendations

3.1

That the Resources and Performance Cabinet Panel:

4



Notes the feedback that has been provided from the various Cabinet Panels.



Recommends to Cabinet that Chief Officers are requested to urgently
progress work on new savings proposals, as part of the Integrated Plan
process.



Considers the extent of lobbying already under way and any further
opportunities that may arise.

Issues and analysis
Ongoing uncertainty

4.1

The future level of resources available to the Council continues to be uncertain. It
appears increasingly unlikely that expected three years Spending Round will
happen. It is considered likely that, in the absence of a three year spending review,
the funding for 2020/21 is most likely to comprise of a ‘roll-forward’ of the current
arrangements in place for 2019/20. However it is not yet clear exactly what this
means, including whether there will be a continuation of one-off funding elements
such as the social care grant, the fire fighters pension funding, and winter
pressures money.

4.2

It was also expected that there would significant changes to local government
funding (including the Fair Funding Review, and revised Business Rates Retention
arrangements) that would be implemented from April 2020. As a result of the delay
to the spending review, it now seems likely that these will not be enacted until the
following year (2021).

4.3

In summary, a budget cycle that was always anticipated to involve significant
challenges (both the magnitude of savings required and the uncertainty over
funding levels) has proven to be even more uncertain than expected, and this
uncertainty is unlikely to be resolved before the Autumn, and is expected to repeat
through the next budget planning cycle as well (for 2021/22).

4.4

Whilst considerable uncertainty over exact funding levels remains, it is clear that
the council faces significant financial challenges in the coming years. As such it is
recommended that Chief Officers are requested to urgently progress work on new
savings proposals, as part of the Integrated Plan process.

4.5

At this stage it is suggested that all areas outlined in part 2 of the Financial Outlook
report are considered to provide options to reduce costs or increase resources for
the Council.

4.6

Previous practice is that specific savings proposals (Policy Choices) are
considered by Cabinet Panels in October. Much will depend on whether any new

Agenda Pack Page 186

2

information emerges from Government to which might help to clarify the resourcing
position.
Lobbying
4.7

In the usual way, Government is consulting on the proposed changes to the
financial mechanisms affecting councils. The Council continues to respond to these
consultations as they arise. Recent submissions have included comments on
proposals relating to business rates and also to provide data to support the
analysis of relative ‘needs’ and ‘resources’ as part of the Fair Funding Review.
Data submissions have also been made to inform the development of the Spending
Review. Some submissions are requests for specific data, others relate more to
policy formulation. The Council has also submitted evidence to the Housing,
Communities and Local Government Committee inquiry into local government
finance and the 2019 Spending Review.

4.8

The Council also works with sectoral leaders such as the Local Government
Association (LGA) and the similar representative groups. The Council is an active
participant in the County Council Network (CCN), and the Society of County
Treasurers. Our submissions to Government consultations reflects local issues, but
is also informed by wider networks and the intelligence and information they can
provide. The CCN actively promotes and lobbies on behalf of county councils, and
is involved in discussions with Government on a number of matters, including how
a one year ‘roll-forward’ of spending plans might be implemented, and the risks and
opportunities for county councils that this presents. Further details on this can be
found at the following link:
https://www.countycouncilsnetwork.org.uk/fairer-future-for-counties/

4.9

These lobbying activities focus on the Council’s common interest with other upper
tier authorities. However, the Council also contributes to national debates such as
on the cost and funding of social care, where this also includes unitary authorities
such as London Boroughs and Metropolitan Borough Councils. There is also coordination with other Hertfordshire councils (such as in the work to secure a
business rates retention pilot), and the Council will, where possible, support
collective submissions from the other Hertfordshire councils as well as providing a
separate response.

5

Feedback from other Cabinet Panels
Constraints of meeting dates and agenda preparation

5.1

Due to the timing of the despatch of this paper and the meeting schedule for the
various Cabinet Panels, the paper will be required to be issued in two parts, as
follows.


This summary report, issued with the Agenda Pack.



A supplementary paper, containing an appendix to this report which set out
the collated feedback from

Adult Care and Health Cabinet Panel (from 6 June),
3

Agenda Pack Page 187






Public Health and Prevention Cabinet Panel (21 June)
Children, Young People, and Families Cabinet Panel (from 25 June),
Community Safety and Waste Management Cabinet Panel (28 June),
Growth, Infrastructure, Planning and Economy Cabinet Panel, and
Highways and Environment Cabinet Panel (both on 1 July)

5.2

Verbal feedback will be provided in the Cabinet meeting on 8 July 2019 to cover
the discussion from the Resources & Performance Cabinet Panel (5 July) and from
the Education, Libraries and Learning Cabinet Panel (8 July).

6

Equality Implications

6.1

When considering proposals placed before Members it is important that they are
fully aware of, and have themselves rigorously considered the equalities
implications of the decision that they are taking.

6.2

Rigorous consideration will ensure that proper appreciation of any potential impact
of that decision on the County Council’s statutory obligations under the Public
Sector Equality Duty. As a minimum this requires decision makers to read and
carefully consider the content of any Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA)
produced by officers.

6.3

The Equality Act 2010 requires the Council when exercising its functions to have
due regard to the need to (a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation
and other conduct prohibited under the Act; (b) advance equality of opportunity
between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who
do not share it and (c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. The protected
characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 are age; disability; gender
reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and maternity; race;
religion and belief, sex and sexual orientation.

6.4

No EqIA has been undertaken in the production of this report but as proposals are
developed EqIAs will be undertaken and will include mitigation measures which
are intended to minimise the impact on any service user who may be adversely
affected by the proposals.

6.5

In addition to the need for Members to have due regard to the Public Sector Duty
under the Equality Act 2010, they also need to be aware that the County Council
when making decisions is under a general duty of Best Value to make
arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its functions
are exercised having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and
effectiveness.

Background Information:
Cabinet – 13 May 2019
https://democracy.hertfordshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=146&MId=302&Ver=4
Appendix A – Feedback from Cabinet Panels (to follow)

Agenda Pack Page 188

4

Agenda Item
No:

HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

10

RESOURCES AND PERFORMANCE CABINET PANEL
COMMERCIAL INVESTMENT: SMALL SITE DEVELOPMENT
Report of the Director of Resources
Authors:

Sass Pledger – Assistant Director - Property
(Tel: 01992 555970)
Jolyon Adam, Finance Manager – Capital &
Commercial (Tel: 01992 555078)

Executive Member:

Ralph Sangster (Executive Member, Resources &
Performance)

Local Member: Michael Hearn
1.

Purpose of report

1.1

To invite Councillors to consider and make recommendations to
Cabinet on a proposed strategy to deliver capital receipts from the sale
of small residential sites to Herts Living Limited (HLL) for development;
including the establishment of a limit for investments required to
facilitate this activity.

1.2

To detail the financing of the proposed strategy and to seek a
recommendation from the Panel to for Cabinet for the approval of a
loan to be issued to HLL to finance the purchase and development of
council land at Shephall Green, Stevenage.

1.3

To enable the Panel to consider whether to recommend to Cabinet that
it delegates the approval of future investments, subject to a rolling £5
million limit, for the purposes of implementing the proposed strategy to
the Director of Resources, in consultation with the Executive Member
for Resources and Performance.

2.

Summary

2.1

HLL was incorporated on 5 September 2017 with a target of
maximising value from capital receipts from the Council’s surplus land
portfolio, via innovative approaches to property development.

Agenda Pack Page 189

1

2.2

To date, much activity has been undertaken by the Council and HLL in
relation to the establishment of a Joint Venture in order to deliver
developments on substantial sites, however the early proposals and
original business case always included the expectation that this would
only be one element of HLL’s activity.

2.3

This report details and proposes the adoption of a strategy around
disposal of small sites for development, via HLL, and the associated
authorisations around commercial investments required in order to
finance these.

2.4

This report contains detailed proposals for the authorisation of a loan
from the Council to HLL to facilitate the development of the first of
these sites, at Shephall Green, Stevenage. It is proposed that the
commercial investment decision around subsequent sites will be
delegated to the Director of Resources, in consultation with the
Executive Member for Resources and Performance, within a £5 million
limit.

2.5

This report is supported by more detailed information which is exempt
under paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to Local Government Act
1972 (as amended), which is contained in the accompanying Part 2
report.

3.
3.1.

Recommendations
The Resources and Performance Cabinet Panel is invited to note the
information contained within the report and to recommend to Cabinet
that it:
i.

approves the proposed strategy set out in the report for disposal
of small surplus sites directly to Herts Living Limited for
development and sale on the open market;

ii.

approves the establishment of a loan facility to Herts Living
Limited, in order to undertake the strategy referred to in (i)
above, from within the Capital Investments budget set in the
2019/20 Integrated Plan to support Herts Living Limited activity;
such facility to be subject to a rolling limit of £5 million;

iii.

subject to (iv) below, approves the issue of a loan to Herts Living
Limited to finance the purchase and development of land at
Shephall Green, Stevenage

iv.

delegates to the Director of Resources, in consultation with the
Executive Member for Resources and Performance, authority to
finalise the terms and sum of the loan referred to in (iii) above,
subject to the £5 million limit set out in (ii) above;

Agenda Pack Page 190

2

v.

delegates to the Director of Resources, in consultation with the
Executive Member for Resources and Performance, authority to
take future investment decisions for subsequent commercial
investments to Herts Living Limited under the strategy referred
to in (i) above, including authority to finalise the terms and sum
of any future loan, subject to the £5 million limit set out in (ii)
above.

4.

Background – Herts Living Ltd (Commercial Investments)

4.1.

Cabinet has previously considered a report in relation to the
establishment of a wholly owned property company on 13 March 2017
with the remit of entering into a joint venture partnership with a
commercial developer to develop sizeable plots of surplus council land,
as well as independently pursue additional opportunities to achieve
financial returns from other elements of the Council’s surplus land and
asset portfolio.

4.2.

The business case for the establishment of Herts Living Limited (HLL)
was approved by Cabinet on 10 July 2017, and also included
expectations that HLL would both work with the prospective joint
venture partner as well as pursue other projects.

4.3.

Cabinet approved a report on 19 March 2018 confirming the
appointment of Morgan Sindall as joint venture (JV) partner following
the conclusion of a procurement process. The objectives of this joint
venture focussed on the development of larger plots of surplus council
land. This report also recommended that Cabinet proposed to Council
that a limit of £50 million be established within the (then) Capital &
Asset Strategy for non-Treasury investments. This limit included
Commercial Investments, such as loans to HLL for both joint venture,
and direct developments.

4.4.

This proposal was approved by County Council as an amendment to
the Capital & Asset Strategy on 27 March 2018.

4.5.

Following changes in disclosure requirements from Central
Government, the Council was required to split out separate Treasury,
Capital, and Investment Strategies for the 2019/20 Integrated Plan (IP)
process. During this process, the Capital and Investment Strategies
were amended to incorporate the £50 million limit on non-treasury
investments. The IP, including these strategies, was approved by
County Council in February 2019.

4.6.

The 2019/20 IP also established a capital budget for loans to HLL in
2019/20 of £10.6m to enable it to undertake development activity
(either directly, or via the JV) on surplus council land. These loans were
confirmed as capital expenditure within the requirements of the Local
Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) Regulations

Agenda Pack Page 191

3

2003, and funded by the capital receipts received from the sale of land
being developed.
5.

Background – Capital Receipts

5.1.

The Council has a capital receipts target of £10 million per annum and
the Estates Team is tasked with securing such receipts from the open
market.

5.2.

Meeting this target can be assisted from securing planning consents on
small surplus sites and then selling such land assets for the optimum
value. This is the traditional approach regarding capital receipts,
however the establishment of HLL enables the opportunity for the
group (the County Council and HLL) to retain development profits
which would otherwise be inaccessible.

5.3.

There is the potential for this work stream to be significant, and the
Council has already identified a pipeline of 30 such small sites suitable
for development, subject to planning. In some cases, such as Shephall
Green, Stevenage, this planning permission has already been secured
and approval for its disposal has been agreed by the Director of
Resources in consultation with the Executive Member for Resources
and Performance under delegated powers. The land value for the site
is being agreed and will be reported to the above for final sign off
shortly.

5.4.

The Council has supported establishment of a Joint Venture vehicle,
Chalkdene Developments (a joint venture between HLL and Morgan
Sindall), however the nature of this opportunity is too small for this
vehicle and this route would offer poor value. The scale and level of
risk in this strategy offers an opportunity for HLL to undertake the
development directly, thereby securing the full developer’s profit within
a council owned company.

6.

Small Site Development – Strategy

6.1.

It is anticipated that the Council can continue to identify development
opportunities within its surplus assets portfolio over the medium to
long-term to support a strategy – a pipeline of 30 appropriate sites for
development has already been identified – a number of these have
been detailed in Appendix A of the accompanying Part 2 Report. The
proposal is that the Council will secure planning permission on small
sites earmarked for disposal, and sell these to HLL, as well as
providing loan financing for the developments. This will take place
within a rolling equity envelope of £5 million of loans between the
Council and HLL to provide finance for these projects.

6.2.

Authorisation for any disposals of land in relation to this strategy will be
progressed using the Council’s established processes.

Agenda Pack Page 192

4

6.3.

In respect of the disposal of the land, the Council must meet its duty,
under section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972, to secure best
consideration reasonably obtainable and valuation advice will be
sought to ensure this is the case for each specific disposal to HLL. This
is in line with the legal advice and processes around disposal of land in
line with best value requirements detailed in section 6.4 of the report to
Cabinet in March 2018.

6.4.

HLL will undertake the procurement of resources to support the project
and appoint suitably experienced and qualified professionals to design,
build, and sell the assets.

6.5.

With the exception of Shephall Green, where authority for the
commercial investment is sought within this paper, it is proposed that
authority for the Council to invest in relation to subsequent sites be
delegated to the Director of Resources, in consultation with Executive
Member for Resources and Performance, following consideration of the
detailed financial model of each case.

6.6.

Over time, due to retention of development profits, HLL’s balance sheet
will develop to the point that it can begin to self-finance future
developments, and council loans will no longer be required.

6.7.

If sites are considered to carry an increased risk in relation to property
development, for example listed buildings, the Council will secure
planning consent, and sell this land to the open market in the normal
way.

6.8.

Initial developments set out in 6.1 would entail loans being advanced to
HLL to both purchase these sites from the Council, and develop them.
For early loans, interest would have to be accrued, and repaid upon
sale of the completed homes alongside repayment of the loan. Interest
payments to the Council (albeit deferred in cash terms) will provide an
income stream to the Council which offsets the cost of the borrowing
that the Council incurs on its side of the financing. This will be covered
in more detail in Section 8 below, and in the accompanying Part 2
Report, however the overall process is set out below:






the Council advances an initial tranche of loan to HLL for land
value and early costs;
HLL purchases land from the Council, and commences
development. The Council applies this initial capital receipt
against its annual target;
HLL draws further loan sums as and when required to support
development cashflows;
Once development is complete HLL markets properties for
sale;
Once properties are sold, HLL uses proceeds to repays loans
to the Council. This repayment represents a second capital

Agenda Pack Page 193

5




6.9.

receipt to the Council, which is used to offset borrowing the
Council has incurred in order to cashflow the loans to HLL;
HLL will retain development profit (less corporation tax), which
can either be used as a dividend payment to the Council, or
reinvested into other projects;
The Council receives its initial capital receipt for land sale, as
well as the difference (spread) between the interest rates of
any borrowing required to lend money to HLL, and the interest
paid by HLL.

The scale of this development activity will need to be at a sufficient
level to make the strategy meaningful. A rolling limit has been proposed
for total loans advanced at any one time to HLL in relation to this
activity of £5 million. This will support a staggered programme
whereby, once the limit is approached or reached, repayment of loans
for earlier sites will, in time, create headroom for new loans – but
ensure that the Council’s exposure to these loans is managed. The
effectiveness of this strategy will be kept under review, as sites move
through the development process.

6.10. It is anticipated that, for the size of sites concerned, development work
will take around 18-22 months to build and sell, after receipt of planning
permission, at which point the loans (and any accrued interest) would
be repaid.
6.11. The lead site which could be considered within this strategy is Council
land at Shephall Green, Stevenage, which is a surplus site which has
been cleared for disposal, by way of delegated approval from the
Director of Resources in consultation with the Executive Member for
Resources and Performance.
7.

Small Site Development – Shephall Green

7.1.

The Council’s land at Shephall Green represents the first likely site for
transfer and development via this process. Detailed financial modelling
of this is included within the accompanying Part 2 Report.

7.2.

Planning consent has been obtained for development at Shephall
Green for two residential dwellings, and associated car parking for a
nearby school. The Council will construct the new car park and HLL is
fully engaged in the design and programme of such.

8.

Financial Implications

8.1.

Loans advanced to HLL to support this Strategy fall within the category
of non-Treasury investments, and therefore within the £50 million limit
established for these by the council as detailed in 4.3 and 4.4. As at 31
March 2019 non-Treasury investments were as follows:

Agenda Pack Page 194

6

Non-Treasury Investment Category

Balance at 31
March 2019
£000

Notes

Service Investments: Loans

0

Loan facility of up to £260k for Herts at Home

Service Investments: Equity

565

Share capital for Herts Catering, Herts for
Learning, Herts at Home and Herts Fullstop
Credit Facility of up to £325k for Herts Living
Limited
Herts Living Limited Share Capital

Commercial Investments: Loans

90

Commercial Investments: Equity

175

TOTAL INVESTMENTS

830

8.2.

Loans in relation to small site development will fall into the category of
Commercial Investments: Loans.

8.3.

Budget was identified within the 2019/20 IP for commercial investments
in 19/20 of £10.62m, and this is anticipated to be sufficient for current
year activity.

8.4.

During the 2019/20 IP the capital expenditure for commercial
investments was anticipated to be funded in full from the capital
receipts released at the point land was sold by the Council, as for Joint
Venture projects, elements of the project financing will be input by other
parties (both the JV partner’s equity contribution, and senior debt taken
by the JV itself). In contrast, for small site developments, HLL requires
a loan for the full costs of the development, including purchasing the
land, and funding the development costs. The initial receipt that the
Council would receive for the land when selling to HLL will therefore not
provide funding for the whole of the loan.

8.5.

It is proposed, therefore, that the initial capital receipt (council land sale
to HLL) is taken against the corporate capital receipts target, and used
to reduce the capital financing requirement for other, longer term
capital expenditure. This represents the overall best value for the
Council as it reduces the costs of capital (borrowing and Minimum
Revenue Provision costs) on other, longer-term, elements of the capital
programme.

8.6.

Loans advanced to HLL will therefore be forward funded (temporarily
funded by borrowing) by the Council, until the point that the completed
homes are sold, and HLL repays the loans. Usually funding capital
expenditure (even in the short term) creates a capital financing cost for
the Council (borrowing costs), however this will be more than offset in
this situation by the interest costs which HLL will pay to the Council.
The detailed financial model is demonstrated in the accompanying Part
2 Report.

8.7.

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) is the charge that the Council
needs to make to its revenue budgets to set aside resources to

Agenda Pack Page 195

7

ultimately repay borrowing required to fund capital expenditure not
financed by grant, reserve or capital receipts. The Council’s MRP
policy, set out within the 2019/20 IP (Capital Strategy – Appendix C),
states that for capital expenditure loans to third parties the capital
receipt received when the loan is repaid can be regarded as prudent
provision – and therefore MRP does not need to be provided. This is on
the condition that an annual assessment of the security of the loan is
undertaken, and MRP is provided on any impairment to the loan. The
capital receipt arising from the repayment of the loan is then offset
against the Council’s capital financing requirement, in order to clear the
initial borrowing implication.
8.8.

The annual assessment of the security of loans to HLL will be
undertaken as part of International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS
9) requirements, which require initial impairment of financial assets
(such as investments/loans out) on an expected credit loss model, at
the point the assets are recognised within an organisations accounts.
This will represent an impairment which is a revenue charge to the
Council when the loan is recognised, but would be reversed upon
repayment. MRP will therefore be made upon this impairment in line
with the Council’s MRP policy.

8.9.

As MRP can be minimised on loans to HLL under this arrangement (as
the borrowing requirement that the council incurs will only be
temporary, until the repayment of the loan by HLL), it will be more
efficient to apply capital receipts that arise as part of the initial land sale
to other (traditional) capital expenditure within the Capital Programme
where MRP would otherwise be required, and create an ongoing
revenue pressure for the Council.

8.10. The financial treatment of these loans has been appraised by the
Council’s external advisors and confirmed to be appropriate.
Arlingclose, the Council’s Treasury Management advisors have
confirmed MRP, IFRS 9 and borrowing models, whilst Price
Waterhouse Cooper have confirmed that property transactions
between the Council and HLL directly are exempt from Stamp Duty
Land Tax (SDLT) as they fall within the same group.
8.11. Terms of the loans advanced to HLL are proposed under the following
principles, although Cabinet is requested to delegate authority to the
Director of Resources, in consultation with the Executive Member for
Resources and Performance, to confirm final arrangements:




There will be a rolling limit on total loans advanced of £5 million
in relation to direct development of small sites by HLL;
Individual loans are to be established for each project, under a
framework;
Loans will allow flexible drawdown by HLL in order to match
against project cashflows;

Agenda Pack Page 196

8





Loan agreements will include maturity dates when it is
anticipated that projects will be completed and sales achieved.
The agreements will also contain provisions for extension to the
term, should sales be delayed;
Loans will be secured against the land being transferred via
legal charge;
Interest on these loans will be charged at a commercial rate.



8.12. Detailed financial modelling is included within the Part 2 Report due to
sensitivities about anticipated land values and development costs.
9.

Risk

9.1.

The risks to this strategy are set out in the table below, alongside
mitigation measures:

Risk
Property Market Fluctuations

Delays in achieving sales

Mitigation
HLL will bear the risk of fluctuations in the property
market, however this is the inevitable
consequence of seeking to access development
profits. Appraisals will be carried out on each
investment (i.e. loan) with HLL prior to the Council
entering into agreements to sell land and fund
development. Where this analysis confirms that
profit margins are slim or high risk, the Council is
under no obligation to support the development.
Where the investment decision has already been
made, robust project management undertaken by
HLL will ensure that projects are completed to
schedule, in order to minimise risk of market
fluctuations.
Loan agreements will contain clauses for
extension should HLL experience delays in
achieving sales, meaning the initial impact of this
would be a reduction of HLL’s ultimate profit as it
will be incurring interest costs for longer than
anticipated. A decision would have to be made on
whether to lower asking price in order to achieve a
quicker sale, or retain prices and potentially
continue to incur interest costs.
Depending on the maturity of this Strategy (or
others), HLL may have other retained sums
available from other projects to repay the loan,
and therefore enable it to wait in order to achieve
the desired sale proceeds.

Agenda Pack Page 197

9

10.

Legal Considerations

10.1. In accordance with the previous reports to Cabinet, the Council created
HLL using its powers under section 1 of the Localism Act 2011, which
provides the “general power of competence” (GPOC) which permits the
Council to do any activity which an individual may do, for a commercial
purpose subject to such being through a company. The implementation
of the strategy set out in this report is within the Council’s powers under
GPOC.
10.2. In respect of the disposal of the land, the Council remains obliged to
ensure that it meets its duty under section 123 of the Local
Government Act 1972, in securing best consideration.
10.3. The Council is empowered to provide a loan to HLL by virtue of its
powers of investment under s12 Local Government Act 2003 and the
general power of competence under s1 of the Localism Act 2011. S12
of the Local Government Act 2003 permits the Council to make
investments (in this case by way of a loan) for the purpose of the
prudential management of its financial affairs. Such investments are
controlled within the Council under the Investment Strategy (Appendix
E to the Capital Strategy), approved by the Council as part of the
Integrated Plan. Para 1.2 of that strategy sets out that:
“The Council Invests its money for three broad purposes:






Treasury Management
Because it has surplus cash as a result of its day-to-day
activities, for example where income is received in advance of
expenditure
Service Investments
Supporting local public services by lending to or buying shares
in other organisations
Commercial Investments
Where the main purpose is to earn investment income or
generate enhanced capital receipts”

Loans in relation to this proposal come under the category of
Commercial Investments, and Para 4.5.1 and 4.5.5 of the Investment
Strategy respectively set out that:
“Commercial investments will be evaluated and appraised on an
individual basis following development of a robust business case which
will be subject to established Officer and Member sign off protocols.”
And:

Agenda Pack Page 198

10

“The majority of commercial investments are capital expenditure,
therefore will be subject to further scrutiny and approval as part of the
capital programme.”
Such loans and investments will be subject to the Authority’s normal
approval process for revenue and capital expenditure and need not
comply with this TMSS.”
10.4. In determining the provision of loans, the Council has taken into
account the requirements with regards to State Aid, ensuring that any
financing it makes to HLL is done on an arm’s-length, commercial
terms and in line with market practice. There will be no State aid where
it can be demonstrated that the terms are in line with what would be
expected under normal market economy conditions: the so-called
Market Economy Operator Principle (MEOP).
11.

Equalities Implications

11.1. When considering proposals placed before Members it is important that
they are fully aware of, and have themselves rigorously considered the
Equality implications of the decision that they are making.
11.2. Rigorous consideration will ensure that there is a proper appreciation of
any potential impact of that decision on the county council’s statutory
obligations under the Public Sector Equality Duty. As a minimum this
requires decision makers to read and carefully consider the content of
any Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) produced by officers.
11.3. The Equality Act 2010 requires the council, when exercising its
functions, to have due regard to the need to: (a) eliminate
discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other conduct prohibited
under the Act; (b) advance equality of opportunity between persons
who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not
share it and (c) foster good relations between persons who share a
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. The
protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 are age;
disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership;
pregnancy and maternity; race; religion and belief, sex and sexual
orientation.
11.4. As property developments come forward full equality implications of the
decisions are taken account of through local planning policy
compliance.

Background Information:
Cabinet – 10 July 2017
https://democracy.hertfordshire.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=
146&MeetingId=415&DF=10%2f07%2f2017&Ver=2

Agenda Pack Page 199

11

Cabinet – 19 March 2018
https://democracy.hertfordshire.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=
146&MeetingId=423&DF=19%2f03%2f2018&Ver=2
County Council – 27 March 2018
https://democracy.hertfordshire.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=
216&MeetingId=524&DF=27%2f03%2f2018&Ver=2
County Council – 19 February 2019
https://democracy.hertfordshire.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=1299#mgDocuments

Agenda Pack Page 200

12

Agenda Item No.

HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
RESOURCES & PERFORMANCE CABINET PANEL
FRIDAY 5 JULY 2019 AT 10.00 AM

11

TO CONSIDER THE FUTURE OF LAND AT LONDON ROAD BISHOPS
STORTFORD: RELOCATION AND EXPANSION OF THE BISHOP’S
STORTFORD HIGH SCHOOL
Joint Report of the Director of Resources and the Director of Children’s
Services
Report authors:

Dick Bowler, Special Projects Officer (01992 556223)
Kate Ma, Senior School Planning Officer (01992 555858)

Executive Members:

Ralph Sangster, Resources & Performance
Terry Douris, Education, Libraries & Localism

Local Members:

John Wyllie, Bishops Stortford East
Colin Woodward, Bishops Stortford West
Graham McAndrew, Bishops Stortford Rural
Eric Buckmaster, Sawbridgeworth

1.

Purpose of report

1.1

To invite Members to consider and make recommendations to Cabinet
on:
a) the County Council assuming Local Delivery of the Priority Schools
Building Programme 2 (PSBP2) scheme for The Bishop's Stortford
High School (TBSHS) that will enable the relocation and expansion of
TBSHS at a new site within the Bishops Stortford South (BSS)
development area,
b) associated contractual arrangements, and
c) amending the basis of the County Council’s financial support for the
scheme.

2.

Summary

2.1

Cabinet in February 2018 approved the addition of the scheme for
relocation and expansion of TBSHS within the terms set out in the
accompanying Part II report. In February 2019 the County Council
approved the Integrated Plan and within the capital programme
included provision for capital funding support for the scheme.

Agenda Pack Page 201

1

2.2

Subsequently, the Department for Education (DfE) decided that its
PSBP2 award to the School with a time limited capital grant, and
associated resources support for the scheme, should be switched to
Local Delivery by the County Council.

2.3

The largest part of the capital funding for the relocation scheme is from
the sale of the existing school site for housing redevelopment and the
Cabinet’s decision in February 2018 was with the expectation that there
could be, contemporaneous with a new premises construction contract,
a contract for forward sale of the existing site, so that all capital funding
could be known and be secure before the final step is taken to award
the new premises works contract.

2.4

Cabinet had authorised in principle, in July 2016, acquisition of the new
site, that an agreement be made with the Governing Body of Thorley
Hill Primary School for the necessary reorganisation of that school’s
site, and that an agreement be made with the Governing Body of
TBSHS for the relocation and expansion scheme, and it delegated
approval of the terms for these agreements to the Director of
Resources in consultation with the Executive Members.

2.5

A conditional contract for acquisition of the new site has been
concluded; East Hertfordshire District Council (EHDC) has resolved to
grant planning permission for development of the whole BSS area, to
include the relocated secondary school, a primary school and 750
houses. Planning permission for housing redevelopment of TBSHS’s
existing site is expected to be granted during 2019, and procurement of
the new school premises is in hand.

2.6

A sale of the existing site has been sought, there is interest from
several housing developers, a lead bidder has been identified and it is
anticipated that a forward sale can be concluded by the end of 2019,
when a decision to award a construction contract for the new premises
needs to be made so that the time limited DfE grant can be expended
and the new school premises be available for occupation during the
academic year 2021/22.

2.7

Use of the new school depends upon the primary highway and utilities
infrastructure for the BSS area being constructed and available for use
by the opening date of the new school premises. It is possible that the
County Council may need to step in to provide this infrastructure, under
the commercial arrangements contained in the land acquisition
contract, should the promoter of the BSS development not have been
able to achieve its own programme to commence development, all so
that the target dates for the new school premises and expenditure of
the DfE grant can be met.

2.8

Owing to housing land market conditions, there is a risk that a forward
sale of the exiting site will not be available by the end of 2019, and as
the DfE grant has to be expended by 31 March 2021 it is appropriate to

Agenda Pack Page 202

2

consider contingent arrangements so that the County Council could
cover the risk of a delayed sale by assuring delivery of the scheme and
the inward investment of the DfE grant, based on the security of the
value of the existing school site.
3.
3.1

Recommendations
The Panel will be invited to recommend to Cabinet:That Cabinet authorises:
a)

A capital budget for the scheme for relocation and expansion of
The Bishops Stortford High School as set out in the report, to
include feasibility expenditure to date and which covers the cost
of the standard County Council specification for premises having
a capacity of 6 forms of entry with 8 forms of entry core facilities
and the costs of the associated minor projects, in the sum of
£45.31m;

b)

The capital funding sources that are to be relied upon, being the
PSPB2 grant from the DfE, the capital receipts from the sale of
the existing Bishops Stortford High School site and s106
planning obligations, and the gap capital funding of £7.8m to be
met from basic need;

c)

The capital receipts from the sale of the existing Bishops
Stortford High School be protected by the County Council
requiring that the sale be joint with the School, that a caution be
placed on the titles and that no sale be agreed until the
Secretary of State for Education has given consent in writing to
the sale and to the sale proceeds being remitted to the council;
and
The Director of Resources, as S151 officer, to provide a Capital
Contributions Letter to the DfE in respect of all capital funding for
a relocation and expansion scheme beyond the Priority School
Building Programme ( PSBP2 )grant.

d)

4.

Background

4.1

At the meeting on 19 February 2018 Cabinet considered a report on
Additional School Places (agenda item 12) and resolved:
“(xi) the addition of the scheme for relocation and expansion of The
Bishops Stortford High School within the terms set out in Part II of this
report.”

4.2

Those terms envisioned:
a) A DfE capital grant of £11.2m;

Agenda Pack Page 203

3

b) A contract being concluded for acquisition of the new site within the
BSS development area;
c) A new Local Plan being adopted by East Herts District Council
(EHDC) and planning permissions being granted for the new school
premises and for housing re-development of the existing site;
d) A forward sale of the existing school site being arranged so that use
of the capital receipts to fund the relocation and expansion scheme
could be assured;
e) A minor prior reorganisation of the existing sites of the school and
the adjacent Thorley Hill Primary School (THPS), to ensure a coherent
sale site, and the provision of an additional building (a Learning
Resource Centre) for THPS;
f) Relocation of The Blues Pre-School (The Blues) from its existing
premises within the site of TBSHS to a site owned by the County
Council at Cox’s Gardens, Bishops Stortford, in a new building to be
developed there as part of the scheme;
g) An Infrastructure Agreement being made with the Landowners of the
new site and Countryside Properties (Countryside) as developers of the
BSS area, that provides for a financial contribution to be made to the
construction of common infrastructure works that will serve the new
development area; and
h) The relocation and expansion scheme being largely self-financing,
taking into account the funding sources of the capital receipts from the
sale, the DfE grant, and s106 planning obligations that could be
directed to the scheme.
4.3

The current position in respect of the scheme is that capital programme
support for the scheme has been included within the Integrated Plan for
2019/20 to 2022/23; and the progress on the key matters above is as
follows:
a) The DfE has decided the new premises should be the subject of
Local Delivery by, and transfer of the grant to, the County Council;
the grant needs to have been spent by 31 March 2021.
b) A conditional land purchase contract was concluded in the summer
of 2018; the conditions are that (i) planning permission has been
granted; (ii) an Infrastructure Agreement is made and (iii) the TBSHS
has a Funding Agreement in place with the County Council to
secure the new premises;
c) i)

The new East Hertfordshire District Plan was adopted in the
autumn of 2018 and at the meeting of the (East Herts) District

Agenda Pack Page 204

4

Council’s Development Management Committee on 20 March
2019 the Committee resolved to grant planning permission to
Countryside, in outline for the scheme of development for the
whole of the BSS area and in detail for the first phase of housing
and the main north-south spine road and associated
infrastructure works; and
ii)

A separate planning application has been submitted for
development of the new school premises and the main northsouth spine road and associated infrastructure works, to provide
a contingent route to assure delivery should Countryside not
succeed in obtaining and implementing its planning permission
by early 2020;

iii)

A planning application is being prepared for submission by
TBSHS to EHDC for housing redevelopment of the modified
existing site;

d) TBSHS has undertaken a marketing campaign to seek to secure a
forward sale of that site and has identified a lead bidder. The current
position is advised in the report on the Part II agenda;
e) Terms have been agreed with the Governing Body of THPS for the
reorganisation of the site, for the provision of the additional building
and associated matters; and planning permission has been granted
for that building;
f) A planning application has been submitted for the development of
new premises for The Blues at the Cox’s Garden’s site and terms
have been agreed with The Blues and TBSHS for the relocation of
The Blues once the new premises have been completed;
g) Terms have been agreed with the Landowners and Countryside for
the Infrastructure Agreement; and
h) Current estimates for the scheme are contained in the report on the
Part II agenda.
4.4

The new site is within the BSS area that is allocated in the Local Plan
for a residentially led mixed use development including a primary
school and a secondary school. An application for planning permission
for development in conformity with the Local Plan allocations has been
made – reference 3/18/2253/OUT Land At Bishops Stortford South
(BISH5) Off Whittington Way Bishops Stortford – and a resolution to
grant planning permission, subject to conclusion of a s106 Planning
Obligations agreement, has been passed as cited above at para 4.3 c).

4.5

The application is hybrid, with most of the scheme the subject of outline
proposals and detail for the main initial site infrastructure and the first
phase of housing. The new site, which is about half a mile south of the

Agenda Pack Page 205

5

existing site, is shown marked by darker mauve colour on the
Illustrative Concept Masterplan for the BSS area at Appendix 1.
4.6

The development also includes provision for a primary school, and the
site allocated is shown by light mauve colour on that plan. It is to be the
subject of a s106 planning obligation for ownership to transfer to the
County Council to enable the provision of additional primary education
places. It is anticipated that it will be capable of development at 3 forms
of entry (fe) capacity.

4.7

Primary roads and utilities infrastructure for the development,
specifically the north south spine road with new junctions at either end,
as are shown on the plan at Appendix 1, is required before the new
school can be occupied.

4.8

Information regarding the land arrangements is contained in the report
on the Part II agenda.

5.

Future demand for secondary places

5.1

The County Council’s strategy to ensure a sufficient number of
secondary places across the area is to establish a new 6fe secondary
school within the Bishops Stortford North new housing development to
serve the rising need from the existing community as well as the need
arising from that new community.

5.2

It is anticipated that further secondary capacity beyond the new 6fe
school is likely to be required to meet demand across the area in the
longer term. Current pupil demand forecasts indicate the new school at
Bishops Stortford North will be full by 2027 when forecast demand
peaks beyond the 6fe additional capacity that this new school provides.
Pupil forecasts only extend 10 years into the future, beyond which the
children requiring a secondary place are not yet born. However, the
secondary pupil yield arising from the new housing at Bishops Stortford
North is anticipated to peak beyond the lifecycle of the current forecast
and the strategic housing growth targets within EHDC’s District Plan
which will provide for further housing growth across the area extend to
2031/2032. Therefore, the County Council needs to prudently plan
additional secondary capacity across the area to ensure future longterm need, beyond the lifecycle of the current forecast, can be met.

5.3

A scheme for enlargement of the Herts & Essex High School to 6fe has
been supported by the County Council and additional land has been
secured, that is sufficient for that school to be able to expand up to 8fe,
should that be needed. The new site for TBSHS is also capable of
supporting 8fe capacity premises, should that be needed.

5.4

Enlarged site capacities for both schools, as indicated above, would
increase potential options available for expansion of existing schools
across the area. The conclusions round a strategy to expand existing

Agenda Pack Page 206

6

schools would be determined by local conditions, if-and-when a future
expansion is required, taking account of costs and availability of
funding at that time.
5.5

An education statement has been provided to accompany the School’s
planning application and that is attached at Appendix 2 to the report.

6.

New premises development

6.1

The DfE has concluded that the County Council is better placed to
enable the development of the new premises, as the School is a
Foundation category of maintained school and there are complex land
arrangements at both the existing and new sites. It has agreed Local
Delivery by the County Council, that it remits the grant to the Council
and it puts in place a light tough reporting and monitoring agreement.
An initial Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) has been completed.

6.2

Fundamental to that agreement is the DfE’s requirement that the grant
is committed and wholly spent by 31 March 2021.

6.3

Key principles of the MoU are:
a) The council will take responsibility for delivering the PSBP
scheme to time and budget;
b) The PSBP capital funding contribution will remain capped at
£11.26m;
c) The DfE will provide a Local Delivery Project Delivery Grant up to
£200k towards the reasonable costs incurred to develop the school
project feasibility appraisal and business case(s);
d) The County Council will be responsible to appoint and pay its own
consultants to undertake the delivery work through the feasibility,
procurement and construction phases; and
e) The project will be monitored and supported by a DfE project lead.

6.4

Procurement of the new premises under Local Delivery will proceed
under one of the available framework construction contracts available
to the County Council, guided by contractor availability and best value
considerations.

6.5

To assure expenditure of the DfE grant and new premises opening by
the target date of September 2021, it will be necessary for works to
commence in Spring 2020. Before the new premises contract can be
let there must first have been let a contract for the primary
infrastructure so that is available for use when the school relocates.

Agenda Pack Page 207

7

6.6

It is anticipated that Countryside Properties (CP), will have committed
to begin development of its BSS development by the end of 2019, with
works starting on site in January 2020.

6.7

However, should there be significant delay to CP’s programme it would
be necessary to invoke the contingent arrangements in the new site
acquisition contract, for the County Council to assure timely delivery of
the infrastructure works. It is proposed that would be done via an
arrangement with CP, for it to work as the County Council’s delivery
organisation, so that there is seamless delivery of the works and a
single chain of responsibility via appropriate contractual arrangements.

6.8

To assure there can be delivery of these works by the County Council,
in advance of CP beginning development, works they will be included
in the separate planning application to be made jointly by the School
and County Council for the new school development. That form of
planning application, for joint development by the School and County
Council, is required to be made to the County Council and is
determined by the County Planning Authority.

7.

Town Planning Implications

7.1

The BSS development area has been allocated for development in the
East Hertfordshire District Plan, as has the existing site of TBSHS. The
Cox’s Gardens site has an existing policy allocation for community use.

7.2

Accordingly, each the planning permission that is required to establish
the programme of projects to enable the scheme has a clear policy
basis that can support the planning application and the decision to be
made by the relevant planning authority.

7.3

To reduce programme risk, each project site, and the disposal site,
should have been granted at least outline planning permission for the
intended new use prior to works contracts being let.

8.

Financial Implications

8.1

The proposals can be supported from the DfE grant, the capital
programme provisions and from s106 planning contributions that can
be directed to the scheme. There is also included in the capital
programme provisions for the associated works for THPS and to
relocate The Blues Pre-School.

8.2

Contingent provision has been included for the BSS main infrastructure
works, so that they can be undertaken in the contingent circumstances
advised at paragraph 6.8.

8.3

Detailed financial information is contained in accompanying Part II
report.

Agenda Pack Page 208

8

9.

Risk Assessment

9.1

If the County Council does not act swiftly to support the current
opportunity to put in place arrangements to secure additional school
land and replacement school premises it may lose the opportunity to
commission additional places at an existing popular and successful
school serving an area where there is forecast demand for a large
number of additional places.

9.2

Consideration of individual risks and of mitigation is set out in the Part II
report.

10.

Equalities

10.1

When considering proposals placed before Members it is important that
they are fully aware of, and have themselves rigorously considered the
Equality implications of, the decision that they are making. Rigorous
consideration will ensure that proper appreciation of any potential
impact of that decision on the County Council’s statutory obligations
under the Public Sector Equality Duty. As a minimum this requires
decision makers to read and carefully consider the content of any
Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) produced by officers.

10.2

The Equality Act 2010 requires the County Council when exercising its
functions to have due regard to the need to (a) eliminate discrimination,
harassment, victimisation and other conduct prohibited under the Act;
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it and
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. The protected
characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 are age; disability; gender
reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and maternity;
race; religion and belief, sex and sexual orientation.

10.3

An Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) has been carried out to
assess the proposed school relocation and expansion contained within
this report. The EqIA is attached to this report as Appendix 3 It will be
made available in the Members’ Lounge prior to, and at the Panel and
Cabinet meetings in order that Members are fully aware of any equality
issues arising from the proposal. Consideration has been given to the
likely impact of the proposal, and current assessments conclude that it
is not anticipated that people with protected characteristics will be
affected disproportionately. The EqIA will be continued to be reviewed
and updated as necessary.

10.4

The Local Authority is bound by the Admissions Code and Regulations
and this does not allow for any discrimination in this respect.

10.5

The proposal provides brand new buildings on a new site under 2 miles
from the existing site, designed to meet all current Disability

Agenda Pack Page 209

9

Discrimination Act (DDA) and accessibility requirements. This will
provide positive impacts, offering the opportunity for improved facilities
for disabled access in new buildings.
10.6

The proposal will facilitate an expansion in places of 0.8fe immediately
and will also enable a further 2fe of expansion potential to be secured
for the future. This would bring the number of Boy’s single sex places in
line with the 6fe of Girls single sex places now on offer at the Herts &
Essex High School (with 2fe of expansion potential in the future)
thereby providing equity in the single sex offer across the area, while
also contributing towards meeting the rising demand anticipated across
the area for the long term.

Background Information
Cabinet – 11 July 2016
https://democracy.hertfordshire.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=
146&MeetingId=405&DF=11%2f07%2f2016&Ver=2
Cabinet – 19 February 2018
https://democracy.hertfordshire.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=
146&MeetingId=422&DF=19%2f02%2f2018&Ver=2
County Council – 19 February 2019
https://democracy.hertfordshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=216&MId=
214&Ver=4
EHDC Development Management Committee – 20 March 2019
http://democracy.eastherts.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=118&MId=3348
&J=2

Agenda Pack Page 210

10

The scaling of this drawing cannot be assured
Date
Drn Ckd
05.01.19 ALC NT

Revision
Z Updated Drainage and Footpath
along Whittington Way.

75.0m

Item 11 Appendix 1

82.4m

82.8m

74.1m

66.8m

69.8m

Site Boundary - 52.95Ha / 130.84Ac

73.5m

Proposed Site Access
80.8m

78.0m

Proposed Site Access Points to
Northern Development Plots

66.1m
75.6m

73.2m

88.1m

61.3m

Proposed Pedestrian / Cycle Crossing
62.2m

Enhanced Existing Pedestrian /
Cycle Crossing

80.2m

83.6m

85.8m

Existing Pedestrian / Cycle Crossing

81.8m

58.8m

Residential
80.2m

78.0m

Primary Frontage
71.3m
80.4m

56.4m

Local Centre

67.1m
75.3m
79.9m

WHIT

TING
TON

85.6m

Local Centre / Employment

78.9m

62.8m

WAY

76.5m

Employment
Care Home (0.57ha / 1.40ac)
Secondary School

74.7m

76.2m
78.0m

AY

Y
RE

Primary School + Nursery

75.9m

W

Primary Route

OB

81.7m

62.2m

Bus Only Link
Secondary Route
Tertiary Route
Secondary School

Public Rights of Way

79.2m

Primary School
+ Nursery

Proposed Dedicated 4m Foot / Cycle path

Green Street Required for Visual Mitigation

Informal Open Space
Including Existing Trees

STRE
ET

Primary + Nursery
School Building Zone

Illustrative Internal Green Space

LEY

Secondary School
Building Zone

Enhanced Pedestrian Access to
Proposed Crossing

85.3m

Noise Bund and Landscape Buffer

THO
R

Agenda Pack Page 211

Proposed Foot / Cycle paths

62.8m

Staff Parking

Noise Attenuation Fence
Attenuation Features
Attenuation Pond
Neighbourhood Equipped Area for Play

55.2m

Super Local Equipped Area for Play
Local Equipped Area for Play

ST
.
85.3m

Existing Water Course

JA

ME

SW

Existing Trees

AY

Existing Hedge
Existing Primary Electricity Sub Station
Indicative Location of Foul Pumping Station

Project

BISHOP'S STORTFORD SOUTH

N

Drawing Title

ILLUSTRATIVE
CONCEPT MASTERPLAN
Date

Scale

Drawn by

Check by

18.11.16

1:2,500@A1

AC

NT

Project No

Drawing No

24456

Revision

Z

RG-M-41
20
0

60
40

100m
80

52.7m

Planning ● Master Planning & Urban Design ● Architecture ●
Landscape Planning & Design ● Environmental Planning ● Graphic
Communication ● Public Engagement ● Development Economics

78.6m

bartonwillmore.co.uk
Certificate FS 29637

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey Map with the permission of the Controller of HMSO. Crown Copyright Reserved. Licence No. 100019279.

J:\24000 - 24999\24400 - 24499\24456 - Whittington Way\A4 - Dwgs & Registers\M Planning\24456 - RG-M-41Z - Illustrative Concept Masterplan.dwg - (1-2500@A1)

Offices at Birmingham Bristol Cambridge Cardiff Ebbsfleet Edinburgh
Glasgow Leeds London Manchester Newcastle Reading Southampton

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 11 Appendix 2

Draft Education / Schools Position Statement for The Bishops Stortford High School Outline
Planning Application
Context of existing site condition
The Bishop’s Stortford High School (TBSHS) currently resides at London Road, Bishop’s Stortford,
CM23 3LU and has been located there since 1950. The school offers single sex (male) education to
11-16 year olds and has a large coeducational sixth form. The school has a determined PAN of 156;
although in recent years it has regularly provided 168 Year 7 places as its own admitting authority, to
help meet high demand.
The overall condition of the existing school’s buildings is generally considered to be poor and not
conducive to providing a continued high level of education into the future. This has been
acknowledged by the school being successful in obtaining a Priority School Building Programme
Phase 2 (PSBP2) grant from the Department for Education (DfE). The purpose of the PSBP2
programme is to ‘undertake major rebuilding and refurbishment projects in those schools and sixth
form colleges in the very worst condition’. The School’s existing site is also constrained and technical
property advice has concluded that expansion beyond the school’s current capacity could not be
achieved.
Typically under the PSBP2 project the grant funding would provide for a number of blocks or the
entire school to be re-built or refurbished on its current site. For TBSHS the PSBP2 project was
originally proposed as a total re-build of approximately 70% of the existing site, which would not
have allowed for the entire school to be rebuilt and would not provide future expansion potential at
the School.
Why the relocation and expansion is required
Contained within the recently adopted East Herts District Plan there is an allocation for a significant
sum of housing, approximately 5,200 new homes, across the Bishop’s Stortford and Sawbridgeworth
secondary education planning area (EPA). The pupil yield anticipated to arise from this scale of
growth is expected to peak at around 12 forms of entry.
These yield figures are based on 2011 census data, using the most up to date information from town
planning applications and, where this is not available, assumptions around build trajectories and the
type and size of new homes, as provided through the planning process, in compliance with the
District Council’s Local Plan policy.
Although this peak is not expected to be achieved until beyond the Plan period, the County Council
needs to ensure sufficient expansion capacity is available to meet this level of future need.
There are currently six secondary schools within the EPA, between them offering around 35 forms of
entry. The schools are varied, popular and full and, as a result of their various admissions

Agenda Pack Page 213

arrangements, recruit from a wide area and thus there is a significant inflow into the EPA at
secondary transfer.
Technical property analysis of the existing school sites concludes there are a number of town
planning, site size and highways challenges and constraints to expansion of the existing school sites.
The limited identified expansion potential is insufficient to meet the anticipated scale of growth
likely from the proposed new housing.
In light of this and in response to the proposed scale of growth, the County Council has supported
site allocations within the District Plan for two secondary schools within Bishop’s Stortford. The first
of these sites is at Bishop’s Stortford North, where it is proposed to provide a new 6fe secondary
school, the other site is at Bishop’s Stortford South where provision has been made for an (up to) 8fe
secondary school. The site at Bishop’s Stortford South has been specified as being for the relocation
of TBSHS.
TBSHS’s current site has also been allocated for housing development within the Plan. The sale of its
existing site will provide it with a capital receipt which, combined with the PSBP2 grant, will allow for
the school to be re-built on its new site with the capacity to expand, which would not have been
possible at its existing site. Access to this PSPB2 grant is time limited.
The site allocations within the District Plan support the County Council’s strategy to ensure sufficient
secondary places to serve the Bishop’s Stortford and Sawbridgeworth Education Planning Area for
the long term.
As part of the relocation project it is proposed to expand The Bishop’s Stortford High School
immediately to 6fe. This will allow for the mitigation of male yield from the Bishop’s Stortford South
housing development and therefore contributions from this development are sought towards the
expansion to 6fe, with remaining contributions going towards the eventual further expansion of the
school beyond 6fe. The equivalent s106 contributions are being sought for the eventual expansion of
the Herts & Essex High School (HEHS) to mitigate female yield from the Bishop’s Stortford South
housing development.
The County Council is supporting TSBHS’s and HEHS’s aspirations to create for themselves the
potential for future expansion which does not currently exist. Should TBSHS and HEHS aspirations be
achievable, this would enable both schools to be capable of providing an additional 2fe capacity,
thus enhancing the suite of options available to provide additional expansion capacity to meet
future secondary needs across the area for the long term. The County Council set out this strategy in
a report to Cabinet in February 2014.
(https://democracy.hertfordshire.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=146&MeetingId=376&DF=24%
2f02%2f2014&Ver=2.

The timing, scale and location of secondary expansion beyond the new 6fe school at Bishop’s
Stortford North will be determined by local conditions at that time, informed by the needs arising
from the proposed new housing.
The benefits the new school will bring including new sustainable buildings and learning
environments

Agenda Pack Page 214

For many years The Bishop’s Stortford High School has managed to achieve not only excellent
academic outcomes for its students and outstanding recognition from Ofsted, but it has also been
able to provide those students with a truly all-round education. The School has focused on
developing the qualities and characteristics in its students that will prove invaluable to them for the
rest of their lives and prepare them to contribute positively to the local and wider communities.
The school has managed to achieve this success in buildings that were designed and constructed
almost 70 years ago for a 3fe school and are now simply no longer fit for purpose and not able to
fully meet the needs of its students.
With the proceeds of the sale of its existing site, together with the PSBP2 grant mentioned above,
the school has a fantastic opportunity to provide its students with the first-class learning
environment and enrichment facilities they deserve that will allow them all to flourish and succeed.
The School has always been keen to provide facilities for community use and has actively engaged
with a significant number of local organisations to provide lettings space for a variety of different
local groups including: Recreational indoor football; Warwick Badminton Club; Forever Active (Senior
Citizens) Table Tennis Club; Pauline Quirke Academy Performing Arts; BS Musical Theatre; Cantata
Choral Society; Takely Cricket Club; Clubbercise Fitness club; Elsenham Youth FC; Grove Cottage
Youth Club and Get Active; Soccer Development; Little Scrummers Mini Rugby and ad hoc bookings
for social events.
The scale of available funding will ultimately determine what facilities the new school will hold,
though it is planning to deliver a six court sports hall; an athletics track; a 4G Rugby Astroturf; a
separate 4G Football Astroturf; Tennis Courts; A large performance hall with stage and semipermanent seating; A drama studio with raked seating and a well-equipped strength and
conditioning centre. Each of these great new facilities would significantly enhance the provision for
community use and give local organisations a chance to operate in purpose built surroundings.
Using the most up to date specifications, the design and construction of the new School will meet
the current regulations that minimise environmental impact and optimise sustainability. The School
is very keen to explore renewable energy sources that not only make the new site more economical
to run, but significantly reduce the carbon footprint of the school. TBSHS intends to coordinate the
development of these new facilities in conjunction with the relevant associations and regulatory
bodies, to ensure they meet the necessary standards.
TBSHS has a great opportunity to capitalise on a substantial grant from central government that will
allow it to relocate, expand and provide fantastic facilities for its students and the community. It
would provide a great boost to the town’s sporting and performance facilities.

Agenda Pack Page 215

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 11 Appendix 3
Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) Template
EqIAs make services better for everyone and support value for money by getting services right first time.
EqIAs enable us to consider all the information about a service, policy or strategy
from an equalities perspective and then create an action plan to get the best
outcomes for staff and service-users1.They analyse how all our work as a council
might impact differently on different groups protected from discrimination by the
Equality Act 20102. They help us make good decisions and evidence how we have
reached them.3

Agenda Pack Page 217

An EqIA needs to be completed as a project starts to identify and consider
possible differential impacts on people and their lives, inform project planning and,
where appropriate, identify mitigating actions. It must be completed before any
decisions are made or policy agreed so that the EqIA informs that decision or
policy. It is also a live document; you should review and update it along with your
project plan throughout.

1.

Who is completing the EqIA4 and why is it being done?
The proposed enlargement and relocation of The Bishop's Stortford High
School

Names of those involved in completing the EqIA

Kate Ma, Chris Martin, Adrian Bentley

Head of Service or Business Manager

Pauline Davis

Team/Department

School Planning

Lead officer contact details

Kate Ma (kate.ma@hertfordshire.gov.uk)

Agenda Pack Page 218

Title of service / proposal / project / strategy /
procurement you are assessing5

Focus of EqIA – what are you assessing?6
What are the aims of the service, proposal, project?
What outcomes do you want to achieve?
What are the reasons for the proposal or change?
Do you need to reference/consider any related
projects?

Stakeholders
Who will be affected?
Which protected characteristics (see end-notes 11-20)
is it most relevant to?
Consider the public, service users, partners, staff,
Members, etc

To identify the impact of the proposed relocation and enlargement of The
Bishop’s Stortford High School (“the School”), London Road, Bishop’s Stortford,
Hertfordshire, CM23 3LU.
The School is proposing to relocate to a site at Bishop’s Stortford South and in
doing so, increase its intake from 5.2 forms of entry (fe) to 6 fe. The new site is
under 2 miles from its existing site and the relocation will involve brand new
buildings and associated facilities suitable for a 6 fe intake.
This assessment considers the Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) undertaken
to seek to identify whether any equality issues can be identified as a
consequence of the proposed enlargement and relocation of the School.
Parents/carers/pupils, staff and governors at the School;
Residents local to the School;
Students and parents in Bishop’s Stortford and the surrounding area;
Local members.
The School is delivering the relocation and enlargement project and will be
responsible for consulting on any changes as required.

2.
List of data sources used for this EqIA (include relevant national/local data, research, monitoring information,
service user feedback, complaints, audits, consultations, EqIAs from other projects or other local authorities, etc.)

Title and brief description
(of data, research or engagement – include
hyperlinks if available)
Spring 2019 School Census data on gender split,
English as an additional language (EAL), ethnicity,
free school meal (FSM) eligibility, number of
children with SEN Statements (S), Education and
Health Care Plans (E) or SEN Support (K).

Agenda Pack Page 219

*The countywide total in the table opposite
includes secondary-age pupils at ESCs, PRUs,
special, middle and secondary schools.

Date

Gaps in data
Consider any gaps you need to address and add any relevant actions to
the action plan in Section 4.
The Bishop's
Stortford High
School

Countywide Total*

Students (Y7-Y13)

1191

84845

Number Minority Ethnic Students
(not White British and excluding
Refused and Not Obtained)

209

24831

17.55%

29.27%

Number EAL (English as an
alternative Language) (First
language Not English or believed
not to be English excluding
Refused and Not Obtained)

61

10532

% EAL (English as an alternative
Language) (First language Not
English or believed not to be
English)

5.12%

12.41%

Number with Statement (or EHCP
(S or E))

5

2295

% with Statement (or EHCP (S or
E))

0.42%

2.70%

68

10089

5.71%

11.89%

22

6508

Spring 2019 School Census data

% Minority Ethnic Students (not
White British and excluding
Refused and Not Obtained)

Number SEN Provision (K)
% SEN Provision (K)
Number Eligible for FSM (at date
of Census)

% FSM (Free School Meals) (at
date of Census)
Number of Male Students
% of Male Students
Number of Female Students
% of Female Students

1.85%

7.67%

1083

42744

90.93%

50.38%

108

42101

9.07%

49.62%

Agenda Pack Page 220

The School is a non-selective, single-sex (boys), 11-16, Foundation
school, with a co-educational sixth form admitting boys and girls at 16
plus. The overall age range is 11 to 18.
The percentage of Minority Ethnic Students and students with English as
an alternative Language (EAL) at the School, are both significantly less
than the county average. The percentage of students with SEN
Statements (S) or Education and Health Care Plans (E) and SEN
Provision (K) are also both significantly less than the county average. The
percentage of students entitled to Free School Meals (FSM) is significantly
less than the county average.

3.

Analysis and assessment: review of information, impact analysis and mitigating actions

Protected
characteristic
group

What do you know7?
What do people tell you8?

What does this mean – what are the What can you do10?
potential impacts of the proposal(s)9? What reasonable mitigations to reduce or avoid

Summary of data and feedback
about service users and the
wider community/ public

- Consider positive and negative impacts
- On service users / the public
- AND, where relevant, staff*






* if your proposals relate mainly to a
staff restructure or reorganisation, you
should use the template here

Who uses the service?
Who doesn’t and why?
Feedback/complaints?
Any differences in
outcomes? Why?

Agenda Pack Page 221

It is not anticipated that the proposal
will affect people disproportionately
because of their age.

Age

Disability

Gender
reassignment

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposal will affect people
disproportionately because of the
issues of disability but the position will
be monitored if the proposal proceeds

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposal will affect people
disproportionately because of the
issues of Gender reassignment but the
position will be monitored if the
proposal proceeds.

the impact can you propose?
How will you communicate/engage or provide
services differently to create a ‘level playing field’
– e.g. consultation materials in easy read or hold
targeted engagement events
If there is no current way of mitigating any
negative impacts, clearly state that here and
consider other actions you could take in the
action plan in section 4.

It is noted that this is a School driven scheme.
It will be responsible for taking equalities into
account. However the County Council will
also continue to monitor the position and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified by the County
Council then the Action Plan will be amended
accordingly.
It is noted that this is a School driven scheme.
It will be responsible for taking equalities into
account. However the County Council will
also continue to monitor the position and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified by the County
Council then the Action Plan will be amended
accordingly.
It is noted that this is a School driven scheme.
It will be responsible for taking equalities into
account. However the County Council will
also continue to monitor the position and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified by the County

Protected
characteristic
group

Agenda Pack Page 222

Pregnancy and
maternity

Race

Religion or
belief

What do you know7?
What do people tell you8?

What does this mean – what are the What can you do10?
potential impacts of the proposal(s)9? What reasonable mitigations to reduce or avoid

Summary of data and feedback
about service users and the
wider community/ public

- Consider positive and negative impacts
- On service users / the public
- AND, where relevant, staff*






* if your proposals relate mainly to a
staff restructure or reorganisation, you
should use the template here

Who uses the service?
Who doesn’t and why?
Feedback/complaints?
Any differences in
outcomes? Why?

the impact can you propose?
How will you communicate/engage or provide
services differently to create a ‘level playing field’
– e.g. consultation materials in easy read or hold
targeted engagement events
If there is no current way of mitigating any
negative impacts, clearly state that here and
consider other actions you could take in the
action plan in section 4.

Council then the Action Plan will be amended
accordingly.
It is not anticipated that the proposal
will affect people disproportionately
because of issues around Pregnancy
and Maternity but the position will be
monitored if the proposal proceeds.

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposal will affect people
disproportionately because of their
race but the position will be monitored
if the proposals proceeds.

It is not anticipated that the proposal
will affect people disproportionately
because of their religion/belief.

It is noted that this is a School driven scheme.
It will be responsible for taking equalities into
account. However the County Council will
also continue to monitor the position and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified by the County
Council then the Action Plan will be amended
accordingly.
It is noted that this is a School driven scheme.
It will be responsible for taking equalities into
account. However the County Council will
also continue to monitor the position and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified by the County
Council then the Action Plan will be amended
accordingly.
It is noted that this is a School driven scheme.
It will be responsible for taking equalities into
account. However the County Council will
also continue to monitor the position and if
any issues in respect of the protected

Protected
characteristic
group

What do you know7?
What do people tell you8?

What does this mean – what are the What can you do10?
potential impacts of the proposal(s)9? What reasonable mitigations to reduce or avoid

Summary of data and feedback
about service users and the
wider community/ public

- Consider positive and negative impacts
- On service users / the public
- AND, where relevant, staff*






* if your proposals relate mainly to a
staff restructure or reorganisation, you
should use the template here

Who uses the service?
Who doesn’t and why?
Feedback/complaints?
Any differences in
outcomes? Why?

the impact can you propose?
How will you communicate/engage or provide
services differently to create a ‘level playing field’
– e.g. consultation materials in easy read or hold
targeted engagement events
If there is no current way of mitigating any
negative impacts, clearly state that here and
consider other actions you could take in the
action plan in section 4.

Agenda Pack Page 223

characteristic are identified by the County
Council then the Action Plan will be amended
accordingly.
The School is over-subscribed with
208 on-time 1st preference applications
(for 2019/20) for the 156 places on
offer. The proposal for enlargement, if
it proceeds, will provide more singlesex (boys) school places (180 Year 7
places), hence increasing parental
preference. The position will be
monitored if the proposal proceeds.

Sex/Gender
This proposal with also bring into line
the number of girls & boys single sex
places in Bishops Stortford. The singlesex girls’ school serving the area (The
Hertfordshire and Essex High School)
which currently offers 180 Year 7
places, is also oversubscribed with 1st
preferences.

It is noted that this is a School driven scheme.
It will be responsible for taking equalities into
account. However the County Council will
also continue to monitor the position and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified by the County
Council then the Action Plan will be amended
accordingly.

Protected
characteristic
group

Agenda Pack Page 224

Sexual
orientation

Marriage and
civil partnership

Carers

What do you know7?
What do people tell you8?

What does this mean – what are the What can you do10?
potential impacts of the proposal(s)9? What reasonable mitigations to reduce or avoid

Summary of data and feedback
about service users and the
wider community/ public

- Consider positive and negative impacts
- On service users / the public
- AND, where relevant, staff*






* if your proposals relate mainly to a
staff restructure or reorganisation, you
should use the template here

Who uses the service?
Who doesn’t and why?
Feedback/complaints?
Any differences in
outcomes? Why?

It is not anticipated that the proposal
will affect people disproportionately
because of issues around Sexual
orientation but the position will be
monitored if the proposal proceeds.

It is not anticipated that the proposal
will affect people disproportionately
because of issues around Marriage
and Civil Partnership but the position
will be monitored if the Proposal
proceeds.
It is not anticipated that the proposal
will affect people disproportionately
because of caring responsibilities but
the position will be monitored if the
proposal proceeds.

the impact can you propose?
How will you communicate/engage or provide
services differently to create a ‘level playing field’
– e.g. consultation materials in easy read or hold
targeted engagement events
If there is no current way of mitigating any
negative impacts, clearly state that here and
consider other actions you could take in the
action plan in section 4.

It is noted that this is a School driven scheme.
It will be responsible for taking equalities into
account. However the County Council will
also continue to monitor the position and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified by the County
Council then the Action Plan will be amended
accordingly.
It is noted that this is a School driven scheme.
It will be responsible for taking equalities into
account. However the County Council will
also continue to monitor the position and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified by the County
Council then the Action Plan will be amended
accordingly.
It is noted that this is a School driven scheme.
It will be responsible for taking equalities into
account. However the County Council will
also continue to monitor the position and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified by the County
Council then the Action Plan will be amended
accordingly.

Protected
characteristic
group

Other relevant
groups

Agenda Pack Page 225

Consider if there is
a potential impact
(positive or
negative) on areas
such as health and
wellbeing, crime
and disorder,
Armed Forces
community.

What do you know7?
What do people tell you8?

What does this mean – what are the What can you do10?
potential impacts of the proposal(s)9? What reasonable mitigations to reduce or avoid

Summary of data and feedback
about service users and the
wider community/ public

- Consider positive and negative impacts
- On service users / the public
- AND, where relevant, staff*






* if your proposals relate mainly to a
staff restructure or reorganisation, you
should use the template here

Who uses the service?
Who doesn’t and why?
Feedback/complaints?
Any differences in
outcomes? Why?

the impact can you propose?
How will you communicate/engage or provide
services differently to create a ‘level playing field’
– e.g. consultation materials in easy read or hold
targeted engagement events
If there is no current way of mitigating any
negative impacts, clearly state that here and
consider other actions you could take in the
action plan in section 4.

Opportunity to advance equality of opportunity and/or foster good relations
Should the relocation and enlargement of the School proceed, it is anticipated that it will allow more students to attend a secondary school
in their locality and help ensure that more students obtain a place at their first-choice secondary school. It will also align the number of
male single sex places in the town with the number of female single sex places.

Agenda Pack Page 226

Conclusion of your analysis and assessment - select one of the outcomes below and summarise why you have selected i, ii, iii or iv;
what you think the most important impacts are; and the key actions you will take.
OUTCOME AND NEXT STEPS

i.
-

No equality impacts identified
No major change required to proposal

ii. Minimal equality impacts identified
- Adverse impacts have been identified, but have been objectively
justified (provided you do not unlawfully discriminate)
- Ensure decision makers consider the cumulative effect of how a
number of decisions impact on equality
- No major change required to proposal
iii. Potential equality impacts identified
- Take ‘mitigating action’ to change the original policy/proposal,
remove barriers or better advance equality
- Set out clear actions in the action plan in section 4.
iv. Major equality impacts identified
- The adverse effects are not justified, cannot be mitigated or show
unlawful discrimination
- You must stop and remove the policy
[you should consult with Legal Services]
- Ensure decision makers understand the equality impact

SUMMARY
It is noted that this is a School driven scheme. It will be responsible
for taking equalities into account. However the County Council will
also continue to monitor the position and if any issues in respect of
the protected characteristic are identified by the County Council
then the Action Plan will be amended accordingly.

YOU SHOULD INCLUDE THE SUMMARY ANALYSIS ABOVE IN THE ‘Equalities Implications’ SECTION OF ANY REPORT(S) THAT
GO TO DEPT. MANAGEMENT BOARDS / MEMBER PANELS / CABINET, AS WELL AS APPENDING A COPY OF THE EqIA

Agenda Pack Page 227

4.

Prioritised Action Plan11

Impact identified and
group(s) affected

Action planned
Include actions relating to:

Expected outcome

Measure of success

Lead officer and
timeframe

• mitigation measures
• getting further research
• getting further data/consultation
NB: These actions must now be transferred to service or business plans and monitored/reviewed to ensure they achieve the outcomes identified.

Agenda Pack Page 228

Monitor and review the EqIA as
the project progresses

Kate Ma
December 2019

This EqIA has been signed off by:
Lead Equality Impact Assessment officer:
Head of Service or Business Manager:
Review date:
December 2019

Date:
Date: 19 June 2019

Pauline Davis

Please now send the completed EqIA to equalities@hertfordshire.gov.uk
Please also ensure that the EqIA is referenced in and included as an appendix to reports to Management Boards
Cabinet Panels and Cabinet so that decision makers can consider equality impacts before making decisions.
12

Guidance end-notes
1

The following principles explain what we must do to fulfil our duties under the Equality Act when considering the effect of existing and new policies/
practices/services on equality. They must all be met or the EqIA (and any decision based on it) may be open to challenge:








Knowledge: everyone working for the council must be aware of our equality duties and apply them appropriately
Timeliness: the duty applies at the time of considering proposals and before a final decision is taken
Real Consideration: the duty must be an integral and rigorous part of your decision-making and influence the process.
Sufficient Information: you must assess what information you have and what is needed to give proper consideration.
No delegation: the council is responsible for ensuring that anyone who provides services on our behalf can comply with the duty, are required in
contracts to comply with it, and do comply in practice. It is a duty that cannot be delegated.
Review: the equality duty is a continuing duty – it continues after proposals are implemented/reviewed.
Proper Record Keeping: we must keep records of the process and the impacts identified.

Our duties in the Equality Act 2010
HCC has a legal duty under this Act to show that we have identified and considered the impact and potential impact of our activities on all people with
‘protected characteristics’ (see end notes 11-20 for details of the nine-protected characteristics). This applies to policies, services (including commissioned
services), and our employees. If you are creating an ‘arms-length’ company, seek advice from the Equality Team or Legal.
2

Agenda Pack Page 229

We use this template to do this and evidence our consideration. You must give ‘due regard’ (pay conscious attention) to the need to:





Avoid, reduce or minimise negative impact: if you identify unlawful discrimination, including victimisation and harassment, you must stop the
action and take advice immediately.
Promote equality of opportunity: by
 Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by equality groups
 Taking steps to meet the needs of equality groups
 Encouraging equality groups to participate in public life or any other activity where participation is disproportionately low
 Consider if there is a need to treat disabled people differently, including more favourable treatment where necessary
Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who don’t: e.g. by promoting understanding.

EqIAs should always be proportionate to:

The size of the service or scope of the policy/strategy

The resources involved

The size of the likely impact – e.g. the numbers of people affected and their vulnerability
The greater the potential adverse impact of the proposal(s) on a protected group (e.g. disabled people) and the more vulnerable the group is, the more
thorough and demanding the process required by the Act will be. Unless they contain sensitive personal/employee data – EqIAs are public documents. They
are published with Cabinet and Panel papers and public consultations and are available on request.
3

Who completes the EqIA: The person who is making the decision or advising the decision-maker about a policy. It is better to do this as a team, with
people involved who understand the implementation of the policy.

4

13

5

Title of EqIA: This should clearly explain what service / policy / strategy / change you are assessing.

Focus of EqIA: A member of the public should have a good understanding of the policy or service and any proposals after reading this section. Please use
plain English and write any acronyms in full first time. Also explain if there is a particular focus to your equality analysis:

What are the main aims or purpose of the policy, practice, service or function? How does it fit with other services?

What outcomes do you want to achieve, why and for whom? e.g. what do you want to provide, what will change/improve?

Which aspects are most important to equality and should be the focus of your attention?

You should state all teams/organisations involved in implementing, carrying out or delivering the policy, practice or service

What are the reason(s) for the proposal or change (financial, service, legal etc)? The Act requires us to make these clear.
6

Agenda Pack Page 230

7

Data & Information: Your EqIA needs to be informed by data. You should consider the following:

What data relevant to the impact on protected groups is available?
(is there an existing EqIA?, local service data, national data, community data, similar proposal in another local authority).

What further evidence is needed and how can you get it? (e.g. further research or engagement with the affected groups).

What do you know from service/local data about needs, access and outcomes? Focus on each characteristic in turn.

What might any local demographic changes or trends mean for the service or function? Also consider national data if appropriate

Does data/monitoring show that any policies or practices create particular problems or difficulties for any group(s)?

Is the service having a positive or negative effect on particular people or groups in the community?

8

What have people told you about the service, function, area?

Use service user feedback, complaints, audits, and/or the results of specific consultation/engagement

Are there patterns or differences in what people from different groups tell you?

Remember, you must engage/consult appropriately and in an inclusive way with those likely to be affected to fulfil the equality duty.

You can read HCC’s Consultation and Engagement toolkits for full advice on this

For practical tips and advice on consulting with people from protected groups, see this ‘How-to’ guide

9

Impact: Your EqIA must consider fully and properly actual and potential impacts against each protected characteristic:

The equality duty does not stop changes, but means we must fully consider and address the anticipated impacts on people.

Be accurate and transparent, but also realistic: don’t exaggerate speculative risks and negative impacts.

Be detailed and specific where you can so decision-makers have a concrete sense of potential effects.

Questions to ask when assessing whether and how the proposals impact on service users, staff and the wider community:
o
Are one or more protected groups affected differently and/or disadvantaged? How, and to what extent?
o
Is there evidence of higher/lower uptake among different groups? Which, and to what extent?
o
Does the project relate to an area with known inequalities (where national evidence or previous research is available)?
o
If there are likely to be different impacts on different groups, is that consistent with the overall objective?
o
If there is negative differential impact, how can you minimise that while taking into account your overall aims?
o
Do the effects amount to unlawful discrimination? If so the plan must be modified.
o
Does it relate to an area where equality objectives have been set by HCC in our Equality Strategy?

14

10

Consider actions relating to the following:

That specifically address the impacts you’ve identified and show how they will remove, reduce or avoid any negative impacts

Explain clearly what any mitigating measures are, and the extent to which you think they will reduce / remove the adverse effect

Will you need to communicate or provide services in different ways for different groups in order to create a “level playing field”?

State how you can maximise any positive impacts or advance equality of opportunity.

If you do not have sufficient equality information, state how you can fill the gaps.

Action Planning: The Equality Duty is an ongoing duty: policies must be kept under review, continuing to give ‘due regard’ to the duty. If an assessment of
a broad proposal leads to more specific proposals, then further equality assessment and consultation are needed.

11

Agenda Pack Page 231
15

This page is intentionally left blank

